PC-TRAVEL

Travel Time and Delay Analysis Software



i

Copyright © 2004 by Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, transmitted, transcribed, or translated into any language without the prior written permission of the publisher, Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc.

Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. Software License Agreement

This software license agreement including any warranties and special provisions, is a legal agreement between you (as an entity or an individual) and Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. By installing or otherwise using this software you are agreeing to be bound by the terms of this agreement. If you do not agree to the terms of this agreement, return the unused software, along with all accompanying documentation, to Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc.

The Software which accompanies this agreement is, and will remain the property of Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc., and is protected by copyright law. Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. is providing you with certain rights to use the Software upon your acceptance of this agreement.

YOU MAY:

- 1) Use the Software on one computer;
- 2) Use the Software on several computers with the following provisions:
 - a)All computers that use this Software are located in the same building;
 - b)All persons using the Software are employed by the individual or entity who originally purchased the Software;
- 3) Use the software on a home computer with the following provisions:
- a) The individual using the Software on a home computer is employed by the individual or entity who originally purchased the Software; b) The individual is doing work for the individual or entity who originally purchased the Software;

4) Transfer this license to another individual or entity with the following conditions:

a)All copies of the Software must be transferred;

b) No copy of the Software may remain with the original licensee;

c)All documentation must accompany the Software;

YOU MAY NOT:

1) copy the documentation which accompanies the Software;

2) sublicense, lease, transfer, or rent any portion of the Software;

3) continue to use a previous version of the Software in addition to any updates that may be received. All copies of previous versions must be destroyed except that one copy may be kept for archival purposes;

4) reverse engineer, decompile, disassemble, modify, translate, make any attempts to reconstruct or find the source code for the Software;

U.S. GOVERNMENT RESTRICTED RIGHTS

The Software and documentation are provided with RESTRICTED RIGHTS. Use, duplication, or disclosure by the United States Government is subject to the restrictions as set forth in subparagraph (c)(1)(ii) of the Rights in Technical Data and Computer Software clause at DFARS 252.227-7013 or subparagraphs (c)(1) and (2) of the Commercial Computer Software-Restricted Rights at 48 CFR 52.227-19, as applicable. Manufacturer is Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc./151 Keith Valley Road, Horsham, PA 19044.

WARRANTY

Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. warrants that the media on which the Software is distributed will be free from defects for a period of ninety (90) days from the date of delivery of the Software to you. Your sole remedy for a breach of this warranty will be that Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. will, at its option, replace any defective media returned to Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. within the warranty period or refund the purchase price of the Software.

The Software is provided "as is" without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied, including, but not limited to, the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose with respect to the Software and accompanying documentation. Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. does not warrant, or make any claims that the Software will meet your requirements, or that the Software will provide uninterrupted service, or that the Software is free from errors.

THIS WARRANTY GIVES YOU SPECIFIC LEGAL RIGHTS. YOU MAY HAVE OTHER RIGHTS, WHICH VARY FROM STATE TO STATE.

NO LIABILITY FOR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES

In no event shall Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. be liable for any damages whatsoever (including without limitation, direct or indirect damages for personal injury, loss of information, loss of data, loss of business profits, business interruption, or any other loss) arising out of the use of or inability to use the Software, even if Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. has been advised of the possibility of such damages or loss. In any case the entire liability of Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. under any part of this agreement shall be limited to the amount actually paid by you for the Software.

Windows is a registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation. Ridge Engineering Technologies, Inc. recognizes the trademarks of all other companies and products mentioned in this manual.

This manual was produced using Adobe InDesign 2.0.

ii

iii

If you have any questions about the use of PC-Travel, please call the following number:

877-603-5844 Monday – Friday 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM Eastern time

You may also contact us by fax at:

1-813-980-0187

or via e-mail at:

support@pc-travel.com

For more information on our products, the latest news in product development, and to download software updates, visit our web site at:

www.pc-travel.com

Address any correspondence to:

Ridge Engineering, Inc. 710 Druid Hills Road Temple Terrace, FL 33617

iv

Table of Contents

Technical Support	iii
Chapter 1 — Introduction and Installation	1.1
Introduction to PC-Travel	1.2
Computer Requirements	1.2
Software Updates	1.2
Definitions	1.3
How to Install & Run PC-Travel	1.6
Installation Procedure	1.6
How to Run PC-Travel	1.9
Learning the Basics of PC-Travel	1.10
Startup Options	1.12
Select Study	1.13
Study Summary	1.14
Run Details	1.15
Node Distances	1.17
Confidence Level Statistics	1.18
Study Statistics	1.19
Study Plots	1.21
Reports	1.22
Report Options	1.23

Chapter 2 — Collecting Travel Time Data in the Field	
How to Do a Fixed Route Travel Time Study	
Collecting Data with GPS Travel Time Software	
Working with GPS to Laptop	
Working with GPS to PDA	
Collecting Data With a Jamar TDC	

Chapter 3 — Working with PC-Travel	
Tutorial 1 - How to Process Field Data	
Tutorial 2 - How to Use Maps to Edit Runs	
Tutorial 3 - How to Create a New Study	
Tutorial 4 - How to Edit Nodes in Individual Runs	
Tutorial 5 - How to Find Node Distances in Your Study	
Tutorial 6 - How to Edit Sensor Data	
Tutorial 7 - How to Export Statistics to a Spreadsheet	3 39

V

Appendices	A.1
Appendix 1 — Adding Maps to PC-Travel	A.2
Appendix 2 — Sensor Installation and Troubleshooting	A.18
Appendix 3 — Pocket PC Supplement	A.21
Appendix 4 — Palm Supplement	A.26
Appendix 5 — Descriptions of the Preferences Options	A.32
Appendix 6 — How Distances are Measured	A.40
Appendix 7 — Utilities	A.42
Appendix 8 — Notes on Fuel and Emissions	A.48
Appendix 9 — Field Worksheet	A.50

Chapter 1

Introduction and Installation

Introduction to PC-Travel

Welcome to PC-Travel, a Ridge Engineering software program designed to process travel time and delay data. Travel time and delay analysis is a complicated subject and we have not tried to oversimplify it at the expense of the experienced user who wants to get as much from the analysis as possible; yet we have tried to make the software easy to use, even for the occasional user.

This manual is currently divided into four parts:

The first part is an introduction to PC-Travel, including a definition of terms used in collecting the data and running the software. This part also shows you how to install and run the software on your computer.

The second part covers the basics of collecting Travel Time data in the field with either a TDC unit or GPS interface software.

The third part is a series of tutorials that provide step-by-step instructions on how to use the software, providing detailed information about specific aspects.

The fourth and last part is a series of appendices that have reference-type information that you may find useful if you are interested in the technical details of the software.

Computer Requirements

- Windows 95, 98, NT, 2000, ME or XP.
- 64 Megabytes of RAM (although it probably will run in less).
- 10 Megabytes of free space on your hard disk.
- CD-ROM (to install the software only)
- Screen resolution of 800 x 600 or better.

This last requirement is the only non-standard one. Some users may still be using older computers limited to 640 x 480 pixels. If you find the software screens don't fit on the monitor, this may be the case for your computer. You should be able to change the screen resolution to 800 x 600. Worst case would be to add a new video card to your computer for \$50 or so (if you are running Windows at 640 x 480 this is a great investment).

Software Updates

Updated versions of Ridge Engineering software are released periodically and are posted on the PC-Travel support site. Licensed owners of PC-Travel can download updates to the program to make sure they always have the latest version of the software. To download the latest version of PC-Travel, go to **www.pc-travel.com** and then select **Downloads** from the list of options.

Definitions

Run

Before any discussion of travel time data collection and analysis can begin, you must have a careful understanding of the terms we use and how we use them. This section defines the words used in the program that mean something more specific than the word itself might imply.

For example, when data is collected along an arterial, the user drives to the begin-

A single collection of travel time data.

ning of the arterial under study, starts data collection, proceeds along the arterial to the end of the study area, and then stops data collection. He has just completed one run. If he turns around and collects data in the other direction, it is another run. All runs are stored as separate entities in the program. Study A collection of runs. When the user collects data, he is making data runs, and when he gets back to the office, he collects those runs into studies. The difference is important because runs can be collected into different studies. For example, a user may make a number of runs at an arterial during one or two days. Back in the office he may create a study with just the morning runs. He may also create a study with all of the runs, which of course use some of the morning runs. There is one critical rule for studies: All of the runs in a study must start at the same place, end at the same place, and follow the same route. Only runs in the same direction can be part of the same study. Since you usually collect runs in two directions (up and back), you typically will create at least two studies for each data collection session. **Study Group** A folder where related runs and studies are stored. This term is specific to the program. Since studies must be created from runs that start in the same place, end in the same place, and go in the same direction, it makes sense to store all runs that fit that criteria in one place on your computer, along with any studies that are created from those runs. You typically create Study Groups when you first read the run data collected in the field. Since you usually collect at least two sets of runs, one in one direction and another in the opposite direction, you usually will create two Study Groups when you read the field data. **Fixed-Route** Data collection along a pre-determined route. PC-Travel only supports Fixed-Route studies. Another type of study, called Chase Car studies, may be supported in the future, based on user interest. When you do Fixed-route studies, you collect run data along the same route several times. One run is rarely sufficient to find the travel time characteristics of a route. You may be lucky and never hit a red light during your run, or you may be unlucky and hit several. If you collect several runs, the averages of the individual run data will be a better representative of the true traffic characteristics of the route. Fixed-route studies usually have segments defined at the time the runs are made.

The route is divided into geographic segments, using easily determined landmarks to separate the segments. For arterials, the segment boundaries may be signalized intersections. For freeways, the boundaries may be interchanges. You are free to define the segments any way you want. Node The boundary between two segments of a run. Every run has a starting node, which is where you start collecting data on a fixedroute study, an *ending node*, which is where you stop collecting data, and several segment nodes in between. The user records the location of the nodes by pressing a buttons in the field as the user passes the nodes during a run. **Primary Run** A run where the user collected segment node data. Most users, when doing a run, will collect segment node data by pressing a button as they pass by the pre-determined nodes in the route. There is a fairly high error associated with this process (more about this later) so the distances measured for a single run are not very accurate. The program uses the average of the node distances from each of the Primary runs in a study to find more accurate distances between nodes. **Secondary Run** A run where the user did not collect segment node data. or A primary run in which the user decides not to use the segment node data to find the node distances for the study. You do not have to collect segment node data while doing a run. You may have done several runs in that direction and know you have sufficient data to find accurate node distances, or you may have made several mistakes marking the node on a particular run (which is annoyingly easy to do), or you simply don't need node by node statistics for this route. You can define a run as Secondary in the software and any node distance data in the run will be ignored in the analysis. **Before and After** A way to categorize a group of runs so that two different groups of runs can be compared. The terms Before and After are used liberally in the program and these mean only that the data is summarized into two separate groups so the statistics of each group can be compared. If all of one set of runs are made under the same conditions, they may all be defined as before runs. Later, identical runs made under different conditions (after an arterial has been re-timed, for example) may be defined as *after* runs. The program lets you define runs as either before or after and then automatically calculates statistics for the before runs as a group, the after runs as a group, and changes in the various statistics from before to after. Normal Speed Ideal speed at which the traffic should travel on an arterial. The Normal Speed is used in two places in the program. It is used to find Total Delay statistics for runs and studies (see Total Delay, below). It also is plotted on the Time/ Space Diagrams to show perfect progression. You set the Normal Speed on the Study Summary screen. As with most ideals, real traffic rarely measures up to the ideal, but it is useful as a guide.

1.4

	1.5
Travel Time	<i>The elapsed time to travel between two points, in seconds.</i> This is probably the most fundamental of the reported statistics. All run travel times are measured and reported to the nearest second. Study travel times, which are averages of the run travel times, are reported in tenths of second (technically speaking, the tenths of second are not significant in studies with less than about 5 runs, but that is rarely of concern in the vast majority of practical traffic evaluation situations).
Number of Stops	A stop is defined as a one-second interval where the speed is less than X MPH for one second when the speed was greater than X MPH in the previous second. X is normally 5 MPH but can be set to any speed you want. This speed is called the Stop Speed and is set on the Study Summary screen. Each time the vehicle slows down and crosses the Stop Speed boundary, a stop is counted. The vehicle must speed up faster than the threshold before another stop can be counted.
Average Speed The t	total distance covered divided by the elapsed time. The program calculates the average speed for each section (node to node distance) and also separately calculates a total average speed for the entire route.
Total Delay	<i>Difference between actual travel time and ideal travel time.</i> Actual travel time is calculated from the data. The ideal travel time is based on the Normal Speed setting on the Study Summary screen.
Time <= X MPH	Total time the vehicle spent at or below the given speed. The program gives you three speed categories, which you can set for different purposes. You can measure stopped delay (time vehicle is stopped) by setting Category 1 to 0 MPH. You can measure queue delay by setting Category 2 to 7 MPH. The third category might be set to 30 MPH to show how much time vehicles spent in car following mode rather than free flow (assuming free flow speed is 40 or 45 MPH). Many other uses for these three categories are possible, limited only by your imagination.

How to Install & Run PC-Travel

Installation Procedure

Begin the installation by placing the PC-Travel CD into your CD drive. If your CD drive is configured for Autoplay, the Installation Options program will start after a few seconds. Otherwise, click on the **Start** button on your Windows desktop. Select **Run** from the list of options and type the command line **X:\setup.exe**, where X is the letter of your CD drive. Press **OK** and you will see the Installation Options for the program.

The Installation Options allow you to do a number of things in addition to installing PC-Travel. You can view a copy of this manual, register your copy of the software and check out other Ridge Engineering products. To begin installing PC-Travel, click on Install PC-Travel.

Note: If you downloaded the installation program from the PC-Travel.com support site, then unzip the file you downloaded to a convenient folder and run the Setup.exe file.



Figure 1.1 — Welcome Screen

The *Welcome* screen reminds you to be sure all other programs are closed before proceeding with the installation. During the installation, files used by the program will be copied to your computer, including some Windows system files. If other programs are open and using some of the files that need to be installed, an error can occur. Make sure you close any programs that obviously are running (especially virus checkers) before you install this or any Windows-based software.

The next screen contains the license information for the program. Please read this information. You must accept the provisions of the license in order to proceed and use the program. The program's license allows you to install the program on multiple computers provided they are in the same location and being used by employees of the entity that purchased the license. This is a very liberal license — many program licenses do not allow you to install the program on more than one computer. We ask that you respect the licensing policy and not abuse the use of this program. If you agree to the license, click Yes to continue.

Customer Information		-
Please enter your information.		
Please enter your name, the name of the number.	company for whom you work and the product serial	
User Name:		
Don Gettner		
Company Name:		
Company Name: Ridge Engineering, Inc.		1
Company Name: Ridge Engineering, Inc. Serial Number:		
Company Name: Ridge Engineering, Inc. Serial Number: [0000-0000-0000-0000-0000]		-

Figure 1.2 — Customer Information

The next screen asks for the User Name, Company Name and Serial Number. The serial number can be found on the back of your CD case, or it may have been emailed to you when you ordered the software. When entering the numbers be sure to include the dashes. If the serial number is entered incorrectly, you will not be allowed to proceed with the installation. Once the information has been entered, click the Next button to continue.

pose Destination Location			
Select folder where Setup will install files.			Ś
Setup will install PC-Travel in the following fo	older.		
To install to this folder, click Next. To install to folder.	to a different folder, click	Browse and se	elect another
- Destination Folder			
Destination Folder C\Program Files\PC-Travel			Browse

Figure 1.3 — Program Destination

The Choose Destination Location screen is used to select the folder where PC-Travel will be installed. The default folder is C:\Program Files\PC-Travel, but you can change this if you like. Click the Browse button and navigate to the folder you want. Once the directory listed is correct, click Next to continue.



Figure 1.4 — Installation Finished

Once the installation program has enough information, the files will be copied from the CD to your computer. You'll then see a screen that tells you the installation has completed. You may be asked if you want to re-start your computer now. If you get this message, you should re-start your computer before you try to run the program. This will allow any of the System files that were copied during the installation to be loaded properly.

1.9

How to Run PC-Travel

Like most Windows programs, there are several ways you can run the software. Here are two:

1) Open an Explorer window (right click on My Computer and select Explore) and find the PC-Travel.exe file, which probably is in the *C*:*Program Files**PC-Travel* folder. You will see a screen that looks something like figure 1.5 shown below. Double click on the file **PC-Travel.exe** and the program will run.

File Ed	lit View Favorites Tools He	lp					-
G Back	< • 🔘 • 🏂 🔎 Search 🞼	Folder	rs 🕼 🏵 🗙 🍤				
Address	C:\Program Files\PC-Travel					*	ÐG
Folders		×	Name 🖷	Туре	Size	Date Modi	
	 PC-Travel Field Data Files Maps Spreadsheet Files Study Groups Temp PdaNet for Tree 650 PdaNet for Tree 650 PdbDesktop Pothet Tures Plomantec Plowantec PlowerQuest Quicken QuickTime Real Riven The Sequel To Mys SecureCRT Sensys 	st De	Images Maps Spreadsheet Files Study Groups Temp PCT4W.cnt PCT.bin PCT.HLP PCT.HLP PCT.ravel.exe ReadMe.rtf	File Folder File Folder File Folder File Folder File Folder CNT File AVG Update File CNT File Help File Application Rich Text Format	3 KB 3 KB 3 KB 20,915 KB 3,516 KB 41 KB	4/26/2008 4/26/2008 4/26/2008 3/16/2008 4/26/2008 6/9/2003 6/9/2003 6/9/2003 6/9/2003 6/9/2003 3/16/2008	

Figure 1.5 — Explorer View

2) Select Start, Programs, and then PC-Travel from the list of programs. There could be a long list, and they may not be in alphabetical order (don't you love Windows?). You will see a display similar to the one shown here. Select PC-Travel then click on the second PC-Travel. This will run the software.

Q Aate Dagre 7.0	Compression 🕅 PC-Travel	🕨 🗾 PC-Travel
Al Ingrans Atthe 10ept 20	📸 Monsoft Isual Base 6.0	Read Me File for PC-Travel
P) Links Danier (1	🔂 Monsoft Heb Pulledwy	
Contraction from the second	👌 Sprad 6	
tart CE LimmetForlow	🗎 Atoriade	

Figure 1.6 — Starting PC Travel

Learning the Basics of PC-Travel

This tutorial will guide you through the basics of the software. To simplify things we will retrieve an existing study that was installed when the rest of the program was installed.

Note: The first time anyone runs PC-Travel after installing it, the software loads the Preferences screens so that the various settings can be checked and edited. From then on, the program starts with the Startup Options screen. This tutorial will start with the Preferences screen, assuming that you just installed the program. You may skip this section if it doesn't apply to you.

Run the program (see the end of the Installation notes for two ways to start the software). The first screen you will see is a little message box that tells you that since this is the first time you have run the program, you need to check the settings. Click **OK**.

You will then see the Preferences screen:



Figure 1.7 — Path Options

The Preferences screen has four tabs at the top of the window: *Path Options, Default Values, Report Options,* and *Fuel and Emissions*. The first tab, Path Options, is shown first.

If you selected the default installation directory, then you will see the same paths shown in the screen shot above. The program uses five basic directories:

1 – Temp

This directory holds the run files that you processed from the field data. These files are normally renamed and moved to a different directory.

2 – Study Group Root

This is the base directory where all of the travel time run and study data is stored. *A Study Group is a collection of related runs and studies that are stored together*. For the computer savvy, each Study Group is a directory under the Study Group Root directory.

1.11

3 – Field Data Path

This is the directory where the data you collected in the field is stored before it is processed into runs.

4 – Map Path

This is the directory where you store your street map files to use with the software. Note: if you use MapPoint as your GIS engine, then this setting is irrelevant since MapPoint stores all of the map files in a separate folder.

5 – Export to Spreadsheet Path

This is the directory where files will be created if you use the Export to Spreadsheet function. Refer to page 3.27 *How to Export Statistics to a Spreadsheet* for more information.

If you want to change the paths, then follow the Quick Directions on the screen. You probably won't need to change them, however.

Click on the second tab labeled **Default Values**.

lee Start Un Ontione Screen	G Vee	Chie	-Units	GIS Options
se duit op options deleen	· Tes	UN NU	English	C ArcGIS Shape Files
llow Negative Total Delays	O Yes	No	C Metric	MapPoint
how Confidence State?	6 V	C 11-	Version 1.x R	un File Options
now Competities and se	• res	NU	Convert au	tomatically
lax Distance Variance	500		C Prompt bei	fore converting
Study Parameters				
Stop Speed	5			
Normal Speed	40			
Speed Categories	0	35	55	
		C. Code		
Serial Port Options				
Comm Port		Baud	Rate	
Choose a port	Choose	ea		
number	connec	tion	0000	

Figure 1.8 — Default Values

The items on the screen are parameters that are used in the software. These values are the default values that are used when a study is first created; however, you can change many of them on the Study Summary screen if needed, and the changes will be stored with the other study data. Normally, you will set these values once and then not worry about them again.

Some of the parameters have an obvious meaning. Some don't. Don't worry what the various parameters mean for now. They will make more sense later after you have seen some more of the program. Just accept the default values for now.

You can check the settings in the other two tabs. They are fairly obvious from the descriptions, but again, don't worry if it isn't obvious what a particular setting is for right now.

You can play with the various options on the Report Option tab when you get to the Report section of the tutorial. Don't change any of the numbers in the Fuel and Emissions tab unless you are an expert in the models used.

Press **OK** to close the Preferences screen and go to the Startup Options.



1.12



Figure 1.9 — Startup Options

This is the screen you will normally see when you first run the software. It helps to remind you what your options are when you first start the program. If you don't like this type of screen, you can turn it off so you won't see it in the future. All the options on this screen can also be access from the Menu commands of the program.

The options listed are fairly self-explanatory. However, they all will be discussed in more detail as we go along.

Click on the **Open an Existing Travel Time Study** button so we can start exploring PC-Travel.

Select Study

Select PC-Travel Study		
Soloct Study PC-Travel Field Data Files	Söth SHNB-PM	Dete Runs Type 4/27/2008 4 Route
→ Intages → Maps → Spreadsheet Files ⇒ Study Groups → Sample Files	_	
Comp Comp	×	-
Study Details Run Titles 56th StNB-B-R001 in 56th StNB-B-R0021 56th StNB-B-R0031 56th StNB-B-R0041	Notes	
Show Details?	Cancel	Нер

Figure 1.10 — Select Study

This is the screen you use to select a study that is stored on your computer. The upper left corner has a window that shows the directories *(or folders, if you prefer)* in the common tree format used in Windows. The Study Group folder is currently selected. Click on the **Samples** folder just below the **Study Group** folder. This is the state shown in figure 1.10 above.

The window to the right of the tree shows a list of the studies in that folder, with a little bit of information about the studies. In this case, there are three studies. The first study, **56th St NB-PM**, is highlighted.

The **Study Details** window shows some more information about the highlighted study. The titles of the runs that make up that study are shown, as well as any notes you entered when you saved the study.

We want to open the first study, which is highlighted, so click on **Select**.



Study Summary

w Open Save	Read Edit	Run	Print	Stats	SpdPlot	TSDiag	Prefs	Convert	StartUp	Int
ame 56th St-NB-PM			Notes							
Runs Used in This Study				1.						
Run Title	Stort Date	Start	Length	Before	Run	Running				
56th St-NB-B-R001tn	09/19/07	17.21	13702	Betore	Primary	31.2				
56th St-NB-B-R0021	09/19/07	17:39	13752	Betore	Secondary	34.9				
56th St-NB-B-R0031	09/19/07	17:55	13758	Betore	Secondary	37.4				
									lat.	
							6			
Show Details Ad	1 Run(s)	Remov	e Run	2		Мар				
Show Details Ad	1 Run(s)	Remov	e Run			Map				
Show Details Adv	d Run(s)	Remov	e Run	ce Level	Stats	Map Node Int	0			

Figure 1.11 — Study Details

This is the core screen for the program; most of the operations involved in the software start and end here. There are several sections to this screen. At the top are the standard *pull down menus* that are part of every Windows program. Below that are a series of icons that make up the *toolbar*. These icons duplicate the most common options that are available in the menus.

The majority of the screen shows the details for the current study:

• The current Study Group. It is shown just below the toolbar. (Sample Files, in this case).

• The **Name** of the study. To change the name you type in a new name and then hit the **Save** icon on the toolbar, or select **File:Save Now** from the drop down menus.

• Notes for this study. Just type anything you want.

• List of **Runs Used in This Study**. You can **Add Runs** or **Remove Runs** using the appropriate buttons. You can also **Show Details** of any run *(we'll do that in a minute)*. All three buttons operate the same way; select the run then click the appropriate button.

• **Speed Categories #1, 2 & 3, Normal Speed,** and **Stop Speed**. These are all parameters that are used in the study statistics. You'll see how they are used when you see the Study Statistics screens.

• **Confidence Level Statistics.** The software calculates whether you have enough runs for the results to be statistically significant. The logic used is based on the procedure detailed in the ITE Handbook.

• Node Distances. This will be explained in depth in a little bit.

First, click the **Show Details** button. This will allow you to see all of the information about the run that is high-lighted.

Run Details



Figure 1.12 — Run Details

The Run Details screen shows just about everything we know about this particular run, and most of it can be edited. In general, any fields with a white background are edit fields, and can be changed. Fields with a gray background are calculated from other things, and can't be edited directly.

Most of the fields are self-explanatory; each run has a *Name, Date*, and *Time*. A run can be either *Primary or Secondary*, and *Before or After* (see page 1.4). The *Calibration Constant* normally should not be edited; it is the factor that converts the pulse data collected in the TDC to distances. You can also enter any *Notes* you want about this run. You might, for example, mention that it was raining during this run, or that there was a large truck in front of you during the run which might affect the data.

If the run is a Primary run you can edit the **Node Names and Distances**. The Node Names have a white background, which means you can edit the names simply by typing over the existing name. The distances are derived from the data collected in the field; these aren't as easy to edit so they have a gray background.

You can **Copy** names and distances from other runs. You can **Reverse** the list of names (usually after copying from another run that went in the other direction), and you can even **Insert** and **Delete** actual node data points in the data to fix a run. (Inserting and Deleting data points is beyond the scope of this introductory tutorial and will be covered in another tutorial.)

The name of the run is shown in the upper left corner text box. You can change the name and then click **Save** to create a new run. The run file is stored in the current Study Group.

You can see more information about the run, if needed.

Click Stats

🖷 De	tailed	Run Statistics											
Name	56th St	NB-B-R001tn	Date	09,	/19/07	Wed	Lin Lin	17:2	1				
Node #	Length	Node Names	Travel	# of Stops	Avg Sneed	Total	Time <=	Time <= 35 MPH	Time <= 55 MPH	Fuel	Emis	sions (gr	ams) —
1 2 3 4 5	0 2223 2228 1332 1266	Puritan Riverhills Rd Busch Blvd Temple Heights Mission Hills	41 84 52 22	0 1 1 0	37.1 18.1 17.4 39.3	3 46 29 0	0 20 0 0	8 77 49 0	41 84 52 22	0.0202 0.0239 0.0177 0.0107	1.9375 2.0048 2.0725 0.9582	21.8917 16.3762 16.8480 12.3223	1.2515 0.7221 1.3710 0.5637
6 7 8 9	1302 1327 2792 1232	Druid Hills Whiteway Fowler Ave 122 Street	20 20 170 24	0 0 1 0	44.5 45.2 11.2 35.0	0 0 122 3	0 0 114 0	0 0 133 11	20 20 170 24	0.0120 0.0103 0.0463 0.0133	1.0901 0.4856 3.8794 1.5913	16.0562 5.8264 37.6106 18.7692	0.6822 0.1296 0.9949 1.2069
_ oral			100		2	200							
		Show Node I	Names		Show T	ïme <= S	pds	V Sha	sw Fuel /	Emissio	ns		
This is	a Before	run.			C	Exit]						Help

Figure 1.13— Detailed Run Statistics

This screen shows calculations of the standard statistics used in the program, for this run only. You can think of this as the results of a study with a single run. You can't edit anything on this screen. You can play with the check boxes and see what they do. If you are not familiar with all of the terms shown in the statistics, don't worry about it now. They will be explained later.

Speed Profile for 56th St-NB-B-R001tn 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 MPH 10 Distance Puriton . **Riverhills** Rd 2000 Busch Blvd 4000 Temple Heights 6000 Mission Hills **Druid Hills** 8000 Whiteway Nodes 10000 12000 Fowler Ave 122 Street 14000 16000 Exit 18000 Help

Figure 1.14— Speed Profile

Click Exit to go back to the Run Details screen and then click on Plot.

You'll see the screen shown here. This is a plot of the Speed vs Distance for the data in the run. You can change the scale, and choose to show the nodes in the data, and to show the three speed category limits (the Red line is Speed 1, Yellow is Speed 2, and Green is Speed 3).

In this run, the car went through an intersection without any delay, then had to slow down to a stop at Busch Blvd (*probably a red light*), and then accelerated back to about 45 mph for several nodes, then stopped again at Fowler Ave before ending the run.

When you are done playing with the plot, click on **Exit** to return to the Run Details, then click **Cancel** to go back to the Study Summary screen.

20000

Node Distances

At this point, you should be back at the Study Summary screen. Notice that the **View** button in the Node Distances frame is red. This is telling you that you need to check the Node Distances because something *may* be wrong. Click on **View**.

urrent	Name	Avq	Bun 1
0	Puritan		Ū
2223	Riverhills Rd	2223	2223
4451	Busch Blvd	4451	4451
5783	Temple Heights	5783	5783
7049	Mission Hills	7049	7049
8351	Druid Hills	8351	8351
9678	Whiteway	9678	9678
2470	Fowler Ave	12470	12470
3702	122 Street	13702	13702

Figure 1.15 — Node Distances

Every study, like the runs that it is made from, starts at one well-defined point and ends at another, and usually has nodes in between. These nodes are usually cross streets, but can be anything that is easy to see while you are driving. The program needs to know the names of each of the nodes and the distance that each node is from the starting point. Various statistics are calculated, displayed, and printed in the reports not just on the entire route, but on a node to node basis as well.

The Node Distances screen shown above shows the **Names** of the nodes and the **Current** distances assigned to each node. *Ultimately, the only thing that matters is that the Current column has the best possible distances.* The distances default to the values of the first Primary run, which often is close enough to use. However, these rarely are the *best possible* distances. There are several ways to get these better distances. They will all be explained very carefully in another tutorial.

As you saw in the Run Detail screen, each Primary run has node names and distances that you entered when you entered the data for that run. The program uses the averages of the node distances in all of the Primary runs to calculate the best possible node distances for the study.

The Node Distance screen shows the node distances for each of the Primary runs in the study. This is shown in the upper right section of the screen. The **Avg** column is the average of all of the run distances in that row. In this case, there is only one primary run so only one run is shown. This is typical with version 2 of PC-Travel since you can accurately mark the node locations on a map of your streets. If you don't use GPS to collect your data or don't enable the mapping feature then this screen is more important, but this is beyond the scope of this introductory tutorial.



Once you have reviewed this screen and verified that the nodes have names and distances that make sense, click on the **Ok** button. The software assigns the node names for the study from the Name column and the node distances from the Current column.

Note: It is very important to understand that PC-Travel uses the values from the Node Distances screen for the *study* node names and distances. Only these values are used in the rest of the software. All statistics are calculated from the study node distances and the individual run node distance information is ignored. The node distance information in the runs is only used to find the study node distances. If you have a way to assign the node distances in the study, such as using the mapping feature in PC-Travel, then you don't have to collect the node information when you do your travel time runs.

You should be back at the Study Summary screen now.

Confidence Level Statistics

ם 🚰 🖬	Dead Edit	<u> </u>	Brint		EndDlot	TEDipa
w Open Sample Files	Kedu Euli	. Rull	Pratt	Stats	Spurior	TSDidy
ame 56th St-NB-PM			Notes			
luns Used in This Study -		Start	Longth	Batoro	Bus	Ruppin
Run Title	Start Date	Time	(ft)	After	Туре	Speed
56th St-NB-B-R001th	09/19/07	17:21	13702	Betore	Primary	31.2
56th St-NB-B-R0021	09/19/07	17:39	13752	Betore	Secondary	34.9
55th St-NB-B-R0031	09/19/07	17:55	13758	Betore	Secondary	37.4
56th St-NE-B-RUU41	09/19/07	18.09	13801	Belore	Secondary	34.0

Fig 1.16 Confidence Level Stats

At the bottom of the Study Summary screen is a section labeled Confidence Level Stats. The software calculates whether you have enough runs for the results to be statistically significant. The logic used is based on the procedure detailed in the ITE Manual of Transportation Engineering Studies (Chapter 4, page 55 in the 2000 edition).

The procedure is based on measuring the average range of *Running Speed* in the runs in the study. *Running Speed* is defined as the distance traveled divided by the *Running Time*.

Running Time is the time the vehicle is actually in motion (moving faster than a predesignated speed). This is easy for PC-Travel to calculate since the basic data for each run is the speed of the vehicle each second. The software counts the number of seconds that the vehicle is moving at or faster than the Stop Speed setting (which is shown at the bottom left of the Study Summary screen); this is the running time. The software then calculates the running speed by dividing the distance of the run by the running time.

The *Running Speed*, converted to MPH, is shown on the screen in the last column. The software calculates the *Average Variance* of the Running Speeds, which is the difference in Running Speed between successive runs, and uses a look up table to calculate the Number of Runs needed. The ITE procedure suggests that 95% *Confidence Level* be used with a *Permitted Error* of 1 -3 MPH for before and after Studies. These two values are currently hard-wired in the software, but a future version of PC-Travel may make these settings variable.

In this case the **Average Variance** is 3.2 MPH, which calculates to a **# of Runs Needed** of 5. Since we have only four runs in this study we might want to consider adding more runs if they are available, or collecting more if they are not.

Study Statistics

Click on the icon labeled **Stats** in the toolbar at the top of the Study Summary screen.

lame	56th St-I	NB-PM						Click	any colu	mn to se	e details	
lode #	Length	Node Names	Travel Time	# of Stops	Avg Speed	Total Delay	Time <- 0 MPH	Time <- 35 MPH	Time <- 55 MPH	Fuel (gals)	Emi: HC	ssions CC
1	0	Puritan		100			-					
2	2223	Riverhills Rd	39.3	0.0	38.6	2.8	0.0	6.5	39.3	0.0195	1.5879	19.3
3	2228	Busch Blvd	77.0	0.8	19.7	39.0	23.5	62.3	77.0	0.0235	1.9526	17.8
4	1332	Temple Heights	33.0	0.3	27.5	9.8	0.0	22.5	33.0	0.0146	1.5895	15.6
5	1266	Mission Hills	21.8	0.0	39.7	0.0	0.0	1.0	21.8	0.0104	0.8063	10.1
6	1302	Druid Hills	19.8	0.0	44.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	19.8	0.0112	0.9308	13.3
7	1327	Whiteway	24.3	0.3	37.3	4.0	2.0	6.3	24.3	0.0113	0.6254	6.5
8	2792	Fowler Ave	102.8	1.0	18.5	54.8	44.3	69.8	102.8	0.0351	2.9745	28.4
9	1232	122 Street	24.5	0.0	34.3	3.5	0.0	11.8	24.5	0.0130	1.5491	18.2
otal	13702		342.3	23	27.3	113.8	69.8	180.0	342.3	0.1385	12.0160	129
ats ba	ased on 4	BEFORE runs.							V Sh	ow Node	Names	

Figure 1.17 Study Stats

This screen lets you see a summary of the statistics for your study. All of the stats shown are averages of the data contained in the runs. Runs labeled as Before Runs are treated separately from After Runs.

Since there is too much information to show everything on one screen, you need to scroll around to see all of the stats. The three checkboxes let you choose what groups of data to show. You can play with them for a minute to see what they do.

At the bottom of the list, after the last node, you will find a set of total statistics for the entire route.

If your study has both Before and After runs then the screen looks a little different. There are separate rows for the Before and After runs and a separate row labeled Change that shows the difference between the Before and After values for each node. The background colors in the Change cells are coded to show if the change is good or bad. Since you want lower Travel Times (*I assume*), a negative change in Travel Time is good, so it is green. A lower Average Speed is bad, so a negative change in Average Speed is red, and so on.



If you want to see where these numbers came from, you can see the Study Details screen for each statistic. For example, to see the details for Travel Time, click the mouse on any cell in the Travel Time column. You will see a screen like figure 1.17 below.

	State of the second second	NB-PM				
Node #	Length	Node Names	Run	Run 2	Run 3	Run 4
1	0	Puritan	[Betore]	[Before]	[Before]	[Before]
2	2223	Riverhills Rd	41	36	34	46
3	2228	Busch Blvd	84	41	54	129
4	1332	Temple Heights	52	27	26	27
5	1266	Mission Hills	22	23	22	20
6	1302	Druid Hills	20	20	19	20
7	1327	Whiteway	20	39	19	19
8	2792	Fowler Ave	170	69	57	115
9	1232	122 Street	24	24	23	27
Total	13702		433	279	254	403

Figure 1.18 — Travel Time by Section

The travel times of each run, for each node, is shown. The Before runs are shown with a yellow background, the After runs with a blue background.

The data on the Study Stats screen *(the previous screen)* are averages of these values. For example the Travel Times for the Before runs from the Puritan to Riverhills Rd are 41, 36, 34, and 40 seconds. If you check the Study Stats screen you will see that the average shown is 39.3.

You can check the other stats in the same way. Click anywhere in the column of the stat you want to see to bring up a similar screen.

You can also get to these screens from the **View** menu on the Study Summary screen.

Normally, you probably would never check these screens. However you may see a statistic on the Study Stats screen *(or a report)* that seems odd. You can check to see where the data came from by examining the Study Details screens. You may find a run with bad data, or one where the node distances were incorrect.

Click Exit to return to the Study Details screen, then click Exit again to return to the Study Summary screen.

Study Plots

Click the toolbar icon labeled **SpdPlt**.



Figure 1.19 — Speed Plot

This screen shows Speed Profile plots of all of the runs in the study. You can select which runs to show, the scale for the graph, and whether to show the node distances and names and/or the speed categories. This will give you a quick look at the data before you print it. You might find a problem with one of the runs when you see them all plotted on the same graph. Click **Exit** to return to the Study Summary screen.



Figure 1.20 — Time Space Trajectory Plot

Click the toolbar icon labeled **TSDiag.** This screen shows a Time/Space Trajectory plot of each of the runs in the study. As in the Speed Profile plot, you can control various aspects of the plot. The straight green line shows the Normal Speed as set on the Study Summary screen. This plot is another way of seeing the data for all of the runs at one time. Click **Exit** to return to the Study Summary screen.

By now you should have a pretty good idea if your study is set up properly and has good analysis results. It is time to print the reports.



Reports

The end results of almost all Travel Time studies are the reports, and special attention has been given to the design of the reports in this program.

Click the toolbar icon labeled **Print**, or select **Print** from the **File** menu.

Select Reports	to Prir	nt					
Study Name 56th St-N	IB-PM						
-Summary Reports	PI	lots Showing All Ru	ns		otal Nu	umber of Page	es
Table of Contents 🛛 🗹	1p S	peed/Distance Pro	files 🔽 1 p			IDea 1924	_
Study Summary	1p Ti	ime/Space Traject	ories 🛛 🔽 1 p			29	
🛛 Overall Output Stats 🛛 🗹	1p						
Fuel and Emissions 🛛 🛛	1p						
Stats for Each Run by Se	ction S	peed Plots of Indivi	dual Runs	1			
Travel Time 💌	1p	Run Na	me	Distvs	Spd	Time vs Spd	
Stops 🗹	1p U	11:56th St-NB-B-RU	Ultn	<u>.</u>	2p	<u>1</u> 10	
Speed 💌	1p U	12: 56th St-ND-D-HU	JZT 194		2p 25	≝ ip ⊠1-	
Total Delay 🧧	1p 0	4: 56th St-NB-B-R0	D 4t	N N	∠µ 2n	M 1 n	
Time Below 0 MPH	1p 0	H. 3001 30 113 B 110	5-10	100	ср (
Time Below 35 MPH	1p						
Time Below 55 MPH	1p						
Fuel Consumption 🛛 🗹	1p						
Hydrocarbons 🗹	1p						
Carbon Monoxide 🛛 🗹	1p						
Nitrous Oxide 🛛 🗹	1p						
Select All Reports						Report	
Clear All Reports		Ok	Cancel			Options	Help

Figure 1.21 — Select Reports to Print

The screen you see is a list of all of the reports you can print with the current study. There are 17 standard reports that are always available, and then there are two types of plots that you can print for each run in the study. The screen shows the name of each run with check boxes for each of the two types of run plots you can print.

The idea is simple, just *click the reports you want to print*. All reports with a check in the checkbox next to the report will be included in the report.

There are two buttons in the lower left corner. One **Selects All** of the reports and the other **Clears All** of the reports. Their meaning should be obvious.

In the upper right hand corner is a little window that shows the total number of pages for the reports you have selected. The number changes automatically as you select or de-select different reports.

Most of the reports are only one page. They are shown with a small **1p** next to the check box. The **Speed Profiles of Runs** plots are often more than one page. The number of pages in each of these reports is also shown next to the checkbox.

Once you have selected the reports you want to print, click **OK**. If you change your mind and decide not to print any reports at this time, click **Cancel**.

Report Options

You can select different options before you print the reports. To select the options you want, click the button labeled **Report Options**.

n Solo	Report Options	
Study Na	Report Headings	
Sludy Na	Ridge Engineering, Inc. printed at the top of	
Table o	877-603-5844	ges —
Study Si Overall	www.pc-travel.com	
Fuel and	Options	
Stats for Travel 1	 Show run names on Detailed Stats by Run reports Show Study node lines on plots 	d
Stops Speed	 Show Speed Category lines on plots Show Normal Speed line on Time/Space Traj plots 	
Total De Time Be	 Show Delay lines on Speed Profile plots Show Run nodes on plots 	
Time Be	Show page numbers on reports	
Time Be Fuel Co	Speed/Distance Profiles of All Runs Options	
Hydroce	 Plot Average and All Runs 	
Nitrous	Plot Only Average	
Se	Select Speed Profile Distance Per Page 8000 💌	
	Ok Cancel Help	Help

Figure 1.22 — Report Options

The top section shows the three titles that are printed on the top of every report. Normally you would fill this out once and never edit it again. However, some users like to change the titles often, especially consultants who will put the name of the customer, rather than their own name, on each report. It's up to you.

The top line usually is the name of your organization. It is printed in larger type, in bold, and centered on the top of every report. The next two lines are smaller, but still centered under the top title. You don't have to use all three lines, you can leave the second or third lines blank if you want.

The bottom section shows other options you can set before you print the reports. Your choices for these options may vary from study to study, although you may just set all of the options on and forget about it. The options may not make much sense right now. That's not important for now. Just accept the defaults.

All of the settings on this screen are duplicated in the Report Option tab on the Preferences screen. *See Appendix 1 for a complete description of each of these options.* That is where you would set the default value for each title and option. You use the screen shown here only to change any of the default values. If you know that you don't need to change any of the default values (*which is the usual case*) then you don't need to go to this screen at all.

Click **OK** when all of the options are set the way you want them. This will bring you back to the **Select Reports to Print** screen.

Once you have selected the reports you want to print, and have selected the options for the reports, you are ready to preview the reports. Click **OK**.

Print Preview								
Previous	Next	Zoom 🕶	Printer	Print	PDF	Close	Help	
II 4 1/29 F H	q -	4					<i>3</i>	
		100						
								33
							Ridge Engineering, In	c.
							877-603-5844	
							www.pc-travel.com	
						-	PC-Travel Reports for study: 56th St-	NB-PM
							Report Name	Page
							Study Summary	
							Overall Output Statistics	
							Fuel Consumption & Emissions	
							Detailed Statistics By Run - Travel Times	
							Detailed Statistics By Run - Stops	
							Detailed Statistics By Run - Average Speed	7
							Detailed Statistics By Run - Total Delay	
							Detailed Statistics By Run - Time <= 0 MPH	
							Detailed Statistics By Run - Time <= 35 MPH	
							Detailed Statistics By Run - Time <= 55 MPH	
							Detailed Statistics By Run - Fuel Consumption	
							Detailed Statistics By Run - Hydrocarbons	
							Detailed Statistics By Run - Carbon Monoxide	
							Detailed Statistics By Run - NOx	
							Speed/Distance Profiles of All Runs	
							Time/Space Trajectories of All Runs	
							Speed Profile (Distance vs Spd) for 56th St-NB-B-RU	01tn
							Speed Profile (Distance Visiopo) for 56th St-ND-D-RU	021 20
							Speed Profile (Distance V 5 Spd) for 56th St-ND-D-RU Speed Profile (Distance V 5 Spd) for 66th St NP 9 D/	0.04 24
							Speed Profile (Distance Vs Spd) for 50th St-ND-D-Rt Speed Profile (Time vs Spd) for 50th St-ND-D-Rt	p 26
							Speed Trolle (Time vs Spu) for 50th SHND-D-R0010	20
							Speed Profile (Time vs Spd) for 56th St-NB-B-R0020	28
							Speed Profile (Time vs Spd) for 56th St-NB-B-004t	29
					-	2	opeca i forme (finne v 3 opu) for Sour Sinder Direction	

Figure 1.23 — Report Preview

Above is an example of the screen you might see. In this case I selected all of the reports on the previous screen. This is the Table of Contents page that lists all of the reports and the page number for each report.

At the top of the screen are the navigation buttons to control the preview of the reports, select the printer, print the reports, and exit the preview.

Click the **Next** and **Previous** buttons to move from page to page to see what each of the reports look like.

Click the **Zoom** button to select different views. Select the Thumbnail view (my favorite) from the drop down list, then double click on any of the reports to quickly go to that page.

Click the **Printer** button to display the standard Windows printer select dialog box. If you have multiple printers available to you, you can choose the printer here.

Click the **Print** button to print the reports.

Click the **PDF** button to create a PDF file of the report. This file is stored in the current Study Group folder and is called <study name>.pdf, where <study name> is the name of the study.

Click the **Close** button to return to the Study Summary screen.

Feel free to play with all of the options available on these screens. You also might try changing some of the Report Options to see the effect on the reports. Remember, you don't have to print out the actual reports to see the different options, you can just preview the report pages on the screen.

1.24

Summary

If you made it all of the way through this tutorial, congratulations.

In this tutorial we retrieved an existing study, displayed the run details of the runs in the study, viewed the node distances of the runs to set the node distances and names for the study, displayed the study details in both tabular and graphical form, and finally previewed and then printed a complete set of reports for the study.

Hopefully you now have a pretty good idea of how the core features of the software work.

Several areas of the software were not discussed at all, and a few others were just briefly discussed. Other Tutorials and Appendices in this Reference Manual explain these areas in more detail. 1.26

Chapter 2

Collecting Travel Time Data in the Field

How to Do a Travel Time Study

This chapter is a step-by-step guide on how to do a fixed route travel time study on an arterial street, using a Jamar TDC unit or a GPS receiver.





Step 1 — Define the Route

This step may seem obvious, but it is easy to forget some important points. You need to define a starting point, an ending point, and the intermediate nodes. Normally the starting, ending, and intermediate nodes are intersections, but they can be other landmarks such as bridge abutments, mile post markers, or other fixed landmarks. Pick points that can be easily identified now and when future *after* runs may be collected. The drawing above shows a simplified diagram of a typical study route. There is a starting node, which could be an intersection, four nodes, which could be signalized intersections, and an ending node.

Make a rough sketch of the route, clearly showing the starting and ending points and list the intermediate nodes you want to use *(see step 2)*. You don't have to make every intersection a node. It is important to understand the type of information you want the data to give you before you define the route and nodes. Don't use more nodes than you really need; it just needlessly complicates the analysis.

Location: Bandout	Date: 5/11/2000 Cal Constant: 882					
Site Code: 12345678						
Nodes:						
Start/End Druid Hills						
1 4 Mainland	16	-				
2 <u>3</u> Guilbeau	17	-				
3 2 Bresnahan/Mistic	18	55	-			
Zo S Tighe	19	-				
6	21					
7	22	2	1			
8	23	_				
9	24	-	-			
10	25		-			
12	20		-			
13	28	_	_			
14	29					
15	30	_	-			
Runs	-	-				
# Dir Time Comments	#	Dir	Time	Comments		
1 nb 14:55 ok	2	sb	15:03	ok		
a nb 15:15 missed link at braun	4	sb	15:22	ok		
5 nb 15:33 ok	6	sb	15:41	ok		
7 nb 15:52 slow truck caused backup	P 8	sb	16:12	ok		
9 <u>nb 16:21 ok</u>	10	sb	16:29	late link at guilbeau?		
11 nb 16:40 ok	12	sb	16:48	ok		
13	14	-				
15	16	_				
17	18	-				
10	20					

Figure 2.2 — Field Worksheet

Step 2 — Prepare the Field Worksheet

You should always keep field notes when you do travel time studies. The field notes help you keep track of the runs when you get back to the office. The Appendix has a master copy of a sample field worksheet to help you store all of the information about the runs you make. You should make copies of this form, or use it as a guide to develop your own field sheet. Also included is a sample of a worksheet that has been filled out (*shown here in reduced form*) to give you an idea of how the form is used.

Before you start the data collection, fill in the general information about the session at the top of the sheet. List the starting point, ending point, and any intermediate nodes.

Step 3 — Collect Your Data

There are several ways to collect your data in the field — using a GPS receiver, using an OBD Interface, or using a TDC unit from Jamar. However most users of PC-Travel will want the option to use the mapping features of the software, and this is only possible when using GPS receivers to collect the data. This section of the manual will only discuss

how to collect data with GPS receivers. Other Appendices in the manual discuss the other options.

This section details the procedures for collecting travel time data using a TDC. If you are using the GPS software,

Collecting Data with GPS Travel Time Software

The GPS Travel Time software allows you to collect travel time data using a GPS receiver and either a laptop computer or PDA. You do not need to use this software if you are collecting data with a TDC unit.

The basic idea is simple. The GPS receiver outputs data every second. Some of this data includes the speed of the vehicle, which is measured to a surprisingly high degree of accuracy (better than 1 MPH). The laptop or PDA reads the data from the GPS receiver and stores the speed information, plus other information that you input. The PC-Travel software then can read and process these files into travel time studies.

GPS Technology and Receivers



Figure 2.6 - How GPS Works

In case you are new to GPS technology, what follows is a brief introduction to the subject. Each GPS receiver is a glorified radio antenna that picks up signals put out by the network of dedicated GPS satellites. Once the receiver gets a signal from three or four satellites, it can compute your position *(latitude and longitude)* anywhere on the planet. Using a little calculus, the receiver can figure out how fast you are moving by monitoring your changes in position.

There are dozens of GPS receivers available, in many different price ranges and with many different features. In general, the best GPS receivers to use with GPS Travel Time do not have dedicated display screens. For our

purposes, they just aren't necessary. Since the laptop or PDA you are running GPS Travel Time on acts as your display, you don't need one on your GPS unit. If you've already got a GPS receiver with a display and it's supported by GPS Travel Time, that's fine. However, if you're shopping for a GPS unit for the specific purpose of taking travel time data, save yourself some money and opt for something like the simple black receiver shown here. Visit **www.pc-travel.com** for more information on GPS receivers.



The most important part of the GPS Travel Time set up is the placement of the GPS antenna. In order for the GPS receiver to function properly, it must have a fairly clear view of the sky. This makes GPS reception more difficult in places with numerous tall buildings or dense foliage, and nearly impossible in tunnels.

Since the inside of your car doesn't provide an ideal view of the sky, it is best to have a GPS receiver with an external antenna. This antenna may be the entire receiver, as in the case of the Garmin 35, or it may plug into the GPS device which would then feed the data to your laptop. Either way, you don't want to be driving around holding your GPS receiver out the window so you don't lose your signal. Most of the external antennas are magnetic, which is very handy when popping it on and off of a car's roof, but a suction cup anchor or fixed mounting bracket would also do the job. Route the cable through a window into your car.



2.4

To physically connect with GPS Travel Time, your GPS receiver must have some means to send data to your laptop or PDA. Usually the easiest means to achieve this connection is through a serial port. Most GPS receivers are equipped with a female 9-pin serial connector and most laptops have the male equivalent. A fairly standard cable is used to connect the two. *Note: Some new laptops don't have serial ports, they only have USB ports. There are USB to Serial adapters that are available at any computer store that solve this problem For this tutorial we'll assume you have a GPS receiver and a laptop that each have serial ports.* PDAs require a serial adapter, which can be acquired from the PDA's manufacturer.

The specific information output by GPS receivers will vary from unit to unit. However, there is one standard output format that is supported by nearly every receiver. This format is called NMEA. NMEA outputs are divided into sentences and these sentences are transmitted as ASCII text characters. Often, there are ways to adjust which sentences your receiver transmits. A GPS receiver may default to output its sentences every second, every two seconds, or sometimes every 5 seconds. This time interval may also be changed on most units. PC-Travel requires that your receiver output sentences at one second intervals. *If you aren't sure if your receiver outputs data in the proper format, visit www.pc-travel.com or give us a call.*

Many GPS receivers are battery powered and any such unit with a reasonable battery life would be fine for use with PC-Travel. Since you will be in the car, the best option is to power your GPS unit with a cigarette lighter plug. Some receivers, like the Garmin 35, come with a cigarette lighter plug already included. Otherwise, you can usually find a cigarette lighter adapter to add to your GPS unit through the GPS manufacturer.

Once you have your GPS receiver installed and ready to go, you will have it connected to either a laptop computer or PDA. The following sections detail how to use the GPS Travel Time software with either a laptop or PDA.

Recommended GPS Receiver Features

• External antenna that mounts on roof of car

• Serial port for standard connection to laptop or PDA

• NMEA format output at 1 second intervals
Working with GPS to Laptop (GPS2LT)

This section details the procedures for collecting GPS travel time data using a laptop computer. If you are using a PDA, skip to the next section.

This tutorial will guide you through the basic use of the GPS to Laptop (GPS2LT) software. Read through the tutorial once to get familiar with the basic ideas and to learn how the two primary screens work. The tutorial works best if you actually follow the directions and collect real data in the field with a GPS receiver and laptop, but we tried to write the tutorial to make sense even if you are sitting comfortably in your recliner in your office. (What? You don't have a recliner?)

This tutorial assumes you are familiar with PC-Travel and the basics of travel time studies. If not, then you should read Chapter 1 of this manual. It will make this tutorial easier to follow.

Installation

To install GPS2LT onto your laptop PC, place the Ridge PC-Travel CD into your CD drive. The Installation Options program will start after a few seconds. Otherwise, click on the **Start** button on your Windows desktop. Select **Run** from the list of options and type the command line **X:\setup.exe**, where X is the letter of your CD drive. Press **OK** and you will see the Installation Options for the program. Click **Install GPS to Laptop** to start the installation.

At the Welcome Screen, click **Next** to start the wizard. You will then be asked whether or not you want to accept the licensing agreement. Click the **Yes** button to accept the agreement and continue with installation.

Fill in the appropriate boxes with your name, and your company's name, and serial number. The serial number will be on the back of your CD case. Be sure to include the hyphens (-). Click **Next** to proceed. The install program checks the serial number you entered and if there is a problem (usually just a mistake typing the number) you will see an error message and get a chance to enter the number again. When the software is happy with the number, you will see the next screen.

The setup program needs a location in which to install your GPS2LT software. The default location will install GPS2LT in the same folder with other PC-Travel software you might have. Whether or not you have any other PC-Travel software, the default location will work just fine. If you do have some reason to change you installation location, click the **Browse** button and select any existing directory for installation.

The fifth screen asks you to choose a folder for GPS2LT's icon. Again, the default shown will almost certainly be okay. It may make the most sense to you to pick the folder that matches the directory from the previous screen, but you're free to choose any folder you like. Click the **Next** button to continue.

Now, you are able to review any and all of the information that you've entered into the setup wizard. Click the **Back** button should you want to change anything. If everything looks correct, click **Next** to install all of the GPS2LT's files.

Once your GPS2LT software is installed, click the button labeled **Finish** to exit the wizard. Start the GPS2LT program and the first screen you will see is the **Preferences**.

Setting the Preferences

The purpose of this screen is to allow you to set all of GPS2LT's options before you start recording data. Your interaction with this screen will determine the name of your study, the folder in which your study will be saved, the communication port number that will be active, what type of GPS receiver you'll be using, and whether or not you'll be using the VersaPoint remote control.

Study Name Test	#
Corrent Data Folder C:\Program Files\GPS2LT2\Data Files\	Comm Port
Gobal Graphics GoFTP Google GPS2LT2 GPS Pathfinder Controller Grisoft GustoSoft	GPS Receiver Haicom 204 Baud Rate 4800 Enable VersoPoint Bemote Control
III Haicom III 🔁 Handmark III 🦕 🎦 HHD Software	Enable Metric View for Speeds
Name: Don Gettner Company: Ridge Engineering, Inc. Serial #: EE26-F04P-3PRN-9A83-9A83	Input Run Direction with GPS Data

Figure 2.8 - GPS to Laptop Preferences

The lower left corner of the screen shows the **license information**, including your serial number. You may need this number if you are talking to Tech Support at Ridge Engineering.

The boxes labeled 'Study' and '#' in the **Study Details** field allow you to enter a unique name for your upcoming study. GPS2LT will save every file with a .gdf file extension. This is not optional, as PC-Travel will be looking for your GPS data in this particular format. For the purposes of this tutorial, leave the study name and number as their default values.

Use the tree viewer in the **Current Data Folder** field to select the folder in which your study will be saved. If your selection is invalid, you will see an error message asking you to pick another folder. For now, you can just have GPS2LT save your data in the default Data Files folder.

To the right of the tree viewer is the **Comm Port** drop-down box that allows you to select the number of the Comm (serial) port with which your GPS receiver will be communicating. If you are unsure of your Comm port number, just leave it set to Comm port number one and GPS2LT will let you know whether or not it was able to open that particular port.

Use the **GPS Receiver** box to select the type of GPS receiver you are using with GPS2LT. This entry will allow the software to better process the information output by your GPS receiver. If the receiver you are using isn't on the list then you may need to experiment to see if any of the listed receivers work the same way as yours. You will be able to tell on the Main screen, before you start collecting any data, if the software can read the data coming from your receiver.



Use the **Enable VersaPoint Remote Control** box to tell the software whether you are using the remote control that is available as an option with GPS2LT. This remote control (shown in the picture) allows you to control the software without looking at the keyboard. One button is used to mark the beginning and end of runs and one button is used to mark nodes if needed. This low cost remote simplifies the data collection since the person running the software can watch the road instead of glancing back and forth between the road and the keyboard.

You can select to **Enable Metric View for Speeds** mode, which records and shows speeds in KPH, if desired.

You also can select to **Input Run Direction** before each run. This will be explained in more detail a little later in this tutorial.

When all of your information is correct, click the **OK** button to proceed to the Main Screen.

GPS Travel Time Data Collector - Version 2.0.0 Study Name Test Run 0 Node # 1 0 SPS Date Speed Run Dir Delay# HDOI 11:49:42 lime Speed 0.6mph Latitude 28.043600 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 82.375452 Longitude Fix 2 Num Sats 07 HDOP 1.1 ъſ \$GPGGA,154942.000,2802.6160,N,08222.5271,W,2,07,1.1,29.2,M,-29.9,M,0.8,0C Hide Run Direction Start (R)un (E)nd Study

Data Collection Screen

Figure 2.10 - GPS to Laptop Main Screen

The **Study Details** field at the top portion of the screen is dedicated to displaying important information about your current study. The **Study Name** and **#** labels will show whatever you typed into the boxes on the **Preferenc**es screen. The **Run** indicator shows the current run number. The **Node** indicator shows the current node number in the run.

If any information shown under *Study Details* or *GPS Data* is incorrect, go ahead and click the **End Study** button (or the 'e' key). The program will take you back to the *Preferences* screen where any mistakes can be corrected.

Once your GPS device is properly connected, the GPS information is processed and parsed to fill in the *Time*, *Speed*, *Latitude*, *Longitude*, *Fix*, *Num Sats*, and *HDOP* labels found in the GPS Data field.

Most of these labels are obvious, but the last three may need some explanation:

Fix: This shows the type of data detected by the GPS receiver. If it equals zero, then the receiver is not getting sufficient information to accurately determine the position. If it equals one, then the receiver is getting information only from the satellites. If it equals two, then the receiver is getting data from the satellites and a source of *differential correction*, which gives more accurate position information but doesn't improve the speed measurement significantly. For GPS2LT, the Fix should equal 1 or 2.

Num Sats: This shows the number of satellites used to calculate the current location. In general, the more satellites the receiver can see the better the data will be. This is included primarily to help you determine if the data you are collecting might have problems. The number of satellites can vary from 3 to 8 or more.

HDOP: This stands for Horizontal Dilution of Precision. It is a fancy term for the theoretical quality of the data based on the current location of the satellites in the sky used by the receiver to calculate the position and other statistics. If the satellites, by chance, happen to all be in the same general portion of the sky then the calculations made by the receiver are not as accurate as if the satellites are spread out. The HDOP ranges from less than 1, which is very good, to 5 or more. Data collected with the HDOP consistently over 4 or so may not be as accurate as the data collected on the same route at another time.

To the right of the GPS Data display is the **Data Grid**. This section is filled in when you are doing a run. Each line is one second of data. This is the data that is stored in the data file and used by PC-Travel to create the run files.

The unprocessed **GPS transmission sentences** are shown on the Status Line, below the GPS Data. This is the data that is displayed in the GPS Data section. Normally you don't pay much attention to this data; it is there as an indication that the communication with the GPS receiver is working.

It is possible that the GPS information displayed will not be correct. If the GPS receiver hasn't been used in a while, it may take some time to get a proper satellite fix. If you've given your GPS unit a few minutes to adequately determine its position and its transmissions are still erroneous, try moving to a new location that has a less obstructed view of the sky.

If you don't want to see these sentences *(they can be distracting),* then click on the **Hide** button to the right of the Status Line. You can turn the display of the sentences back on by clicking the same button *(now labeled* **Show**) at any time.

Once you start a run, GPS2LT will begin to fill in the Data Grid with the information supplied by the receiver.

At the bottom of the screen are the **Command Buttons** you use to control the software. There are three buttons, *(R)un, (N)ode,* and *(E)nd Study.* Only the buttons that are active at a given time are shown. Each command can be entered in two ways, either click on the button with the mouse or enter the letter in parenthesis on the keyboard. For example, to start a new run, press the **r** key. *(If the Remote Control option is used, then you can also control the software using the remote).*

Preparing to Start Run

When you first get to the *Main* screen, the software tries to communicate with the GPS receiver. If there is a problem, the screen will not show any GPS data. *(See below for notes on what to do)*. If the software successfully connects to the receiver, the GPS data is shown on the left side of the screen. You should check the **Time** and **Speed** in particular to make sure they seem correct. You should also check the **Fix**, **Num Sats**, and **HDOP** to see the quality of the data. No information is shown in the GPS Grid section yet; that only happens once you start a run. The **Start (R)un** button is now visible, but the run hasn't started yet.

• GPS Travel Ti	me Data Collector	- Ver	sion 2	.0.0				Į.	
Study Name	Test			#	1	R	JIN 0	Nod	e 0
GPS Data									
Time	11.49.42	-	Time	Speed	Run Dir	Delay#	HDOP	Latitude	Lan 🔺
TIMO	11.10.12	2							
	0.0	3							
Speed	0.6 mah	4							
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	mpn	5							
Latitude	28.043600	8							
Edition	2010 10000	8							
Longitude	82.375452	9							
	~	10		_					
FIX	2	17							
Num Sats	07	13							
Nulli Gato	07	14							
HDOP	11	15							
		16							-
		4							•
		1							
\$GPGGA.15494	2.000.2802.6160.N	.08222	2.5271	.W.2.0	7.1.1.	29.2.N	129.9	M.0.8.0C	Hide
Run Direction	S	art	(\mathbf{R})	un				(E)	ad Study
			()					(=)	iu stauy

Figure 2.11 - Initial Data Collection Screen

Once all of the information you've entered is satisfactory and the GPS unit is properly connected, you're ready to start collecting data. Drive to the start of the route. Check the **Time** and **Speed** shown on the screen. They should be correct, and the speed should be close to the speed shown on the speedometer.

If you enabled **Set Run Direction** on the previous **Preferences** screen, you will have an drop down box in the lower left corner of the screen. Select the direction for the run you are about to start. The software will add the direction information to the run data; when PC-Travel processes this run data it will read the direction information and add that to the name of the run file. This greatly helps to identify runs when you are creating and editing the runs later in the process.

No GPS Data?

If you have everything set up and you're not getting any data, check the following:

• Make sure the GPS receiver is getting power. Some cigarette lighter adapters only work when the car is moving or a key is in the ignition.

• Make sure the Comm port setting is correct in the **Preferences** screen. Laptops almost always use Com1 for the serial port, but check it anyway. Also check that some other application isn't monitoring the serial port.

• Make sure the antenna has a good view of the sky. Some receivers don't output data until the data is above a certain quality level. If the receiver is new or has been moved more than a few hundred miles since it's last use, it may take up to 10 minutes to figure out where it is and start outputting data.



2.10

To start the first run, click the **Start** (**R**)**un** button or press the **R** key. Note that the background changes its color to green once the run has started. At this point, you will also notice that the GPS data has begun to fill in the grid and your screen will look similar to the one pictured here. Also, the (**N**)**ode** button has appeared while the (**E**)**nd Study** button has disappeared. This ensures that you aren't counting nodes in between runs or mistakenly ending a study while taking data during a run. The **Start** (**R**)**un** button now reads **Stop** (**R**)**un**.

GPS Data									
Time	11.51.00		Time	Speed	Run Dir	Delay#	HDOP	Latitude	Loni
Ime	11.51.20	8	11:51:11	0.3	NB	-1	1.30	28.043718	82.3755
		7	11:51:12	0.4	NB	- T	1.30	28.043720	82.3755;
On and	0.0	8	11:51:13	0.3	NB	-1	1.30	28.043723	82.37558
Speed	U.2 mah	9	11:51:14	0.6	NB	-1	1.30	28.043727	82.37555
	mpn	10	11:51:15	0.5	NB	-1	1.40	28.043728	82.37555
Latituda	20 012600	11	11:51:16	0.4	NB	-1	1.40	28.043723	82.37558
Latitude	20.043000	12	11:51:17	0.3	NB	-1	1.40	28.043718	82.37557
La se	00 075500	13	11:51:18	0.5	NB	-1	1,40	28.043712	82.37556
Longitude	82.375502	14	11:51:19	0.8	NB	-1	1.40	28.043703	82.3755+
Et.	~	15	11:51:20	0.9	NB	-1	1.40	28.043700	82.37550
FIX	2	15	11:51:21	0.8	NB	-1	1.40	28.043697	82.37552
Marine Acade	ō.e	17	11:51:22	0.8	NB	-1	1.40	28.043693	82.37552
Num Sats	05	18	11:51:23	0.7	NB	-1	1.40	28.043690	82.3755
UDOD		19	11:51:24	0.6	NB	-1	1.40	28.043688	82.37550
HDUP	1.4	20	11.51.25	0.2	ND	3	1.40	20.043000	82.37330
		21	11.51.20	0.2	NO	-1	1,40	20.043000	06.37330
		4							

Figure 2.12 - Data Collection Screen

To record a node during your run, click the **Node** button, press the **Spacebar**, or the **N** key. Any one of these actions will cause the node number in the top right corner of the screen to increment by one. You can have as many, or as few (even zero), nodes as you like marked on a given run; your GPS data is recorded either way.

In the lower left corner is an input box where you can input **Reasons For Delay**. This is an optional feature that was added to PC-Travel with version 2. To use it you create a list of codes for different reasons for delay in PC-Travel. For example, 1 might be congestion, 2 might be pedestrians, etc. You can enter these codes while you are collecting your data. The codes you enter in the field will show up on the detail plots of the run data when you print the reports. *Note: Since this requires typing on the keyboard, you should only use this feature if you have two people in the car.*

When you come to the end of your run, click the **Stop** (**R**)**un** button or **R** key again to end data collection for that particular run. Once you stop the run, the background becomes red and data entry ceases in the grid. Now you're ready to start another run that will be added to the current study. Drive to the beginning of the second run and click the (**R**)**un** button or **R** key again. You can have as many runs as you like in any particular study.

When you've collected as many runs as you need, click **(E)nd Study** or the **E** key. Your data is automatically saved, and the program ends.

The data for the study is stored in a file using the names you entered into the **Preferences** screen and shown at the top of the **Main** screen, in this case Test-1. The next step is to process the data you collected in PC-Travel.

Using GPS2LT Data with PC-Travel

After you've collected all of the necessary travel time data, it's time to use PC-Travel for data analysis and report generation. There is a sample data file installed with the GPS2LT software. This tutorial will use that file to show you the basic procedure; then you can duplicate the process with any data you collect.

Run your PC-Travel software.

Startup Options			×
Open Most Recent Travel Time Study	Name 55th SHNB	÷РМ	
Open an Existing Travel Time Study	Start a New Travel Time Study	Edit Runs	Define/Edit Program Preferences
	Read TDC	Process TDC Data	Process Runs in Temp Folder
	Process GPS2LT Data	Process GPS2PDA Data	
	Process OBD2LT Data	Process OBD2PDA Data	
Help			Exit

Figure 2.13 - Startup Options

At the *Startup Options* screen, click the **Process GPS2LT Data** button. The program takes you to a screen which allows you to browse for the particular GPS2LT study that you want to process, as shown in Figure 2.14 below.



Figure 2.14 - Select GPS Data

The left side of the screen shows the familiar folder tree. The folder highlighted is the folder selected in the *Field Data* folder setting in the *Preferences* screen, which typically is called *Field Data Files*. The software looks for files with an extension of .gd2, which are the files produced by GPS2LT2. The grid on the right side of the screen shows some information about each GPS2LT2 data file so that it is easier for you to locate the one you want. The example shown above only has one data file called *56thSt*, which is already highlighted. Click the **Select** button.

arre ja	IN SI												Study Date	
	Bun	Dir	Node	Date	Time	Speed	Heading	Latituda	Longitude	HDOP	Quality	SatUsed		_
1	- 1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:43	0.0	181.0	28.018503	-62.393053	2.00	1	6		
2	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	85:21:44	0.0	181.0	28.018503	-62.393053	2.00	1	6		
3	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:45	0.0	181.0	28.018500	-82.393053	2.00	1	6		
4	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:46	4.7	180.0	28.018482	-82.393053	2.00	1	δ		
5	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:47	7.7	180.0	28.018450	-82.393055	2.00	1	6		
6	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	85:21:48	8.6	182.0	28.018415	-82.393058	2.00	1	6		
1	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:49	8.1	190.0	28.018383	-82.393070	2.00	1	Б		
8	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:50	7.9	213.0	28.018357	-62.393093	2.00	- 3	6		
9	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:51	7.5	237.0	28.018340	-62.393122	2.00	1	6		
10		NE	0	09/19/2007	05:21:52	7.4	262.0	28.018338	-82.393158	2,00	1	6		
.11		NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:53	6.4	279.0	28,018342	-82.393187	2.00	1	6		
12		NB	U	09/19/2007	05:21:54	4.2	285.0	28,018347	-82.393203	200	1	0		
13		NH	0	09/19/2007	05:21:55	25	295.0	28.018352	-82.393213	3.40	1	2		
14		NB	0	09/19/2007	05.21:56	1.4	313.0	28018373	-82.393240	200		b		
15	- 2 -	NB		09/19/2007	05:21:57	13.8	335.0	28.018425	-62.39326/	200	1	2		
10		NE		Usy1s/2007	05:21:58	18.3	354.0	28.0 (8500	-82.3932/7	2.00	- 2	b.		
1/.		ME		09/19/2007	05.21.53	20.3	1.0	28.0105552	-02.3332//	2.00.	1	0		
10		NIC .		00/10/2007	05.22.00	23.0	1.0	28.010670	-02.383277	2.00		6		
13	1.2	PHL I		Day 19/2007	03.22.01	23.0	1.0	201010703	02.333275	2.00	1			
21	1	MIR		02110/2007	65-32-02	25.0	1.0	28.019007	91 292272	200	1	2		
		ND		00/18/2007	00.22.03	20.0	1.0	28.010307	-02.333272 83.393272	2.00	1			
22	1.2	ND		09/19/2007	86-22-04	26.4	1.0	28.019202	.62.383272	200	1	ê		
24	1.2	MIC		09/19/2007	85-22-06	241	1.0	28 (119299	.62 393255	200	1	2		
00		MB		00119/2007	85.99.07	97.7	1.0	28,019292	82 393200	200	1	2		
20	4	NE	ů.	09/19/2007	05-22-08	21.9	1.0	28.019490	-82 393267	200	1	8		
27	1.1	NE		09/19/2007	85-22-09	28.3	1.0	28,019552	-82 393255	200		E.		
20	1	NE	n	09/19/2007	85-22-10	18.8	1.0	28 019637	-82 393263	200	1	5		
29		NE	0	09/19/2007	85-22-11	16.6	1.0	28.019205	-82 393262	200	1	8		
30	1.1	NB	ň.	09/19/2002	85-22-12	147	1.0	28.019763	-82 393262	2.00	1	ě.		
31	1	NE	0	09/19/2007	85-22-13	12.8	1.0	28/019815	-82 393250	200	î	6		
32	1	NB	0	09/18/2007	85-22-14	10.8	1.0	28.019990	-82 393260	2.00	÷.	6		
33	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:15	8.9	1.0	28,019895	-62.393260	2.00	1	6		
34	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:16	6.6	2.0	28,019922	-82.393260	2.00	1	Б		
35	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	85:22:17	4.3	3.0	28.019940	-82.393250	2.00	1	δ		
36	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:18	1.9	4.0	28.019947	-82.393258	2.00	1	6		
37	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	85:22:19	0.0	4.0	28.019950	-82.393258	2.00	1	6		
38	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:20	0.0	4.0	28.019955	-82.393258	2.00	1	6		
39	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	85:22:21	4.4	2.0	28.019973	-82.393258	2.00	1	8		
40	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	85:22:22	8.7	1.0	28.020010	-82.393258	2.00	1	6		
41	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:23	13.3	0.0	28.020063	-82.393258	2.00	1	Б		
4	1 i	19942	20	and the base of		and the second	12552		a balance and	70155		111		
												Minui	na Speed Onli	ons
												Ein	d Next Missing	a Spe
month													Calculate Co.	and the second

Figure 2.15 - GPS Data Screen

At this point, you see a window entitled *GPS Data*. The purpose of this screen is to check your data for missing speeds. If you lost your GPS fix at any point during your travel time study (*which is not uncommon*), there will be missing data points. The grid on this screen shows all of the GPS data for the study that you've selected (*this includes every run in that study*). If the **OK** button is red then the software has found missing data points and you should go through your data and fix the missing speeds.

· 56	hĐ													Study Data	
ana l	Pun	Dir	Node	Date	Time	Speed	Heading	Lattude	41.4	Longitude	HDOP	Quality	SatUsed		
4329	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.02	42.7	179.0	28.021983		82.393497	0.90	1	9		
4330	10	SB	n	10/17/2007	10:04:03	42.5	-1.0	28.021554	1	82.393492	-1.00	-1	-1		
4331	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.04	42.5	180.0	28.821468	1	82.393492	0.90	1	10		
4332	10	SB	D	10/17/2007	10:04:04	-1.0	-1	-1.00000D		-1.000090	-1.00	-1	-		
4333	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.05	42.6	188.0	28.021297		82.393482	0.90	1	10		
4334	10	SB	D	10/17/2007	10.04.05	42.7	180.0	28.021123	8	82.393493	0.90	1	10		
4335	10	SB	0.	10/17/2007	10.04.07	42.9	188.0	28,020950		82,393493	0.90		10		
4336	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.08	43.0	180.0	28.020777	2	82.393495	0.90	12	10		
4337	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.09	43.1	180.0	28.020602	8	82.393497	0.90	1	10		
4338	10	SB	D	10/17/2007	10:04:10	43.1	180.0	28.020428	8	82.393498	0.90		10		
4315	10	SB	U	10/17/2007	10.04.11	43.2	181.0	28.020253	E.	92,393502	0.90		10		
4340	10	SB	D	10/17/2007	10.0412	43.3	180.0	28.020078	3	92.393503	0.90		10		
4341	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.0413	43.4	180.0	56.01 9903	3	82,393503	0.90	12	10		
4342	10	BB	D	10/17/2007	10:04:14	43.6	180.0	28.019728	8	82.393503	0.90	2	10		
4343	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04:15	43.7	181.0	28.0195.52	2	82.393505	0.90		10		
4344	10	SB	D	10/17/2007	10:04:16	43.2	181.0	28.815378	2	82.393508	0.90		10		
4345	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10:04:17	42.6	181.0	26.019208	8	82,393510	0.90	- 22	10		
4346	10	SB	<u>n</u>	10/17/2007	10.0418	41.6	188.0	28.0190.42	2	02.393508	0.90	12	10		
4347	10	SB	0	18/17/2007	10:04:19	39.5	179.0	28.018883	3	82.393503	0.90	12	10		
4348	10	SB	D	10/17/2007	10.9428	37.1	178.0	28.018735		82.393497	0.98	22	10		
4349	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.21	34.2	178.0	58.018281		82,393490	0.90		10		
4350	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10:04:22	31.3	179.0	28,018472		82.393487	0.90	19	10		
4351	10	SB		10/17/2007	10:04:23	28.3	179.0	28.018357		82,393487	0.90		9		
4352	10	SB	D.	10/17/2007	10.04.24	24.0	179.0	28.018262		02.393485	0.90	12	10		
4353	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.25	19.2	179.0	28.818183	8	82.393485	0.90	- 22	10		
4354	10	SB		10/17/2007	10:04:25	13.7	172.0	28.018130	8	82.393472	0.90	12	10		
4355	10	SB	U	10/17/2007	10.04.27	10.8	144.0	28.018095		82,393440	0.90		10		
4356	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10:04:28	10.1	107.0	28.018085	3	82,393397	0.90		10		
4357	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	18.84.29	11,2	66.0	58.018183		82.393350	1,00	- 2	9		
4358	10	BB		10/17/2007	10.04.30	13.7	30.0	28.01 B1 53	8	62.393318	1.00		9		
4359	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10:04:31	14.1	13.0	28.018208	12	95 393306	0.90		10.		
4360	10	SB	D	10/17/2007	10:04:32	13.3	0.8	28.818262	3	82.393297	0.96		10		
4361	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10:04:33	11.6	12.0	26.018307	1	82,393280	0.90	- 22	10		
4362	10	BB		10/17/2007	10.04.34	10.1	51.0	28.018330	2	92.393241	0.90		9		
4363	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.35	10.1	80.0	28.018337	3	02.393100	0.90	10	10		
4364	10	BB	D	10/17/2007	10.0436	10.1	72.0	28.018350	5	92.393155	0.90	12	10		
4365	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.37	9.9	50.0	28.018375	32	82.393122	0.90	- 22	10		
4366	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.38	9.7	26.0	28,818412	8	92.393103	1.00		5		
4367	10	SB	U.	10/17/2007	10.04.38	8.4	8.0	28.016448	3	02.3930.98	1.00		6		
4368	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.40	8.8	30	28.018483	1	92.393097	1.00	12	9		
4369	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.41	13	1.0	28.01 85 15	10	02.3930.07	0.90	- 1	10		
	_	_	_		_	_			_		_	_			
													Missi	ng Speed Optio	ns
													1001-0	d Next Missing	Sp
mon														Calculate Spe	ed

Figure 2.16 - Fix GPS Data Screen

Fixing Missing Speeds

2.12

Click the **Find Next Missing Speed** button to find the first place where you data needs to be fixed.

The grid will jump to the line with first missing speed. To have the software calculate a reasonable speed for the missing data point, click **Fix Missing Speed** and the software will fill in a speed value based on the recorded speeds before and after the missing point *(it will linearly interpolate between the two, if you like fancy words)*. If you don't like the speed calculated by the software you can edit the speed manually. Click on the speed data point and type in the speed.

You may have sections where several seconds of data are missing. The process just described does not need to be repeated for every point. As soon as you click **Fix Missing Speed**, the program will fill in speeds for the entire group of missing data points. When the **OK** button turns green, there are no more missing speeds.

You should not try to fix a large amount of data. The software can only do so much. If there are large blocks of missing data then any attempt to estimate the missing speeds is likely to give bad results. In all likelihood the people collecting the data will have noticed the data was not collected properly during one or more runs. You may need to ignore these runs because the data isn't complete. In this case you should let the software fill in the missing speeds so that the runs will be created, but simply ignore those runs when you create your studies.

In this case there is just one missing point, so the software fixes this one point and the Ok button is turned to Green signifying that all of the data has been checked and it is ok.

Creating Run Files

If the **OK** button is green, you can click it to continue. The software takes the data in the grid and creates individual run files, names the runs, and copies them to the **Temp** folder.

) Run NameTemp Base Name	Dir Run NB 001	4		Curck Directions 1. Enter Base Name in Template 2. Select runs then click Rename 3. Select Study Group or Enter new	
) List of Huns In U	ploaded Data	Time	Tue	3) List of Study Groups	
Set-CNNE-B001	09/19/07	15-21	Dimon	Study Groups	
SENSENE-ROOT	09/19/07	05-39	Dimony	Sample Files	
Settist-NE-R005	09/19/07	05.55	Primany		
566SENE-B007	09/19/07	06.09	Primary		
6hSt-NB-B009	10/17/07	09:49	Secondary		
56thSENE-B011	10/17/07	10.05	Secondary		
56hSt-NB-B013	10/17/07	10.20	Secondary		
56thSt-NB-B015	10/17/07	10:35	Secondary		
56thSt-SB-B002	09/19/07	05:30	Primary		
56thSt-SB-R004	09/19/07	05:45	Primary		.(4
56thSt-SB-R006	09/19/07	06:01	Frimory		Ru
56thSt-SB-R008	09/19/07	06:18	Primary		
56thSt-SB-R010	10/17/07	09.56	Secondary		
56thSt-SB-R012	10/17/07	10.13	Secondary		
56thSt-SB-R014	10/17/07	10:26	Secondary		
56thSt-SB-R016	10/17/07	10:43	Secondary	1	
• Rename	1) Delete	Current Study Group	

Figure 2.17 - Process Runs in Temp Folder Screen

You will see a screen similar to that shown here in Figure 2.17. Notice that the names of the run files have direction information (NB, SB) in them.

Chapter 3 details how to convert your Temp files to into run data files, how to edit the run data, and how to produce reports from the data.

Summary

If you followed this tutorial then you should have a pretty good idea how to collect travel time data using a GPS receiver and a laptop, and how to process that data in PC-Travel. Now you can go out and try it yourself.

Working with GPS To PDA (GPS2PDA)

This section details the procedures for collecting GPS travel time data using a PDA. If you are using a laptop, refer to the previous section.

This tutorial will guide you through the basic use of the GPS to PDA (GPS2PDA) software. Read through the tutorial once to get familiar with the basic ideas and to learn how the two primary screens work. The tutorial works best if you actually follow the directions and collect real data in the field with a GPS receiver and your PDA, but we tried to write the tutorial to make sense even if you are sitting comfortably in your recliner in your office. (What? You don't have a recliner?)

This tutorial assumes you are familiar with PC-Travel and the basics of travel time studies. If not, then you should read Chapter 1 of this manual. It will make this tutorial easier to follow.

Installation

2.14

The installation procedures for GPS2PDA vary depending on whether you are using the Pocket PC operating system or Palm operating system. Refer to Appendix 3, Pocket PC Supplement, and Appendix 4, Palm Supplement, for more details on installing the software and entering your serial number for the program.

Navigating GPS2PDA



Figure 2.20 - PDA Programs

GPS2PDA has been designed for easy navigation on any PDA. The figures in this tutorial show GPS2PDA running on a Pocket-PC operating system and an iPAQ variety PDA. However, the software will also run on the Palm Operating System and the screens will be much the same.

Once you've installed your GPS2PDA software (refer to Appendix 3 & 4 for details), you'll notice a couple of new icons on your *Applications Screen*. The first one you'll see is a program called **Booster**. The **Booster** program is the middle man that allows Ridge Engineering software to run on your PDA. Should you delete **Booster**, GPS2PDA will no longer run. The icon for GPS2PDA has also been added to your list of applications, as would be expected.

Tap on the GPS2PDA icon to run your new software.

Figure 2.21 is the first screen that you will see. Its main purpose is to look pretty and entertain you while the pro-

gram is loading. If you're an experienced PDA user, you know that load times can be somewhat lengthy. This screen also has four buttons.

Click the **Serial #** button to go to the *Enter New Serial Number* screen. You normally only need to do this if you get a new serial number from Ridge Engineering.

Click the **Prefs** button to navigate to the **Preferences Screen** should any of the program defaults need to be changed.

Click the Exit button to end the program.

Click the **Start** button to proceed to the data collection screen. **PC-Travel Reference Manual**



Figure 2.21 - Splash Screen

Preferences

Once you've clicked the **Prefs** button on the Splash Screen, you will arrive at the **Preferences Screen** shown in Figure 2.22. At this point, you'll be able to adjust some of the major parameters of GPS2PDA. You should notice that you have a **?** button in the upper right hand corner of the screen. This button will take you to the **Help**



Figure 2.22 - Preferences

Screen should you need any more tips on navigating the *Preferences Screen*.

The uppermost box, labeled **GPS Receiver**, allows you to pick out you particular GPS unit from the list of those that GPS2PDA supports. Click the downward pointing arrow to open up the box and show all of the options in the list. Don't worry if you don't see your receiver on the list. It is very likely that its output structure is identical to one of the units already on the list. Contact Ridge Engineering and we'll find out what is needed to support your GPS receiver. You can also check the support web site at **www.pc-travel.com** to find more information about GPS receivers we have tested.

The **Data Screen Format** option allows you to choose between data collection screens. The **Small Buttons** settings shows more GPS information on the screen, but all of the elements are a little smaller than the *Large Button* setting, which doesn't show all of the GPS info but makes the buttons larger and easier to tap. Try each one and decide which one you prefer.

NOTE: The *Preferences Screen* on the Pocket PC will have one additional setting labeled **Comm Port**. If you are connecting to your GPS unit through the cradle port of your PPC, then **Comm Port** should be set to 1. If you are using another connection method, such as a Compact Flash card or Bluetooth , then **CommPort** should be set to whatever value is appropriate for your device.

You also can select to **Input Run Direction** before each run. This will be explained in more detail a little later in this tutorial.

If you tap the **Adv. Settings** button you will see the screen shown in Figure 2.23. The top button labeled **Check GPS Data** is used to see if the communications with the GPS receiver is working properly and also to see which



Figure 2.23 - Advanced Prefs

sentences are output by your GPS receiver. This can be helpful if you have an older, slower PDA since the number of sentences affects the ability of the software to process the data. Normally you can ignore this test.

The **Enable Metric Units** tells the software to store and show speeds in Kilometers per Hour (KPH).

The **Baud Rate** setting is used to match the setting on your GPS receiver. Most receivers use 4800 baud, but some newer ones have faster baud rates. If you are having trouble connecting to a receiver, this might be the problem.

The **Timer Delay** option is used by the software to synchronize the data coming from the GPS receiver to the code running in the PDA. Don't adjust this setting unless we tell you to do so.

Once both Preferences screens are set properly you can tap **Ok** to return to the Splash screen. Tap the **Start** button to proceed to the data collection screen.

Data File options

2.16

GPS2PDA stores the travel time data in one database file in the PDA. The data in this file is not deleted or erased when you transfer the data to your computer for processing. Typically, when you start a new study, the database



Figure 2.24 - Data Options

file has the data from the last study still in it. This screen gives you the option to delete the data in the file before you start the new study, or to leave the data and add the new data to the end of the existing data.

There are two common scenarios that make the use of this screen more understandable.

First is the case where you do a travel time study and then bring the PDA back to the office and process the data in PC-Travel. The data in the PDA is no longer needed. The next time you do a study, you select **Delete** to remove the data from the database file before you start the new study.

The second scenario is where you do a travel time study in the morning and collect data during the AM peak. You go back to the office, but don't process the data. You then return to the site at noon and possibly at the PM peak to

collect more travel time data. Since you haven't processed the data in the PDA yet, you don't want to delete it. Instead you select Append. The software checks the existing data, determines the run number of the last run you did, and then starts the data at the next run number. If you did 10 runs in the morning and 10 more in the afternoon then when you processed the data you would see 20 runs, numbered 1 to 20.

In the screen shown in Figure 2.24, there is currently 1 run in memory. The next run stored would be stored as run number 2.

If you choose to delete the data, the data is permanently removed from the database, so be careful before you tap that button. When you tap either of these buttons, the software brings you to the *Main Screen*.

Main Screen

This screen is where all of the good stuff happens. Your PDA will begin communication with your GPS unit and all of your data will be taken while looking at this screen. The title bar atop the screen includes the version number of your GPS2PDA software in the middle and the help button in the right corner. Just below the title bar is



Figure 2.25 - Main Screen

the status label. In the illustration, the status label reads "Synched..." which means the software is connected to your GPS unit. Otherwise, the status label will give you any error messages that may be associated with any communication errors. Information taken from your GPS unit will be placed into the **Time**, **Speed**, **Latitude**, etc. labels as it is received.

The Time, Speed, Latitude, and Longitude labels are fairly self-explanatory.

HDOP stands for Horizontal Dilution of Precision and it is a number that describes how well your GPS unit is currently able to calculate your position. The lower the value the better. An HDOP value of 5 or higher would be high enough to make any travel time data suspect.

Fix is an integer value that applies to the method that is being used by your GPS unit to find your position. If it equals zero, then the receiver is not getting sufficient information to accurately determine the position. If it equals one,

then the receiver is getting information only from the satellites. If it equals two, then the receiver is getting data from the satellites and a source of *differential correction*, which gives more accurate position information but doesn't improve the speed measurement significantly. For GPS2PDA, the Fix should equal 1 or 2.

2.17

The **Start Run 1** button will begin GPS2PDA's data collection, however the button is disabled if there is not a GPS unit already connected.

The **Exit** button exits GPS2PDA and returns your PDA to its normal functioning.

Collecting Data with GPS2PDA

Now that you've seen the screens that make up GPS2PDA, and you know how the controls are laid out, it's time to start collecting data out in the field. Plug your GPS receiver into the cigarette lighter (or just turn it on if it uses batteries) and connect it to your PDA. Run GPS2PDA and navigate to the **Main Screen**.

Prepare for Start of Run

If everything is connected properly, your screen will look like the one shown in Figure 2.25. It is often a good idea to do a quick visual check to make sure you're getting good GPS data. Make sure that the **Time** is increasing by one second intervals and check to see if the **Speed** value is close to what you read on your car's speedometer. At this point you can proceed to the starting point of your travel time run. When you reach your desired starting point, tap the **Start Run** button.



If you enabled the Select Input Direction option in the Preferences screen, then you will see a screen similar to Figure 2.26. You can select the direction for the run by tapping the appropriate button. GPS2PDA then goes to the data collection screen.

Figure 2.26 - Select Direction

•		×
GF GF	S2PDA 2.0.0	?
Sync'd	4	37, 437
Time:	10:5	0:29
Speed:	0	mph
Latitude: Longitude:	28 02.6 82 22.5	518' N 528' W
HDOP, Fix:	1.2	1
Stop run #1-SB		lode O

Figure 2.27 - Collecting Data

Recording Data During a Run

Once you click the **Start Run** button, GPS2PDA begins to record your travel time data. The background changes to green and the status line shows *Storing GPS Data*. At this point, the **Node** button is visible. Tap this button to record a node during you run. You may record as many nodes as you like or none at all. The number on the right side of the **Node** button tells you how many nodes have been recorded. At the end of your run, tap the **Stop Run 1** button *(it formerly read Start Run 1)* to halt data collection. The background will turn red and you will be able to begin another run *(the button will read Start Run 2)* or end your study by tapping the **Exit** button.



Should you need any extra information while running GPS2PDA, just click the button with the question mark caption in the upper right hand corner of the screen. This will open up a help screen that provides extra information about what you're currently doing in GPS2PDA.

Tap **Ok** to close the Help screen.

Figure 2.28 - Help Screen

Transferring Data from GPS2PDA to Your Computer

After you've collected all of the necessary travel time data on your PDA, the next step is to upload the data from your PDA onto your computer.

Pocket PC

PC-Travel has code to automatically copy the database file in the PDA to the proper folder on your computer. This code uses the ActiveSync software that came with your PDA. If for some reason that doesn't work, then you can always manually copy the files from your PDA to the computer using the Explore option in ActiveSync. To do this, run Active Sync, and select Explore from the options. Find the GPSData.pdb file on your PDA and copy it to the Field Data folder under PC-Travel. This is usually located at C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Field Data\. PC-Travel will take care of the rest.

Palm

Palm PDAs use a special bit of software called a conduit to copy the data from your PDA to your computer. You have to setup the conduit once when you first install PC-Travel and then you don't have to worry about it again. Upon each HotSync, GPS2PDA's custom conduit transfers all of your travel time data in your PDA to the appropriate database on your computer. All that's left for you to do is run PC-Travel and create travel time studies with your new data. Installing the conduit is explained in detail in the Palm Supplement in the Appendix.

PC-Travel Reference Manual

Processing GPS2PDA Data with PC-Travel

After you've collected all of the necessary travel time data, it's time to use PC-Travel for data analysis and report generation. There is a sample data file installed with the PC-Travel software. This tutorial will use that file to show you the basic procedure; then you can duplicate the process with any data you collect.

Run your PC-Travel software. One way to do this is to click on the **Start** button, select **Programs**, then the **PC-Travel** folder, and click on **PC-Travel** to start the software.

Open Most	Name 56th SHNE	н-Рм	
Time Study			
Open an Existing Travel Time Study	Start a New Travel Time Study	Edit Runs	Define/Edit Program Preferences
	Read TDC	Process TDC Data	Process Runs i Temp Folder
	Process GPS2LT Data	Process GPS2PDA Data	
	Process	Process	

Figure 2.29 - Startup Options

At the *Startup Options* screen, click the **Process GPS2PDA Data** button. The program takes you to a screen which asks if you want to have the software automatically copy the database data from your Pocket-PC PDA. You can answer yes, and the software will automatically copy the data, or you can say no and the software will go to the

1	If you wish to F GPS2PDA datal selected field da your Pocket-PC & click Yes. Oth	nave PC-Travel co pase files into yo ata folder, place device in its crav nerwise, click No.	opy ur dle now
	Voc	No	1

file selection screen shown in Figure 2.32 on the next page.

Note: This option only applies to Pocket-PC type PDAs. If you have a Palm PDA, then always click on No.



Figure 2.31 - Select GPS Database

The left side of the screen shows the familiar folder tree. The folder highlighted is the folder selected in the *Field Data* folder setting in the *Preferences* screen, which typically is called *Field Data Files*. The software looks in the highlighted folder for files produced by GPS2PDA. The grid on the right side of the screen shows some information about each GPS2PDA data file so that it is easier for you to locate the one you want. The example shown above only has one data file called *GPS2PDA*, which is already highlighted. Click the *Select* button.

· .	56thSt												Study Diate	1
	Run	Dir	Node	Date	Time	Speed	Heading	Latituda	Longitude	HDOP	Quality	SatUsed		
1	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:43	0.0	181.0	28.018503	-82.393053	2.00	1	6		
2	6 31	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:44	0.0	181.0	28.018503	-82.393053	2.00	1	6		
3	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:45	0.0	181.0	28.018500	-82.393053	2.00	1	6		
4	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:46	4.7	180.0	28.018482	-82.393053	2.00	1	Б		
5		NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:47	7.7	180.0	28.018450	-82.393055	2.00	1	6		
6		NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:48	8.6	182.0	28.018415	-82.393058	200	1	Б		
1		NB	0	09/19/2007	05.21:49	8.1	190.0	28.018363	-82.393070	200		ь		
8		NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:50	7.8	213.0	28.010357	-02,393093	2.00	- 21	0		
.9	1.2	NE		09/19/2007	05:21:51	1.0	237.0	28.010340	-02.393122	2.00	1	0		
10		NIR		09/19/2007	05.21.52		202.0	28.0103.30	-82.333150	2.00	1			
10		NIG	- S	00/10/2007	05.21.03		246.0	28.010342	02.303107	2.00		2		
12		NE	0	09/19/2007	85-91-55	25	295.0	28 018352	-82 393213	3.40	1	5		
14	1	NE	0	09/19/2007	05-21-56	74	313.0	28018373	-82 393240	200	1	5		
15		NB	ů.	09/19/2007	05-21-57	13.6	335.0	28.018425	-82 393267	2.00	i.	6		
15	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:21:58	18.3	354.0	28.019500	-82,393277	2.00	1	6		
12	1	NE	0	08/19/2007	05:21:59	20.3	0.0	28/018582	-82.393277	2.00	1	6		
18	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:00	23.6	1.0	28.018678	-82,393277	2.00	i.	5		
15	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:01	25.8	1.0	28.018783	-82.393275	2.00	1	6		
20	1	NE	0	09/19/2007	05:22:02	26.5	1.0	28.018892	-82.393273	2.00	1	Б		
21	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:03	25.9	1.0	28.018997	-82.393272	Z.00.	1	Б		
22	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:04	25.4	1.0	28.019100	-82,393272	2.00	1	6		
23	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:05	25.0	1.0	28.019202	-82.393270	2.00	1	6		
24	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:06	24,1	1.0	28.019298	-82.393258	2.00.	1	Б		
25	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:07	23.3	1.0	28.019392	-82.393268	2.00	1	б		
26	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:08	21.9	1.0	28.019480	-82.393267	2.00	1.	6		
27	1 (T	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:09	20.3	1.0	28.019562	-82.393255	2.00	1	Б		
28	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:10	18.8	1.0	28.019637	-82.393263	Z.00	1	Б		
29	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:11	16.6	1.0	28.019705	-82.393262	2.00	1	6		
30	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:12	14.7	1.0	28.019763	-82.393262	2.00	1	B		
31		NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:13	12.8	1.0	28.019815	-82.393260	2.00	- U	6		
32	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:14	10.8	1.0	28.019860	-82.393260	2.00	1	6		
33	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:15	8.9	1.0	28.019895	-82.393260	2.00	1	6		
34	1	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:16	6.6	2.0	28.019922	-82.393250	2.00	1	Б		
35		NB	0	08/19/2007	05.22.17	41.3	3.0	28.019940	-82.393280	2.00	1	0		
36	- 2	NB	0	09/19/2007	05:22:18	1.9	4.0	28.019947	-62.393258	2.00		6		
3/		NH	0	09/19/2007	BE-33-35	0.0	4.0	28.019950	-82.393258	200	1	D		
30		ND	0	00/13/2007	05.22.20	4.4	2.0	28.010000	62.333256	2.00		0		
33		NB	0	09/19/2007	05-22-20	87	1.0	28.020010	-02.393250	200	1			
40	4	NE	0	09/19/2007	85-22-22	13.2	0.0	28 020067	-82 393250	2.00	1	5		
121		nut		and along the	-Jes.ed	12.2	0.0	LO LACOURS	06.333250		19			1
												Fin	ng apeed Option of Next Mission 1	ns Se
- 4													a reason and a string i	
port													Colculate Spec	ad

Figure 2.32 - GPS Data Screen

At this point, you see a window entitled *GPS Data*. The purpose of this screen is to check your data for missing speeds. If you lost your GPS fix at any point during your travel time study (*which is not uncommon*), there will be missing data points. The grid on this screen shows all of the GPS data for the study that you've selected (*this includes every run in that study*). If the **OK** button is red then the software has found missing data points and you should go through your data and fix the missing speeds.

Fixing Missing Speeds

	Pun	Dr	Node	Date	Time	Speed	Heading	Lattude	Langitude	HDOP	Quality	Set Used	
4329	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.02	42.7	179.0	28.021983	-82.393497	0.90	1	9	
4330	10	SB	n	10/17/2007	10:04:03	42.5	-1.0	28.021554	-82.393490	-1.00	-1	:-1	
4331	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.04	42.5	180.0	28.821468	-82.393492	0.90	1	10	
4332	10	SB	D	10/17/2007	10.04.04	-1.0	-1	-1.00000D	-1.000000	-1.00	-1	-1	
4333	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.05	42.6	188.0	28.821297	-82.393482	0.90	1	10	
4334	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.05	42.7	180.0	28.021123	-82.393493	0.90		10	
4335	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.07	42.9	180.0	28,020950	-82,393493	0.90		10	
4336	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.08	43.0	180.0	28.020777	-82.393495	0.90	12	10	
4337	10	SB	U	10/17/2007	10.04.05	43.1	188.0	SBIGIELE	-82.393497	0.90	8	10	
4338	10	38	0	10/17/2007	10.04.10	43.1	180.0	28.020428	-82.39.3498	0.90	- 13	10	
4339	10	20	0	10/17/2007	10.04.11	43.2	101.0	28.020253	-02.393602	0.90		10	
4340	10	38	0	10/17/2007	IN NETZ	40.4	100.0	28.020078	10222300	0.90		10	
4341	10	OB PP	0	10/17/2007	10.0413	43.4	100.0	20.019903	-02.393503	0.90	1	10	
4342	10	OD		10/17/2007	10.04.15	43.8	180.0	28.019728	-02.393500 00.0000EDE	0.90		10	
4343	10	OD	0	10/17/2007	10.0415	43.7	101.0	20.010052	-02.393000	0.90	- 22	10	
4344	10	OD		10/17/2007	10.04.10	49.0	101.0	20.010370	02.333500	0.00		10	
4345	10	00	0	10/17/2007	10.04.10	41 5	101.0	20.01 92.00	-02.383010	0.00		10	
4347	10	CD		10/17/2007	10.04.10	30.5	179.0	20.01.0000	49 303603	0.90		10	
4540	10	OD OD		10/17/2007	10.04.10	37.1	170.0	20.010000	-02.090000	10.00	100	10	
4240	10	SB	ñ	10/17/2007	10.04.21	34.2	178.0	28.018592	.82 393400	0.90	12	10	
4350	10	CE	0	10/17/2007	10.04.22	71.7	178.0	28 01 8477	42 393407	0.00	12	10	
4351	10	SB	ñ	10/17/2007	18-84-23	28.3	129.0	28.018357	-82 393487	0.90		8	
4952	10	SB		10/17/2007	10.04.74	24.0	179.0	28 01 82 52	-82 393485	0.90	1	10	
4353	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04/25	19.2	179.0	28.818183	-82 393485	0.90	6	10	
4354	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.25	13.7	172.0	28.018130	-82 393472	0.90	1	10	
4765	10	SB	- R	10/17/2007	18:84:27	10.8	144.0	28.01.0095	-82 393440	0.90	- G	10	
4356	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.28	10.1	107.D	28.019085	-82 393397	0.90	1	10	
4357	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	18.84.29	11.2	66.0	28 01 81 03	-82 393350	1.00	4	9	
4358	10	BB	D	10/17/2007	10.04.38	13.7	30.0	28.018153	-82.393318	1.00	1	9	
4359	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10:04:31	14.1	13.0	28.018208	-82,393305	0.90	1	10	
4360	10	SB	B	10/17/2007	10.04.32	13.3	8.0	28.018262	-82.393297	0.90	1	10	
4361	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10:04:33	11.6	12.0	28.018307	-82.393280	0.90	1	10	
4362	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.34	10.1	51.0	28.018330	-82.393241	0.90	1	9	
4363	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.35	10.1	0.08	28.018337	-82.3931.98	0.90	1	10	
4364	10	SB	D	10/17/2007	10:04:36	10.1	72.0	28.018350	-82.393155	0.90	0.1	10	
4365	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.37	9.9	50.0	28.018375	-82.393122	0.90	1	10	
4366	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10.04.38	9.7	26.0	28,018412	-82.3931.03	1.00	1	5	
4367	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10:04:39	9.4	8.0	28.018448	-82.3930.98	1.00	1	В	
4368	10	SB	D	10/17/2007	10.04.40	8.8	3.0	28.018483	-82.393097	1.00	11	9	
4369	10	SB	0	10/17/2007	10:04:41	2.7	1.0	28.018515	-82.3930.97	0.90	- 21	10	
												Missi	ng Speed Optic d Next Missing

Click the **Find Next Missing Speed** button to find the first place where you data needs to be fixed.

Figure 2.33 - Fix GPS Data Screen

The grid will jump to the line with first missing speed. To have the software calculate a reasonable speed for the missing data point, click **Fix Missing Speed** and the software will fill in a speed value based on the recorded speeds before and after the missing point *(it will linearly interpolate between the two, if you like fancy words)*. If you don't like the speed calculated by the software you can edit the speed manually. Click on the speed data point and type in the speed.

You may have sections where several seconds of data are missing. The process just described does not need to be repeated for every point. As soon as you click **Fix Missing Speed**, the program will fill in speeds for the entire group of missing data points. When the **OK** button turns green, there are no more missing speeds.

You should not try to fix a large amount of data. The software can only do so much. If there are large blocks of missing data then any attempt to estimate the missing speeds is likely to give bad results. In all likelihood the people collecting the data will have noticed the data was not collected properly during one or more runs. You may need to ignore these runs because the data isn't complete. In this case you should let the software fill in the missing speeds so that the runs will be created, but simply ignore those runs when you create your studies.

In this case there is just one missing point, so the software fixes this one point and the **Ok** button is turned to Green signifying that all of the data has been checked and it is ok.



2.22

If the **OK** button is green, you can click it to continue. The software takes the data in the grid and creates individual run files, names the runs, and copies them to the *Temp* folder. You will see a screen similar to that shown here in Figure 2.35. Notice that the names of the run files have direction information (NB, SB) in them. This i

) Run NomeTemp	late			Quick Directions	
Base Name	Dir Run NB 001	4		Enter Base Name in Template Select runs then click Rename Soloct Study Group or Enter new	
) List of Runs in U	ploaded Data			3) List of Study Groups	
Nome	Date	Time	Туре	Study Groups	
56thSt-NB-R001	09/19/07	05:21	Primory	Sample Files	
56thSt-NB-R003	09/19/07	05:39	Primory		
564hSHNB-R005	09/19/07	05:55	Primary		
56%SENB-R007	09/19/07	06.09	Primary		
56thSt-NB-R009	10/17/07	09:49	Secondary		
56thSHNB-R011	10/17/07	10:05	Secondary		
56thSt-NB-R013	10/17/07	10:20	Secondary		
56thSt-NB-R015	10/17/07	10:35	Secondary		
56thSt-SB-R002	09/19/07	05:30	Primary		14
56thSt-SB-R004	09/19/07	05:45	Primary		Mov
56thSt-SB-R006	09/19/07	06:01	Primory		Rur
56thSt-SB-R008	09/19/07	06.18	Primary		
56thSt-SB-R010	10/17/07	09.56	Secondary		
56thSt-SB-R012	10/17/07	10.13	Secondary		
56thSt-SB-R014	10/17/07	10:26	Secondary		
56thSt-SB-R016	10/17/07	10:43	Secondary		
				Current Study Group	
•			۱.		
Bename	- Alter		Delete	Details	

Figure 2.34 - Process Runs in Temp Folder

The next chapter details how to convert your Temp files to into data files, and how to produce reports and graphs from the data.

Summary

If you followed this tutorial then you should have a pretty good idea how to collect travel time data using a GPS receiver and/or a PDA, and how to process that data in PC-Travel. Now you can go out and try it yourself.

Collecting Data with a Jamar TDC



Figure 2.35 — TDC-8



Figure 2.36 — TDC Travel Time Template

This section details the procedures for collecting travel time data using a TDC.

Step 1 — Connect the TDC to the Test Vehicle

This tutorial assumes you have installed and tested a transmission sensor in the test car. Refer to the instructions that came with the sensor, or to Appendix 2, for installation information.

Connect the transmission sensor to the TDC using the Sensor Interface Cable. The five pin DIN connector goes to the transmission sensor cable. The other end plugs into the serial connector jack on the TDC. Make sure you tighten the lock-down screws on this connector to assure a good connection.

Also connect the pushbutton switch to the TDC. You don't have to use the pushbutton switch; you can use the BANK 2 button on the TDC. However, if you are doing a study by yourself, the pushbutton switch is much easier and safer to use.

Note: Plug the pushbutton switch into the jack labeled Bank 1 on the side of the TDC. This is actually connected to the Bank 2 switch in the counter. The labels for the two jacks are reversed on the side of the TDC.

The diagram to the left shows the Travel Time overlay that comes with the TDC. It has a set of brief directions printed on the middle of the overlay to help you remember how to do a Travel Time study. It also defines the buttons that you can use when you do a study.

Actually, you only need to use two buttons to do a typical study; the DO button to start and stop runs, and the BANK 2 button (via the pushbutton switch) to define node distances.

However, PC-Travel lets you use other buttons to define other events that you can monitor when you do a study. These other events can be sources of delay during a run, such as a signal, stop sign, congestion, etc. You can also assign your own (for example, a construction zone delay could be assigned to button 12). These delay buttons are grouped on the left side of the overlay and have a red background. You can also use the buttons to define *move-ments* made by the vehicle during a run, in case the route isn't along a single arterial. These movement options are shown in green on the overlay.

If you use the delay buttons, you can have the software show where the delays occurred on several of the plots supported in the program. If you want to use the delay buttons, you should have another person in the car collecting the data while you drive; it isn't safe to try to collect delay data while you drive.

والمحافظ والمتحاف والمحافظ والمحافظ والمحاف والمحاف

Step 2 — Calibrate the TDC

TRAVEL CALIBRATE EXIT Edit or Measure the Calibration Constant EDIT MEASURE EXIT	car (possibly with a Ridge Engineering Distance Measuring Instrument), you can skip this step, unless you have made a change in your vehicle which affects the calibration, such as getting new tires or changing their inflation pressure.	The calibration constant used should be between 0500 and 1200 . If not, you must adjust the ro- tary dial on the Modular Distance Sensor.
Measure a new Calibration Constant	The TDC will remember the last calibration several test vehicles you can enter the calib feature of the TDC's calibration routine. If y will help yourself by posting the calibration	n constant used. If you have oration constant using the edit you use multiple vehicles, you o constant in the vehicle.
Enter calibration distance (ft): 2000 BANK1-TAB = cancel DO = done	Calibration requires a little advanced prepa area where a straight and flat section of sp used. Have a section of the road surveyed s	aration. Find a location in your arsely traveled road can be so that the distance between
Drive to beginning of calibration run	two fixed landmarks is accurately measure tween 1000-3000 feet, though lengths up t	d. The distance should be be- to 9999 feet can be used.
Press DO to start	Invoke the TDC's calibration procedure by then tabbing to the CALIBRATE option and MEASURE and then press the DO button. N	selecting a new TT count and pressing the DO button. Select Jext, enter the calibration
Counting pulses: 0473	distance, which is the distance resulting fro "10" button on the TDC gives you a zero.	om your survey. Remember, the
calibration distance	Drive to the first marker and stop (that's w desirable) so that the test car is immediate	why a sparsely traveled road is Iy adjacent to the marker. You
Calibration Constant 0882 Press DO to return	should always come to a complete stop for ing the calibration run. This stop will ensur- from the reaction time of pressing the butt	several seconds before start- e that no distance error results ton.
to Travel Time menu	Once in position, press the DO button again second marker at the end of the calibration	n, then start driving to the n course. The TDC will show
you now many pulses are being receiv	ved from the transmission sensor as you trav	erse the calibration distance.

traverse the calibration distance. (If your TDC does not show pulses being recorded during the calibration procedure, refer to Appendix 2 for troubleshooting.) Once you reach the marker at the end of the calibration course, again come to a complete stop immediately adjacent to the marker. Press the DO button again, and the calibration constant will be displayed. The constant is the same value used in PC-Travel, and you should write it down on your field notes.

IMPORTANT: The calibration constant used should be between **0500 and 1200**. If your calibration constant is outside this range, you will need to adjust the rotary dial on the Modular Distance Sensor, then re-calibrate. Refer to the documentation that came with the sensor, or Appendix 2, for information on how to do this. If you use a calibration constant outside the 0500 to 1200 range you may not receive accurate data.

That's all there is to calibration. The TDC will store the constant until you change it.

2.24

Step 3 — Prepare the TDC

TRAVEL	CALIBRATE	
		EXIT
Start a nev	w Travel	
Time Stud	у	

Site Code: 12345678 Enter up to 8 digits Press DO to accept BANK1-TAB to cancel

Travel Time Stu	ıdy
Count:001	Run:001
Press DO to Sta	art
07:12:43	Speed = 27

Travel Time Stu	udy
Run:001	Link:01
Dist = 0843	Speed = 27
07:12:43	L Key = 12

Go through the preparation of the TDC for a travel time (TT) study: From the Main Menu, select COUNT, then NEW, then TT. That will bring you to the point shown in the first screen shown here.

Select TRAVEL and press DO. Enter a numeric site code (there isn't much reason to go through the hassle of entering an alpha-numeric site code; pick a numeric one and write it in your field notes in case you need it later), and press DO (the second screen) and proceed until the TDC says to press DO to start the study (the third screen).

The screen now shows the Count number, Run number, time, and speed if the car is moving.

Note: Step 3 can be done in the office or, more commonly, in a parking lot near the start of the route.

Step 4 — Start a Run

Drive to the starting point so that when you pass the starting point you are traveling at the proper speed with the rest of the traffic. Press the DO button as accurately as you can as you pass the starting point; this begins data collection.

The display shows the run number, link number (how many times you have pressed the New Link button this run), time, distance traveled so far this run, speed, as well as the last delay button pushed (the L Key = value). As you proceed along the route, press the New Link button as you pass each new section.

Note: Check the speed reading on the TDC and make sure it is close to the speed on the speedometer. If they are not reasonably close (within a few MPHs), it may indicate a problem with the sensor or an incorrect Calibration Constant. Don't collect data if the speed isn't right; the data almost certainly won't be correct.

Note: If you have chosen intersections as your nodes, wait until you exit the intersection to press the New Link button. This will ensure that any delay associated with stops at the intersection will be reported in the correct section.

If you forget to press the New Link button at a location, continue the run to its stopping point as normal. You can add a node to the run later when you process the data. Make a note on the field sheet at the end of the run about the missing data.

If you hit the New Link button or a delay button by mistake, continue the run. You can edit the run data in the office if needed. Make a note on the field sheet at the end of the run about the extra data.

If you have an additional person in the car to push buttons, they may press the delay buttons as appropriate during the run. You can use the Travel Time overlay that came with the TDC to describe the delays you encounter during the run, or you can assign your own definitions to the buttons; the software lets you define the delay buttons any way you want.



Step 5 — Stop the Run

Press the DO button on the TDC when you have reached the end of the route. If the end is the last intersection, remember to press the button as you *depart* the intersection. This ends the run and the TDC stops collecting data until you press the DO button again, signifying the start of a new run.

You may turn around and collect data in the other direction. In this case you press the DO key when you go by the first intersection (*the END node of the previous run*), press the New Link button as you go through each of the nodes, and press the DO button to end the run when you get to the last node (*the START node of the previous run*).

It is important to understand that the various runs in the two different directions are not going to be combined in any way in the software. Travel times and other statistics have no meaning unless they represent travel along the same route, *in the same direction*. However, it is usually useful to collect data in both directions, and if you use the same nodes for both directions, you will not have to enter the names of the nodes twice later in the office. The software lets you enter the node names once, and then copy and reverse the order for the runs in the other direction. For this reason, we always suggest that you collect data in both directions, and use the same nodes for both directions.

Note: Remember that you press the DO button to start and stop a run. You press the New Link button for nodes in between.

Step 6 — Make More Runs

Repeat Steps 4 & 5 until you have completed the session, then just turn the TDC off. There is considerable debate on how many runs you should do to have statistically significant data, but the general consensus is that at least 3-5 runs in each direction are necessary, with the more runs the better.

Step 7 - Download and Store Data

Once you have collected enough data, you can return to the office to process it. To download a TDC you will need to have a Jamar universal cable and an open serial (COM) port on your computer.

Note that only a Jamar Universal Cable (or cable with matching pin configuration) should be used for downloading data. The TDC and universal cable use just three pins (2, 3 & 5) for the data transfer. However, some of the other pins on the TDC's serial port are left open for other functions. The universal cable blocks these other pins so no extraneous voltage can be sent from the computer to the TDC. If you use a generic serial cable (which has all nine pins connected) it is possible that the computer could send out incompatible voltage to the TDC that could damage it or cause your data to be lost or corrupted.

Turn the TDC on. (If you are still in data collection mode, turn the unit off, then back on. Turning the unit off ends the study and stores it in memory. You cannot download data while you are in data collection mode.) Connect the universal cable to a serial port on your computer. The ports are often labeled on the computer. If you are not sure what port you are plugging into, consult your computer manual.

All Jamar equipment currently downloads to a computer's serial (COM) port. If your computer does not have a serial port, or if you have a conflict on a serial port, an alternative is to use a USB to Serial Adapter. These devices allow you to download data using a USB port as if it were a COM port. A wide variety of these devices are available, usually for less than \$30. A link to one of these devices can be found on our web site at **www.jamartech.com/hardwaresupport.htm**.

aud Rate	Comm Port	Pagin
C 19200	Com 1	begin
9600	C Com 2	
C 4800	C Com 3	0
C 2400	C Com 4	
		Help

Figure 2.5 - Read Jamar TDC Board

Once the cable is plugged into the computer, plug the other end into the port on the TDC then click on the **Read TDC** button in the Startup Options and the **Read Jamar Board** window will appear. You can also access this window by going to the File menu and selecting Read TDC Counter.

The baud rate setting determines how fast the data will be transferred into the program and it must match the baud rate set on the TDC. Click the Setup button and set the baud rate to 9600. Once this is set, select the com port into which you have connected the universal cable.

After making these adjustments, click on the Begin button and you will see a message prompting you to begin downloading the TDC. To do this, press the Tab key on the TDC until Dump is flashing, then press the DO key. Local should then be flashing. Check the bottom two lines of the display to check the settings. If it matches the 9600 we set in the software, hit DO. If it does not match, tab to Baud and set it accordingly, then go back to Local and hit DO. You should then see Begin flashing. Press DO and the download will begin.

When the download is occurring you should see a status bar moving across the bottom of the Read Jamar Counter screen. Once the download is complete, the Process Runs in Temp Folder window should appear. Refer to Chapter 3 for information on how to process your data from this point.

Chapter 3

Tutorials: Working with PC-Travel

Tutorial 1 - How to Process Field Data Into Runs

This tutorial is about how you get field data into edited runs.

As you saw in the last chapter, there are several ways to collect data in the field with PC-Travel. The most common method now is to use GPS receivers with laptops or PDAs. The great advantage of GPS is it allows you to view and edit the data on street maps. You will see later in this chapter how useful this is.

However, there are other ways to collect the field data, such as using a Jamar TDC board or using an OBD-II Interface with a laptop or PDA. You can't map this data, but you still can do travel time studies.

Whatever method you use, the end result is to have raw run files stored in the Temp folder of your computer that we can process into run files that can be used in studies.

Since you may not have any field data ready to go at this point, we'll fake it a bit by processing data that was previously collected with a TDC unit.

Select Process TDC Data from the Startup Options. The *Select TDC Data* screen is displayed, as shown in figure T1.1 below.



Figure T1.1 — Select TDC Data

This screen shows any files with a .tdc extension, which has the data downloaded from a TDC count board. The install routine created a folder called *Field Data Files* and copied a file called Test1.tdc to that folder.

The left side of the screen shows the familiar tree layout of your computer, with the *Field Data Files* folder selected. The upper right window shows that there is only one file in it now, called *Test1*. The file was created on 4/13/90 and has 3 studies in it.

The *File Details* window shows more info about the three studies, such as the Site Code, Date and Time, and the number of Runs in each study. The file details help you pick the correct File Name to process. Since there is only one file, that decision is easy. Click **Select** to select the Test1 file.

The next screen you see is the same screen you would have seen if you had read a TDC unit with this data in it. This is also the screen you will encounter when you are processing your field data collected using the GPS Travel Time software.

Process Runs	in Tem	np Fol	der		
1) Run NameTemplat	9		17	Quick Directions	
Base Name	Dir Run NB 001	<i>"</i>		Enter Base Name in Template Select runs then click Rename Select Study Group or Enter new	
2) List of Runs in Uplo	aded Data			3) List of Study Groups	
Name	Date	Time	Туре	Study Groups	
S001R001-00000022-1	04/13/90	11:59	Primory	Sample Elles	
S002R001-00000102-1	04/13/90	12:23	Primary		
S002R002-00000102-1	04/13/90	12:28	Primary		
S002R003-00000102-1	04/13/90	12:34	Primary		
S002R004-00000102-1	04/13/90	12:43	Primary		
S003R001-00000022-1	04/13/90	12:51	Primary		
S003R002-00000022-1	04/13/90	13:11	Primery		
				Current Study Group	(4) Move Runs
AL 1					
			<u> </u>		
Rename			Delete	Details	
			Ok	Cancel	Help

Figure T1.2 — Process Runs in Temp Folder

At this point, the field data you collected has no real resemblance to the run file format the software needs. This screen attempts to solve the following problem:

What is the simplest procedure for an experienced user to take field data and end up with proper PC-Travel runs that can be built into studies?

When you process field data, it is converted into individual run, which are stored in the *Temp* folder (as specified in the Preferences screen). Each run is given a unique name using the following naming logic: SxxxRyyy-CCCCCCCC-N, where xxx is the study number, yyy is the run number, CC... is the site code from the data, and N is a number that is used to break ties in case two runs have the same other specs.

The program then displays the screen shown in Figure T1.2 above. The large window on the left side of the screen shows the runs from the field data, named using the convention just described. The background color alternates to separate runs from different studies.

You can see in this example that the first study just has one run, the second has four, and the third has two. Let's pretend the field notes show that the first run was just for practice. The next four runs were good runs. Runs 1 & 3 were northbound, 2 & 4 southbound. The last two runs were done at a different location, first westbound, then eastbound.

This is the starting point. The ending point will be when all of the temporary runs have been renamed and moved into a new or old Study Group. This is a four step process. While it isn't necessary to do the operations strictly in the order shown, it is probably a good idea to do it that way for a while until you feel comfortable with the process.

1 — Enter Base Name in Template

The **Base Name** is just a name that helps you identify a run as belonging to a group of similarly named runs. From the field notes (continuing the example from the last page), we know the first five runs were done on Fowler Ave., so we'll name all of these runs with a Base Name of Fowler Ave. Enter Fowler Ave. in the **Base Name** text box. Leave the Dir set to NB (northbound) and the Run # to 001.

2 — Select Runs then Click Rename

Study 1, Run 1 was just for practice, according to our notes. Runs 1 and 3 of Study 2 are northbound runs. We want to select them. Click on S002R001... and S002R003... then click on **Rename**. The names change to match the new name convention.

3 — Select Study Group

We want to move these two runs into a Study Group, but there isn't a Study Group we want to use. We need to create a new Study Group for these runs (and later for any studies built from them). In the **Current Study Group** text box, type Fowler Ave NB then press **Enter**. This creates a new Study Group, which is shown in the **List of Study Groups**. Click on the new Study Group to select it (you can see it is selected because the folder is "open").

Process Runs	in Temp Fol	der		
1) Run NameTemplat Bose Nome FowlerAve	e Dir Pun # NB 001		Ouick Directions I. Enter Base Name in Template 2-Solect runs then click Roname 3-Select Study Group or Enter new 2-List of Study Comme	
Neme S001R001-00000022-1 Foxlar Ave-NE-001 S002R002-00000102-1 Foxlar Ave-NE-002 S002R002-00000102-1 S003R001-00000022-1 S003R002-00000022-1	Date Time 04/13/90 11:53 04/13/90 12:23 04/13/90 12:23 04/13/90 12:23 04/13/90 12:34 04/13/90 12:31 04/13/90 12:31 04/13/90 12:51 04/13/90 13:11	Type Primary Primary Primary Primary Primary Primary	Study Groups	(4) Movo Runs
. ◀ Unda		Delete	Current Study Group Fowler Ave NB	
		Ok	Cancel	Help

Figure T1.3 — Select Study Group

Your screen should now look like the one shown above. The runs with the new names are selected and the destination Study Group is shown in the *Current Study Group* text box.

```
3.4
```

4 — Click Move Runs

You are ready to move the runs to the new Study Group. Click the button on the far right labeled **(4) Move Runs**. The two runs disappear from the *List of Runs*, showing that they have been moved.

That takes care of the northbound runs. Now you have to do the same thing for the southbound runs. Since we already went through it once, I'll just outline the procedure.

- 1 Edit the **Dir** field in the **Run Name Template** to SB, for southbound.
- 2 Select the two runs from the list (S002R002... & S002R004).
- 3 Click **Rename**.
- 4 Create a new Study Group called Fowler Ave SB.
- 5 Select the new Study Group.
- 6 Click **Move Runs** to move the runs.

This will reduce the List of Runs to three.

You can repeat the procedure for the two runs in Study 3, if you want. Since our hypothetical notes say they were done at a different location, you should create a new Study Group for them. Just make up any name. Put both of the runs in the new Study Group.

This leaves the single run. Since our notes say this was a practice run, then it isn't needed. Click on **Delete** to delete the run. The *List of Runs* is now empty. This is where you want to end up, with all of the runs from the counter renamed and moved to study groups.

Click on the OK button to close the Process Run screen and return to the main screen.

Note: The procedure outlined up to this point may seem confusing at first glance. Once you get the hang of it though, you will be able to process run files very quickly.

At this point you have all of the runs from the counter renamed and moved to new study groups. The run data is not complete, however. You need to add the node names, assuming you collected node data during the runs, and you also can add notes to the run details to help you explain the data when you do analyze the data as part of a study.

There are two different procedures you can follow to finish editing the run data details:

1 – Create a new study, and then edit the run details for the runs in that study. This is the most common procedure, since most users immediately create studies and print out the analysis reports after reading the data from the counter. This process is described in *Tutorial 2 — How to Create a New Study* and then *Tutorial 3 — How to Edit Nodes in Individual Runs*.

2 – Edit all of the runs you just read before you create any studies. This is a good option if you plan to create the studies at a later date. You probably have the information you need to edit the runs at hand, since you brought the field sheets with you. You can edit the runs as needed, get them in really good shape, and then when you want to create the studies you won't have to worry about the runs at all. Some users prefer this method even if they plan to create the studies and print the analysis reports in the same session.

The next part of this tutorial shows you how to easily select a run to edit even if that run isn't part of a study yet.

How to Select a Run to Edit

3.6

Assume that you have read your field data and processed the runs as described in this tutorial. You now have several runs in one or more study groups. The runs are not complete yet; they still need some information added to them (*primarily the node names, but other stuff as well*).



From the Main Menu, click on the *Edit Run* icon in the toolbar, as shown in the figure here. This will bring up the *Select One Run* screen as shown below.

🗟 Select One Run			_ 🗆 X
	Name Fowler-NB-001	Date Time 04/13/90 12:23	Type 🔺 Pri
InstallShield Instal Internet Explorer Intuit Jamar PC-Travel for V PCT-DOS E Spreadsher Study Group Sample TDC Date	Fowler-NB-002	04/13/90 12:34	Pri
Section Names	Run StatsCourse Length Run Duration10187225225# of Sections Before/After4Before/AfterBefore	Notes	
Show Details?	Select Cancel		Help

Figure 3.5 — Select One Run

There are three primary parts to this screen. The upper left window shows the familiar tree diagram of your Study Groups with the current Study group highlighted. The upper right window shows the runs that are in the highlighted Study Group. The name, date, time, and type of run are shown for each run. The bottom window shows additional information about the run that is highlighted in the upper right window.

The highlighted Study Group probably isn't the correct Study Group; you probably want to navigate to one of the new Study Groups you created when you processed the runs in your counter. If you followed the tutorial then you should have a folder under the Samples folder called Fowler NB. Click on that folder and you should see the screen shown in Figure 3.5.

There are the two runs you created earlier. The first run, *Fowler - NB - 001* is highlighted. There are no Node Names or Notes, so those sections are blank in the lower window. This is the run you want to edit, so click on the **Select** button at the bottom of the screen.

This brings up the Run Details screen shown in Figure 3.6.

🖷 Run Details	
Name Fowler NB\Fowler-NB-001 Date 04/13/90 Fri Time 12:23 Run Type Before or After? Calibration Constant 2680 Node Names and Distances 1 0	Run Summary Course Length
2 3 4 551 9841 10187 ~	Run Duration Number of Nodes
Copy Reverse Delete Insert Trim Start Trim End	
Help	Cancel Edit Stats Plot

Figure 3.6 — Run Details Screen

Tutorial 3 explains in great length how you can edit the Node Names on this screen, so that information won't be repeated here. Once you are through editing the run, you click on the **Save** button. This will bring you back to the **Select One Run** screen shown in Figure 3.5, where you can select another run to edit.

You can systematically edit each of the runs in the Study Group, and then go to another Study Group (*Fowler SB in this case*) and edit each of the runs in that Study Group. When you are done you will have all of the runs completely edited and ready to be added to studies.

Tutorial 2 - How to Use Maps to Edit Runs

This tutorial shows you how to use the new mapping features in PC-Travel to edit run data that you have collected with GPS2LT or GPS2PDA.

Note: This tutorial uses sample files collected in the Tampa, FL area. You must have maps of that area in order to duplicate the steps shown. If you are using MapPoint as your GIS engine in PC-Travel then this is not a problem since MapPoint includes maps of all of North America, including Tampa, FL. If you are using the ArcGIS Shape File engine then this isn't quite as simple. The installation program installed a folder called Tutorial Maps under the PC-Travel folder on your computer. *You need to copy all of the files in the Tutorial Maps folder to the Maps folder, which also is under the PC-Travel folder*. Once you do this you will be able to duplicate the steps shown in this tutorial.

Data Collection Considerations:

One of the primary advantages of the mapping feature is that it simplifies the way you collect data in the field. Previously you had to mark the start and stop points for each run and also you would typically mark each node during each of the runs as well. You don't have to do this now since you can edit the runs on the map, which you will see in just a minute. Here is the typical scenario for collecting data:

- 1- Set up the GPS equipment and laptop or PDA in the car as usual.
- 2- Drive to a parking lot or side street near the start of the route you want to study.
- 3- Run GPS2LT or GPS2PDA and make sure the GPS receiver is working properly.
- 4- Select the Direction of Travel (NB or SB or whatever) and start the run.
- 5- Merge onto the main arterial and drive to the end of the route. Don't mark any nodes.

6- After passing the last intersection or node of interest pull into a convenient parking lot or side street and end the run.

7- Drive to the beginning of the next route (typically this means you do a U-Turn and get onto the other side of the arterial you are studying).

- 8- Repeat steps 4-6.
- 9- Continue until you have done as many runs as you need.

Note that you don't mark any nodes and you never have to take your hands off the wheel once you are driving the car. This is safer as well as more efficient.

If you are familiar with PC-Travel for Windows version 1.x, then you will immediately see how much simpler this process is than what you have done in the past. If you are new to PC-Travel version 2.x then the advantages won't be quite as obvious, but you will just have take our word for it...this is better!

Sample Files Used in the Tutorial

In the PC-Travel\Study Groups\Sample Files are runs that are used in this tutorial. There are the basic runs that were collected in the field using the procedure described above; they started and ended off the main arterial and there were no nodes collected. An example of a run file name is 56th St-NB-B-R001.

There also are run files that are edited versions of these basic runs. These edited runs have a -t at the end of them to signify that they have been trimmed (this will be explained in a minute). One of the runs has a -tn at the end to signify that it has been trimmed and nodes have been added to it. Make sure you select the proper runs that are specified in the tutorial as you follow along; it is easy to miss the -t or -tn if you aren't careful.

Ok, we are ready to start the tutorial.



Select Run To Edit

The first task is to select a run to load to a map so we can edit it.

Run PC-Travel and click on the Edit Runs button on the Startup Options screen. The *Edit Run* screen is displayed, as shown in figure T2.1 below.

PalmDRViewer			Nerne	Ver	Date	Time	Type
a Canada a		56th SH	NB-B-R001	2	09/19/07	17.21	Secondary
DC-Travel		56th SH	NB-B-R001th	5	09/19/07	17.21	Primery
C Field Onto Filer		56th SH	VB-B-R002	2	09/19/07	17:39	Secondary
Tien Data rites	N	56th SH	VB-B-RIDCEL	2	09/19/07	17:39	Secondary
inages (hs	56th SH	VB-8-P(003	2	09/19/07	17:55	Secondary
Mdps		56th SP	NB-B-FILUIT	2	09/19/07	17.55	Secondary
Spreadsneet mes		Seth SH	VB-B-BIN4t	2	09/19/07	1809	Secondas
E Study Groups		Control 1	10 0 Thore	1100	a strict of ar	10.00	Concombaby
Sample Files							
- Iemp							
- PdaNet for Treo 650							
🕑 🧰 PdaReach							
+ 🛅 pdbDesktop							
PentaWare							
🐵 🖾 Pixmantec							
🔹 🧰 Pocket Tunes							
+ 🗀 PowerQuest							
🐨 🙆 Quicken							
🕘 😐 QuickTime							
e 🗀 QuickTime							
e in QuickTime e in Real in Riven							
QuickTime Real Re							
Could Allme Could Allme Could Allme Real Could Allme Riven Could Allme Riven Secure CRT							
LouckTime LouckTime LouckTime Real Riven Riven Riven The Sequel To Myst Demo LouckTerror SecureCRT LouckTerror							
CulckTime CalckTime CalckTime Calcar Riven Calcar Riven Calcar Riven Calcar							
LouckTime LouckTime LouckTime LouckTime LouckTime Riven LouckTime Riven SecureCRT LouckTime Siber Systems							
	Notes						
	Notes						
CulckTime CalckTime CalckTime Riven Riven SecureCRT ConsecureCRT CONSECUREC	Notes						_
CulckTime CalckTime	Notes					_	_
CulckTime CalckTime	Notos		_			_	
e GuickTime Gui	Notos			_			
CulckTime Colorent Carl Constant Ca	Notos		_		_	_	_
Could KTime Call Control Contro Control Control Contr	Notes						
CulckTime CalckTime Real Real Real SecureCRT Garsys SecureCRT Garsys Socion Namos Start] Rus Stats Start] Start] Rus Stats Socion Namos Start] Start] Rus Stats Socion Namos Start	Notos	•		_	_	_	_

Figure T2.1 — Select Run To Edit

The tree on the left side of the screen should point to the Sample Files folder under the Study Groups folder. If it doesn't then find that folder in the tree and click on it to select it.

The runs in that folder are shown in the list on the right. We want to edit the 56th St-NB-B-R001 run, which probably is highlighted. Click on **Select**. This brings up the Run Details screen, shown here in Figure T2.2.

Rur	n Details			
Nome	56th St-NB-B-	R001	Notes	
Date	09/19/07	Wed Time 17:21	T	
Run Ty Before Calibre	pe or After? ation Constant	Secondary Before -		
			Run Summary	
			Course Length	14853
			Number of Nodes	526

Figure T2.2 — Run Details

Notice that this run is a Secondary run, which means it doesn't have any node information in it (yet). We will edit this run on the map and add nodes to it, which will make it a Primary run.

We want to edit this run on a map, so click on the **Map** button at the bottom of the screen.

Note: If you are using MapPoint for your GIS engine then there isn't a Map button visible on this screen. You need to Start a new study, Add the 56th St-NB-B-R001 run listed here (select the Sample Files folder if it isn't already selected), then click on the Map button on the Study Summary screen. This will bring you to the same point in this tutorial.



Figure T2.3 Initial Map Screen

This is the map screen. It has several parts.

List of Runs

At the top is the list of runs in the current study. In this case there is no study yet so it just shows the run that was selected. Along with the **Run Name** you can see some basic information about that run. You can select which runs you want to map by checking the **Show** checkbox on the left side of the row.

Map Options

On the top right of the screen are the Map Options as shown in Figure T2.3.



Fig T2.4 Map Options

Plot Points

The first option is a drop down box to select how many points in each run to plot. You can select between **Plot All Points** (the default) to **Plot Every 10th Point**. This is useful if you just want a rough idea of how the data looks and don't need to see every data point in the run. Normally you will choose **Plot All Points** when you want to edit any of the data in a run.

Offset Icons Factor

If you plot several runs at once then the data points tend to overlap each other and it is hard to separate the runs. The **Offset Icons Factor** lets you pick a value from 0 to 5, where 0 is no offset and 5 is the maximum offset. The software plots each point and then moves it a little to the right based on the value of the offset fac-

tor. The first run is always plotted with no offset. The second run is offset a little to the right, the third run a little more to the right of that run. The points won't be exactly on top of the road but they will be easier to see. If this is a little confusing it will make more sense when you play with the software and try different settings.

Color Code Speeds

You have the option to assign three speed ranges to the data, each with a different color. This mode is enabled

3.12

by checking the checkbox. You then can edit the speed ranges. PC-Travel remembers the settings for the three speed ranges so you normally only have to set the ranges once. Of course for special circumstances you can change the speed ranges but the new values will be stored unless you set them back. You should set the ranges so that there are no holes in the speed ranges. For example, if you set the first range from 0 to 10 you should normally set the second range to start at 10.

The software checks this setting before plotting the data on the map. If the **Color Code Speeds** is enabled, then the software uses different colored solid circles to plot all of the points, and the colors are based on the speed of the vehicle and the speed ranges selected.

If the **Color Code Speeds** is not enabled then the software uses different shapes of icons, and if needed, different colors, to distinguish between the runs.

Map

In the center of the screen is the map. What you see on your screen may look a little different from the screenshot shown here, which was done on a fairly large monitor using MapPoint mode for the GIS engine. The software looks at the first data point of the first run and centers that on the map, so you should see the general area where the data was collected.

Navigating around the Map

There are several ways to change the view on the map. The procedures vary depending on the GIS mode you are using, MapPoint or ArcGIS Shapefile. In either mode you can use the **Zoom In** and **Zoom Out** buttons at the bottom of the screen.

MapPoint Mode

Important: All commands are done with the Alt key pressed!

You can select a specific region by pressing the Alt key and drawing a bounding box with your mouse. This is done by pressing the left mouse button at the upper left corner of the area you want to see and dragging the mouse to the lower right corner. When you let go of the left mouse button you will see a little message to "click to Zoom". Click the mouse and the map will zoom to the bounding box you set.

You can scroll around the map by pressing the Alt key and moving the mouse to one of the borders. The cursor will change to an arrow symbol. Click the mouse and the screen will scroll in that direction. This takes a little practice, but it is a good way to follow the route.

ArcGIS Shape File Mode



Fig T2.5 Navigation Toolbar

Figure T2.5 shows the navigation toolbar that is displayed in the upper left corner.

The first icon (looks like an earth) is the **Full Extent**. Clicking this shows the entire map of your area.

The second icon is a magnifying glass. Click this to set **Zoom Mode**. Press the left mouse button at the upper left corner of the area you want to see and drag the mouse to the lower right corner. When you let go of the left mouse button the map will zoom to the bounding box you set.

The third icon is a hand. Click this to set **Scroll Mode**. Click and hold the left mouse button and then drag the map around to show the view you want.
Status Line and Control Buttons

At the bottom of the screen is a status line which will show you messages occasionally as you use the software.

Below the status line are a series of buttons.

Help

Click this to show the Help screen for the mapping feature. If you forget how to navigate around the map or what an option is for you can find out here.

Zoom In and Zoom Out

This were discussed before and are fairly obvious. The number between the two buttons roughly represents the altitude when in MapPoint mode and a zoom factor when in ArcGIS Shape File mode.

Update Map

This is used to tell the software to go ahead and draw the map using the options currently selected. If the button is red then you need to select one or more runs to map.

Print Map

At any time you can print the current view shown on the map.

Cancel

Click this to return to the Main Screen in PC-Travel.

Now that you have some understanding of the screen and know how to move around the map it is time to plot some points. Click the Show checkbox on the first run to select it. Set the **Map Options** to **Plot All Points**, **Offset Icon Factor** = 0, **Color Code Speeds** checkbox selected. Click the **Update Map** button, which is now green. The software plots all of the data from the first run onto the map. Use your new navigation skills to zoom out and



Figure T2.6 Run 1 Data Zoomed Out

center the map so you can see the entire run. You should have a screen similar to the one shown in Figure T2.6. You can see the variations in speed during this run. Now it is time to edit this run.

Our first task is to trim the start of the run. Zoom in on the beginning of the run (at the bottom of the screen). Notice that the run started off the main street. The driver started the run then merged onto 56th St going north. and passed Puritan Road fairly soon. We want to start our route at Puritan Road so we need to trim all of the points from the beginning of the run up to that street.

Click on the point that right at or slightly passed Puritan Road. You should see a screen similar to Figure T2.7.



Figure T2.7Trim Start of Run

Notice that the data point changed to a push pin. This shows the currently selected data point. Also notice that there are two new additions to the screen. **Point Stats** are shown at the top of the screen, and five new buttons are visible at the bottom of the screen.

Point Stats

Shown here is everything we know about this data point.

-Point Stat	ts
Run #:	1
Point#:	44
Speed:	21.7
Heading:	360.0*
Distance:	793
Time:	17:21:44
Latitude:	28.0204
Longitude:	-82.3933
HDOP:	2.0

Fig T2.8 Point Stats

Run #: This shows which run this point belongs to.
Point #: This is from the beginning of the run.
Speed: The speed of the vehicle as recorded by the GPS receiver at this point.
Heading: The direction of the vehicle as recorded by the GPS receiver at this point.
0 or 360 is NB, 180 is SB, 90 is EB, and 270 is WB.
Distance: The distance from the first point in the run.
Time: The time as recorded by the GPS receiver at this point.
Latitude, Longitude: Current values for the point on the map.
HDOP: Value as recorded by the GPS receiver for this point.

0

The point stats can be useful to help understand the data that you got in the field, but normally you won't need to pay much attention to them. The **Heading** is useful if you aren't sure if a point belongs to a specific run or to figure out the direction of a run if the run name doesn't show the direction.

Run Edit Buttons

At the bottom of the screen are five new buttons. In this case three of them are in green, meaning they are enabled now. Two are in yellow and disabled (nothing happens if you click on them).



Fig T2.9 Run Edit Buttons

Insert Node: Create a node at this point.

Delete Node: Make a current node a normal data point.
Trim Start: Delete all points in the run from the beginning up to this point.
Trim End: Delete all points in the run from the end up to this point.
Move: Moves a point to a new position you select. Occasionally a data point will be obviously out of position. This can happen if the GPS receiver loses reception for a second or two. It is often obvious that a point is a little off and it is simple to move it to where it belongs.

Trim Start of Run

In our case we want to trim the points from the beginning up to Puritan Road, so click on the **Trim Start** button. The software starts at the first data point and changes each point up to the selected point into a white circle. Now the run starts at Puritan.



Figure T2.10 Trimmed Start of Run 1

Note, the run has not been changed permanently yet. That only occurs when you click on the Save button. So if you pick the wrong point or hit the wrong button you can always Cancel the session and re-do it.

Your screen should now be similar to Figure T2.10.

Now it is time to trim the end of the run.

Trim End of Run

3.16

In a similar manner, zoom out to show the entire route and then zoom in to show the end of the run. You can see that the driver made a left turn onto 122nd Ave (you can tell he had to wait a while to make the turn since there are quite a few data points in red right there). Then he pulled off the road into a parking lot and ended the run. We want the route to end at 122nd Ave but we don't need all of the points after that.



Fig T2.11 Trim End of Run

Click a point just before 122nd Ave. We don't really want the data points while he was waiting to make the left turn so pick the last green point or the first red one. Fig 3.11 shows a closeup of what the screen should look like.

Notice that now the **Trim End** button is green.

We want to delete those extra data points so click on the **Trim End** button. The software starts at the last data point and changes each point up to the selected point into a white circle. Now the run ends at 122nd Ave.

Your screen should now look like the screen in Figure T2.12.



Figure T2.12 Trimmed End of Run

For many runs this all you need to do on the map-trim the start and end of the runs so they all start at the same place and end at the same place. For at least one run you also need to add the node location information for the run. This is what we will do next.

Add Nodes To Run

PC-Travel calculates a variety of statistics for the entire route and for each segment between nodes in the route. At some point the node distance and name information must be entered into the software. In previous versions of PC-Travel the node distance data typically was entered in the field while collecting the data. Now it is much simpler to do it using a map. The node names are still best entered in the Run Details screen.

You should have a list of the intersections you want to use as nodes. You don't have to use every intersection on the arterial; too many nodes makes the reports too complicated.

The first node we want to add is at E Riverhills Dr, which is the first large intersection going north from the start of the run. Zoom in and navigate on the map so that the street you want is near the center of the screen. Click on the point that is at the intersection or just past it. In this case the car was not stopped at this intersection and traveled through it at a fairly high speed so there are only a few points to choose from.

Note: You want to pick the first point that is clearly past the intersection so that all or atl least most of the delay for the intersection is in the previous segment. Don't pick points that are before the intersection.

Click on the Insert Node button. The icon for the point changes to a **N** to signify a node. Your screen should look like the screen in Figure T2.13.



Figure T2.13 - Insert Node in Run

You can duplicate this process for each node you want to add to the run.

Delete a Node

If you decide you don't want a node at a specific spot, then it is simple to fix. Click on the Node point so it is selected then click on the Delete Node button and the point will be restored to a normal data point.

3.17

Edit Run Name

You have trimmed the start and end of the run and added the nodes. The last step is to edit the run name and save the run.

The name of the run is shown at the top of the screen in the white text box.

You can use the same run name to simplify the number of run files you have to manage, or you can give the edited name a slightly different name to show that it has been edited.

If you want to change the file name before saving it, then double click on the text box. The cursor changes to the standard text editing cursor (an I-Beam) as shown in Figure T2.14.



Figure T2.14 - Edit Run Name

For this tutorial , edit the name to 56th St NB-B-R0001e (add an 'e' to the end) and then press the Enter key.

Note: The sample files included with the software have a "t" or "tn" added to the end of the file name to signify the run file has been 'trimmed' or 'trimmed and nodes added'.

Save the Run

When you are through editing the run (trimming, adding and/or deleting nodes, and editing the run name) then click the **Save** button in the lower right corner of the screen. A new run file will be created and saved using the name that is in the **Run Name** text box at the top of the screen. If you haven't edited the run name then this effectively will replace the existing run.

Go ahead and save this edited run. Make sure you change the name so that you don't overwrite the original run file (someone else may want to go through this tutorial and you don't want to mess that up).

Cancel Edits

If at any time before you click the **Save** button you decide you want start over or just not edit this run, then click the **Cancel** button. The software will return to the Main Screen and no changes will be made to the run.

Edit Node Names

There is one last step to do with the run we have been editing. It isn't done on the **Map Screen** but it fits into the flow of this tutorial so it is included here. We have edited the run 56th St NB-B-R001tn and trimmed the start and end, added nodes, and saved it. Now we need to give the nodes names so the reports will look better.

Node names are edited on the Run Details screen. Follow these steps:

1- From the **Main Screen**, click on the **Edit Run** icon in the toolbar near the top of the screen. 2- Select the run you saved on the **Map Screen**. If you followed the tutorial then the file name will be **56th St NB-B-R0001e**. You will see a screen similar to Figure T2.15, except the **Node Names** fields are blank.

This is the **Run Details** screen and it shows everything we know about this run.

The software knows there are 9 nodes and knows the distances since you marked them on the map. Now you need to edit the names of the nodes so the names will show up on the reports.

Click on the first node line in the white text box and type *Puritan* then press the **Enter** key. You would enter all of the names in the same way until all of the node names are entered. Once all of the names are entered you click the **Save** button. This saves the run using the name shown in the **Name** field, and returns you to the **Main Screen**. This run is now ready to be used in a study.



Figure T2.15 - Edit Node Names

Now let's go back to the Map Screen to finish up the tutorial on the mapping features.

Map Multiple Runs

3.20

It often is useful to map some or all of the runs in a study to make sure they look ok. Generally you wouldn't edit the runs in this mode, but you could if you wished.

The sample files installed with the software include a study with four runs. We will open this study and then map the four runs in it. Follow the steps carefully:

- 1- Run PC-Travel and select **Open an Existing Study** from the **Startup Options** screen.
- 2- Select the study **56th St-NB-PM** which is in the **Samples** folder.
- 3- Click on the **Map** button. This brings up the **Map Screen** with the four runs listed at the top.
- 4- Check the **Show** checkbox for each run at the top of the screen.
- 5- Uncheck the Color Code Speeds option.
- 6- Set the Offset Icons Factor to 2.
- 7- Click the **Update Map** button.

The software maps the four runs. You should see a screen similar to the one shown in Figure T2.16.



Figure T2.16 Map of Four Runs

Each run is a separate color as shown in the **Icon** column at the top of the screen. The icons are offset from each other on the map so it is easy to see the separate points for each run. The exact positioning is off, of course, but you get a good sense what each run looks like.

Note that each run ends at or near 122nd Ave; each run was trimmed in the same manner as shown in this tutorial. You can also see the one node marked on the first run at the intersection of E Fowler Ave. near the bottom of the screen.

You can click on any point and see the **Point Stats** for that point at the top of the screen.

Since we just wanted to look at the runs and not change anything, just click on the **Cancel** button to return to the **Main Screen** of PC-Travel.

Tutorial 3 - How to Create a New Study

This tutorial shows you how to create a new study from runs you have previously collected and stored on your computer.

In this case, we will create a study using three Before runs from the sample data that is installed with PC-Travel.

Run PC-Travel. You will see the Startup Options.

Click on the button labeled Start a New Travel Time Study.

Note: If you are already in the program, you can select **File: New** from the main menu, or click on the first toolbar, labeled **NEW**, at the top of the screen.

You will see the screen shown in the figure below. This is a blank Study Details screen. At the bottom of the screen are the default values for the Speed Categories, Normal Speed, and Stop Speed. Everything else is blank.

🗅 🍃 📕				a , # .	
Jew Open Save Study Group: Sample Files	Read Edit Run	Print Stats S	pdPlot TSDiag	Prets Convert	StartUp Inter
Name		Notes		-	
Runs Used in This Study					
Pun Tille	Start Date Ste	art Length Before	Run Running Type Speed		
					Þ
					²
					250
					₽¢.
Show Details Add	Run(s) Rer	nove Run			L _S
Show Details Add Spond Categories (MPH)	Run(s) Rer	nove Run	sta Node Inf		Ľş
Show Details Add Speed Categories (MPH) 21 0 72 33	Run(s) Rer 23 55	nove Pun	nts Node Inf PH View	0	Ľş
Show Details Add Speed Categories (MPH) 7 0 7 35 Normal Speed	Run(s) Rer 23 55 Stop Speed	Confidence Lavel Ste Permitted Error - 1 M Confidence Level - 9 Aut Voinser	tta Node Infi PH View 5%		Ľş

Figure T3.1 — New Study

Click on the **Add Run(s)** button in the center of the screen. This will bring up the **Select Runs** screen, which is similar to the screen shown in the Figure T3.2. The left side of the screen shows the familiar tree of folders, with the Study Groups folder highlighted (or whatever you have set as the Study Group Root Folder in the Preferences).



Figure T3.2 — Select Runs

Click on the study group named **Sample Files** in the tree, which is where the runs we want are located. The window to the right shows the runs that are in that study group. These runs were installed with PC-Travel and are used in various tutorials.

Select the same runs that are shown on this screen shot. The runs you select are highlighted as you click them. Your screen should now look like Figure T3.3.



Figure T3.3 — Selected Runs

These are all of the runs we want for this particular study, so click on the **Select** button. The **Select Runs** screen disappears, and the **Study Summary** screen now shows the three runs we just selected.

3.22

Your screen should look like Figure T3.4.

56th St-NB-B-R001th 56th St-NB-B-R002t 56th St-NB-B-R003t 56th St-NB-B-R004t	09/19/07 09/19/07 09/19/07 09/19/07	17.21 17:39 17:55	13702	Before	1,700	99000
56th St-NB-B-R002t 56th St-NB-B-R003t 56th St-NB-B-R004t	09/19/07 09/19/07 09/19/07	17:39	13752		Finnary	
561h St-NB-B-R0031 561h St-NB-B-R0041	09/19/07 09/19/07	17.55	TOTOL	Betore	Secondary	34.9
56th St-NB-B-R004t	09/19/07	1000	13758	Betore	Secondary	37.4
	00710701	18:09	13801	Betore	Secondary	34.0

Figure T3.4 — Runs Added

The top of the screen, right above the Name label and text box, shows the Study Group as Sample Files, which is where the runs are located. The study will always be stored in the same study group as the runs.

You can view the **Run Details** of each or any of the runs by highlighting the run and clicking on the **Run Details** button. If these runs came from data just read in from field data, then you would need to edit each of the runs and give them new names, check the node names and distances, etc. *(See Note below)*.

Notice that the **View** button in the lower right corner is red. This indicates that you should check the study node distances to make sure the current distances are OK.

Click on the **View** button now. Since there is only one Primary run in this study, there is only one column of run distance data. This is typical for data collected with GPS receivers (see Chapter 2: Collecting Data With GPS Travel

Current	Name	Avq	Run 1
0	Puritan	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	D
2223	Riverhills Rd	2223	2223
4451	Busch Blvd	4451	4451
5783	Temple Heights	5783	5783
7049	Mission Hills	7049	7049
8351	Druid Hills	8351	8351
9678	Whiteway	9678	9678
12470	Fowler Ave	12470	12470
13702	122 Street	13702	13702

Figure T3.5 — Run Distances

Time Software). Notice that all of the distances have green backgrounds. That means that for each node, all of the run distances for that node are close to the same distance. In this case, you don't need to do anything with these distances. The distances in the Current column are fine as well. Click the **OK** button to go back to the **Study Details** screen. If these runs came from data just read from field data, then there is a good chance that some of the node distances would be incorrect and you would need to edit the distances.

Note: See page 1.15 for a brief overview of how you can edit the runs on the Run Details screen and then how you can manipulate the node distances on this screen. This screen is more important if you collect data with a TDC board or OBD Interface since you can't edit the nodes on a map like you can with GPS data.

The last few things you need to do are to add any notes, give the study a name, and then save it.



Figure T3.6 — Notes

Type any notes in the **Notes** window. Remember that whatever you type will be saved with the study and printed at the bottom of the Study Summary report. Ask yourself, "What would I want to remember about this study in 6 months that isn't obvious from the data?".

The study is just about ready to save. Check everything on the Study Summary screen. Make sure the **Speed Categories, Normal Speed**, and **Stop Speed** are what you want for this study. You can change any of these parameters simply by editing the text boxes.

Study (Group: Sample Files
Name	56th St NB PM Before
N	
Fi	gure T3.7 — Name Closeup

Finally, click in the far left corner of the *Name* text box at the top of the screen, and type in the name you want to give to this study. Make the name as descriptive as necessary so that you can tell what the study is about from the name alone. In this case, the name is simply the main road, 56th St., they are Northbound runs (NB), and these are the Before runs. The name will often, but not always, be an

elaboration of the names of the runs in the study.

PC-Travel		
Do you want to save st in Study Group: Samp	udy: 56th St NB I le Files ?	PM Before
Yes	No	ſ

Figure T3.8 — Save Confirmation

When you have entered the name in the text box, click on the **Save** icon on the toolbar, or select **File:Save Study Now** from the main menu.

A confirmation window pops up asking if you want to save this study. It shows the name of the study and the study group. Click on **Yes** to save the study. If you realize the name or the study group is wrong then click on **No**.

The study is now saved on your computer in the study group shown at the top of the screen. You can now view the data or print reports.

Tutorial 4 - How to Edit Nodes in Individual Runs

Travel-time studies would be pretty simple to do and analyze if it weren't for the nodes; you could simply time how long it took you to drive from the start to the end of the route and that would be your travel time. But that doesn't give you enough information. You need to know the statistics on a node to node basis. That is how you find the intersections that are causing the biggest delays. But dealing with the node information is annoying at best. Not only do you have to be very diligent when you collect the data so that you press the New Link button accurately at each node, but you also have to type in the names of all of the nodes into the software so that the reports will make sense. This tutorial shows you how to use some of the advanced features in PC-Travel to edit the node distance names and distances in your runs, to make it as easy as possible.

Note: If you collect data with GPS receivers and have enabled the map features in PC-Travel, then you don't need to edit nodes with these techniques; you can edit the nodes directly on the map. You still need to enter the Node Names on this screen however.

Pe C Fixed Route	Name BANDOUT1	2	Notes	
uns Used in This Stu	Date 03/02/91 Sat Time 14:55 D		This run file created fro DOS study.	om PC-Travel fo
Run Title	Run Type Before or Atter?	Primary -		
ANDOUT1	Calibration Constant	Before		
ANDOUT2	-Node Names and Dis	tances	- Run Summary	
ANDOUT4	1 [Start]	0	Course Length	9960
	2 Mainland	800	Run Duration	230
ANDOUT6	3 Guilbeau	2448	Number of Nodes	6
	Bresnahan/Mistig	c 5045		
Show Details	5 Braun	7568		
	6 [End]	9960		
ormal Speed	Copy Reverse	Delete Insert		

Figure T4.1 — Run Details

This is the **Run Details** screen. It shows just about everything we know about a particular run, including the node names and distances if this run is a Primary run (remember, a Primary run is a run where you collected node distance information in the field and want to use it to find the node distances for the study). Most of this screen has been discussed before, in Chapter 1.

This tutorial will deal with the information shown in the lower left part of the screen, the window labeled **Node Names and Distances**. This is where you enter the names of the nodes, either by typing in the names (*but just once*) or copying the names from other runs (*the preferred method*). You also can insert and delete nodes in the data, and trim the start or end of the run to make the nodes line up. These options will be explained in detail in a little while.

For this tutorial, just read the text. It isn't necessary to follow along on your computer. These operations permanently alter the runs, and that might confuse you if you then try to use the same runs in another tutorial.

In order for a study to analyze correctly, all of the runs in the study must start in the same place, end at the same place, and go in the same direction. This sounds simple, and usually is, but occasionally a mistake is made during a run and a node is missed, or an extra node is added, or the run is started at the wrong place. You could just ignore this run, but as you'll see, you may also be able to fix it.

The *Node Names and Distances* window in figure T4.2 has two sections:

The top shows the node names and distances. The Node Names section have a white background, which means you can edit the names simply by typing over the existing names. The distances have a gray background. Those values are calculated from the field data, and can't simply be edited by typing over them (although, as you'll see, there is a way to edit them).

The bottom section has six buttons. This tutorial basically will explain how to use these six buttons.

There are three situations we will examine, and each requires the use of one or more of these buttons:

Situation 1: Normal scenario where you enter the node names for runs you just processed from field data. Situation 2: Your run has a missing or extra node and you want to fix it. Situation 3: All of the runs were started and/or ended at different places (*which is OK*).

Situation 1: Normal scenario where you enter

the node names for runs you just downloaded

There really are two parts to this situation. The first is processing the first run, where you have to type in the node names for the first (and last) time. The second is for other runs on the same route (even those going in the opposite direction). We'll call these two parts 1a and 1b, respectively.

1a – First Run

The normal sequence with PC-Travel is the following:

- You do a study in the field.
- You process your field data and create two study groups, each containing runs for one direction.
- You create a new study and add the runs from one direction.
- You enter the Run Details information for each run and re-save the run.

1 8	0
2	800
3	2448
4	5045
5	7568
6	9960

Figure T4.2 — Nodes Without Names

[Start]	0
Mainland	800
Guilbeau	2448
Bresnahan/Mistic	5045
Braun	7568
[End]	9960

Figure T4.3— Nodes With Names

It is during this last item that you enter the node names. Figure T4.2 shows what the screen looks like before you type in the node names. The distances are already there because they come directly from the data. Since this is the first run you are processing for this route, you need to type the names of the nodes. The first line, with a distance of 0 is where you started the run. The last line, with a distance of 9960, is where you ended the run. This is all standard and easy to do. Just click in the text box where you want to edit the name, and type in the name or edit the existing name.

You will end up with something similar to Figure T4.3. Once all of the names are entered, and you have edited the other information on the *Run Details* screen, click on **OK** to save the run information. You now have one run with all of the node names entered; you won't have to type the names in again.

1b – Subsequent Runs

Internet Explorer	Name	Date	Time	Tune
1 JAMAR	BANDOUT1-Before	03/02/91	14:55	Pri
PC-Travel for Winc	BANDOUT2-Before	03/02/91	15:05	Pri
PCT-DOS Data	BANDOUT3-Before	03/02/91	15:13	Pri
Di Spreadsheet F	BANDOUT4-After	03/02/91	15:22	Pri
tudy Groups	BANDOUT5-After	03/02/91	15:31	Pri
	and the second se		1	
Fowler Ave	BANDOUT6-After	03/02/91	15:40	Pri
Fowler Ave New TDC Data Files	BANDOUT6-After	03/02/91	15:40	Pri

Figure T4.4 — Copy Node Names

Once you have typed in the node names once for a given route, you don't want to have to do it again, and you don't. You can copy the names from an existing run that has the same node names you want. Assume you are looking at the *Run Details* screen of a different run from the same study. Instead of typing in the node names, press the **Copy** button. A screen similar to the one shown here is displayed. It shows the list of runs in your study in the upper right hand corner window. The first run is highlighted, and if there are any node names assigned to that run, then they are shown in the lower left window. You want to highlight the run that has the node names you want then click on Select. You will then pop back to the **Run Details** screen with the node names copied to the appropriate fields. Then you can save the run.

You can follow a similar sequence when you create the second study with the runs going in the opposite direction, with a couple of minor additions. The first run of this new study will not have any node names yet. Instead of typing them in like you did the first time, you can copy the node names from a run from the first study group. You may need to navigate to another study group to find the run you want before you select the run. Once you are back in the Run Details screen, you will have the node names on the screen but they will be in the wrong order. Click on the **Reverse** button to flip the names from top to bottom. Save the run, and then you can follow the sequence in 1b described above for the rest of the runs in that study using this first run as the source for the node names.

Using the procedures described in 1a and 1b above, you can add node names to all of your runs, and you just have to type in the names once for each route.

Situation 2: Your run has a missing or extra node and you want to fix it

Sometimes, however, you may find that there are problems following the procedures outlined above because one or more of the runs don't have the proper number of nodes. It is easy to miss a node while collecting the data; you are busy driving and you may not record the node properly so the node isn't entered. Or you may accidentally record a node when you shouldn't, which adds a node that doesn't belong there.

You have three options when you discover a run has the wrong number of nodes:

- 1 Make the run a Secondary run, which effectively ignores the node information in the run.
- 2 Adjust the run node distances on the Node Distances screen before finding the averages.
- 3 Fix the node information in the run.

The first choice is actually the easiest and usually the best solution. *The node distance information in any one run is only used to help find the average node distances for the study* (which is done in the Node Distances screen accessed from the Study Summary). All statistics found in the software use the study node distances. So, if you have a study with several runs, and one of the runs has bad node information, then the simplest solution is to change the run type to Secondary (on the Run Details screen, see Fig T4.1). This tells the software to skip that run when it shows the node distances in the Node Distance screen, and the bad node information will not affect your data in any way.

The second choice works if you are missing one or two nodes in a run. With this option, you use the tools available in the *Node Distances* screen to adjust the node distances shown for the runs so that the nodes in the bad run line up with the equivalent nodes in other runs. This is explained in detail in *Tutorial 4 - How to Find Node* Distances in Your Study. This is also a perfectly good option.

The third choice is for when it isn't practical to use the first two choices. If your study only has 2 or 3 runs, then skipping one or two of them would make the averages of the node distances less accurate than you might like. If your run has extra nodes, then it isn't easy to use option 2. Or, you may just decide that you want the runs to be as accurate as possible. For these cases, you can almost always fix the bad runs so that the node information is accurate.

How to Delete A Node

How to Insert a Node



Figure T4.6 — Delete a Node

Assume that in one of your runs you accidentally hit the New Link button, which added an extra node to the data. When you go to the Run Details screen you see that instead of the expected six nodes, there is a seventh. A little comparison to the other runs makes it clear that the problem is the third node, at 1004 feet. That node shouldn't be there. There aren't any node names yet, since you want to have the proper number of nodes before you copy the names from another run.

Click on the text box in the third node line. Then click on the Delete button. The third line (along with the distance) disappears and there now are six nodes, which is correct. You can now copy the names from another run and proceed as normal. The software edited the data point that had the node information at 1004 feet and removed

the node marker. When you save the run, you make the change permanent.



the Run Details screen you see that instead of the expected six nodes, there are only five. A little comparison to the other runs makes it clear that the problem is that the third node is missing; the other runs have a node around 2040 feet and this run doesn't. We can fix that.

Click on the text box on the third node line, then click on the **Insert** button. A new line, along with a blank distance, is inserted in the third node position.

We know the missing node is about 2040 feet from the start. Click on the blank white text box in the distance column and enter 2040.

You now have the proper number of nodes for this run, so you can copy the node names from another run and proceed as normal. When you save the run, you make the change permanent.

If you immediately go back to the Run Details screen you may see something that seems odd. The distance that you typed in, 2040, has changed to 2051. This is normal. In fact it is unavoidable.

1	0
2	800
3	2040
4	5045
5	7568
6	9960

Figure T4.8 — Add Node Distance

Assume that in one of your runs you missed a node. When you go to

1	[Start]	0
2	Mainland	800
3	Guilbeau	2051
4	Bresnahan/Mistic	5045
5	Braun	7568
6	[End]	9960

Remember that node markers are embedded in the pulse data, and that the pulse data is stored every second. The software can only find distances on a second by second basis. When you inserted a node and typed in the distance, the software searched for the data point that contained the distance you entered. It then added a node marker to that data point. Later, when the software scanned the pulse data to find the node distances, it found the new marker, but used the only distance it knew, the distance traveled up to that point, as the node distance. This probably doesn't exactly match what you entered. But

it is as close as the system allows, and normally is more than accurate enough. (For a more complete discussion of how distances are measured, see Appendix 6).

Situation 3:

All of the runs were started and/or ended at different places (which is OK)

The first two situations discussed dealt with handling mistakes that were made while collecting travel time data, specifically missing nodes or adding nodes. The third situation deals with editing runs that are done using a data collection procedure that is fairly common, but could cause problems if not handled properly.

One of the primary requirements for a successful travel time study is that all of the runs must start at the same place. All distances in PC-Travel are calculated from the start of the run. If the starting point of each of the runs in a study varies, then the study statistics won't make any sense.

Most users set up their route and add a node *(usually an intersection)* before and after the main route. They start each run at the start node and end each run at the last node. Since each run starts at the same place, everything is fine.

To start the run at the first node, you really have to be driving at the proper speed some distance in advance of the first node when you start the run. For convenience, some users like to start the run without the requirement that the driver record the node exactly at the right place. The idea is that the driver starts the run anywhere in advance of the first node of interest, then accurately marks the nodes. He then ends the run anywhere after the final node of interest.

If you start a series of runs at different places, but always have the first link at the same place, then essentially you want the software to ignore the data from the start of the run to the first node. Instead of ignoring it, we let you delete it. This is where the **Trim Start** and **Trim End** buttons are used.

1 8	0
2	800
3	2051
4	5045
5	7568
e 2	0000
	9960
b Copy Reverse Di	elete Insert

How to Trim Runs

Assume you have collected data as discussed above, so that the first node distance varies from run to run in this study. Also, the last node distance isn't important either because it varies from run to run. This is shown in the first screen shown here.

Click on **Trim Start**. The first node line is erased and the distances adjusted so that the first node starts at zero. The software deletes all of the data points from the start of the run up to the data point with the first node marker.

Click on **Trim End**. The last node is erased. The software deletes all of the data points from the end of the run back to the data point with the last node marker.

You need to do this for each of the runs in the study. All of the runs now start and end at the same place.

1	0
2	1251
3	4245
4	6768

Figure T4.11 — Trimmed Runs

Tutorial 5 - How to Find Node Distances in Your Study



Nodes are an important concept in PC-Travel. Every study, like the runs that it is made from, starts at one welldefined point and ends at another, and usually has nodes in between (*see Figure 3.25*). These nodes are usually cross streets, but can be anything that is easy to see while you are driving.

The program needs to know the names of each of the nodes and the distance that each node is from the starting point. Various statistics are calculated, displayed, and printed in the reports not just on the entire route, but on a node to node basis as well.

Note: If you collect data with GPS receivers and have enabled the map features in PC-Travel, then you don't need to edit nodes with these techniques; you can edit the nodes directly on the map.

Since node names and distances are so central to the operation of the software, it is important that you understand how you find the most accurate distances for your studies *(the names don't cause much confusion)*. That is the purpose of this tutorial. You will learn how to find the best possible node distances for your study. Before you get to the software, however, you need to understand some of the concepts involved.

There are basically two methods you can use to find the node distances:

1 – Collect node distance information while you do the travel time runs as you pass each node point during a run.

2 – Measure the node distances accurately in some way independent of the travel time data collection, and then manually input the distances into the software.

Since the first option is by far the most common method used, it will be discussed first.

Use Node Data From Runs

You may ask, "What's the problem? I drive the route and record each node. The software should be able to calculate the node distances from the run data." Basically, this is true. But there are two problems. One is the fact that the node distances found from the field data are not very accurate. *Appendix 6 — How Distances are Measured* explains this in detail. The second is that the nodes are recorded by people, who don't always record nodes at the proper place (and sometimes forget to record them at all). The result is that the node distances for any one run are often inaccurate.

Since a typical travel time study requires multiple runs, you have multiple opportunities to measure the same node distances. Assume you did five runs in a row. You recorded nodes during each run. There is some error in each node distance caused by the inherent error in the way the distances are stored in the field data, plus the error associated with you trying to push the button at exactly the same place each run. Each node distance may have some error inherent in the measurement, but the *average* of the five node distances is probably pretty accurate, or at least more accurate than any one run you might pick.

The idea of averaging the node distances from all of the runs is the basis for the **Node Distances** screen used in PC-Travel. The more runs there are that have node distance information, the more accurate the averages will be. This leads to two of the fundamental rules for collecting good travel data:

1 – **Record nodes on every run you do.** This is fairly easy to do. You are out there anyway, so you might as well collect the node information for each run.

2 – It is better to not record a node at, then to record it several seconds late. Sometimes it is impossible to record the node just when you want to, especially if you are doing the study by yourself; the traffic may keep you busy as you pass the node. Just skip the one node. You'll probably have several measurements for that node by the end of the day. However, if you know you mis-timed a node, make a note on your field sheet at the end of the run so that you can deal with it later back in the office.

When you read and process the field data, you create runs from the data and store them in a Study Group. You edit the parameters of each run in the Run Details screen (*See page 1.15*). If you designate the run as a Primary run (*which means that you collected node information in the field and you want the software to use it*) then the run has node names and distances for you to enter or edit. The names are entered manually or copied from other runs. The distances are found from the pulse data collected in the field. Occasionally you need to fix bad node information in the run. *Tutorial 3 — How to Edit Nodes in Individual Runs* explains how to do this. When you save the run details, the node information is ready to be used in a study.

Once the runs are created and edited as needed, you create a study using some or all of those runs. Before the software can find the statistics for the study, which include statistics on a node-to-node basis, it has to find the node distances that will be used in that study. That is done, with your help, on the **Node Distances** screen.

First, you need to run the software and open a study so you have data to use.

1 – Run PC-Travel and from the **Startup Options** screen, select **Open Existing Study**.

2 – If necessary, navigate to the **Sample Files** study group.

3 – Click on **Bandout-Mixed Runs** from the list and then click on **Select**. You'll see the **Study Details** screen as shown below in Figure T5.2.

BANDOUT - Mixed	Runs		a a la	his study PC-Trav	file convert el for DOS si	ed fro tudy.
Runs Used in This Study—						
Run Title	Start Date	Start Time	Length (ft)	Before After	Run Type	
BANDOUT1-Before	03/02/91	14:55	9960	Before	Primary	Ē
BANDOUT2-Before	03/02/91	15:05	9972	Before	Primary	
BANDOUT3-Before	03/02/91	15:13	9949	Before	Primary	
BANDOUT4-After	03/02/91	15:22	9885	After	Primary	
BANDOUT5-After	03/02/91	15:31	9917	After	Primary	
	03/02/91	15:40	9905	After	Primeru	1
Show Details	Add	Run(s)			Remove I	Run
Speed Categories (MPH) – #1 0 #2	10 #	3	30	Node	Distances —	View

Figure T5.2 — Study Summary Screen

4 – Click on the **View** button in the **Node Distances** window. This will bring up the Node Distances screen.

Current	Name	Avq	Run 1	Run 2	Run 3	Run 4	Run 5
0	[Start]	0	0	0	0	0	0
800	Mainland	766	800	771	744	752	736
2448	Guilbeau	2354	2051	2420	2409	2453	2392
5045	Bresnahan/Mistic	5463	5045	5077	5049	5086	7488
7568	Braun	7928	7568	7505	7543	7522	9917
9960	[End]	9934	9960	9972	9949	9885	
	C	7	Testa				

Figure T4.3 — Node Distances Screen

The **Node Distances** screen shown above shows the **Names** of the nodes and the **Current** distances assigned to each node for this study on the left side of the screen. **Ultimately, the only thing that matters is that the Current column has the best possible distances.** The names and distances default to the values of the first Primary run. The distances are often close enough to use. However, these rarely are the *best possible* distances. There are several ways to get these better distances.

The right hand side of the Node Distance screen shows the node distances for each of the Primary runs in the study. The **Avg** column is the average of all of the run distances in that row. In this case, there are six runs *(only five are visible without scrolling)*.

Notice that most of the numbers have a green background, and two have red backgrounds. Each number should be close in value to the other numbers in the same row, since they represent the attempt of the data collector to mark the same node. The software compares each distance to the value in the Avg column. If the two distances are close (within 500 feet by default, but you can change this in the Preferences screen, see Appendix 5) then it shows a green background. If it isn't close, then it shows a red background.

Look at the two red values in Run 5. It is pretty clear what happened here. The data collector missed the node at Bresnahan/Mistic. This makes the other two distances below that node out of place. The 7408 that is now in the Bresnahan/Mistic space should be in the Braun row, and the 9917 should be in the [End] row.

Note: When this run was first created, the missing node could have been inserted in the Run Details screen; then this screen would have all green entries. Alternatively, you could go back to the Run Details screen for run 5 and set the type to Secondary. Then the run wouldn't show up on this screen at all. You usually have several different options available to you to deal with bad or missing nodes. The best option is the one that gives the software the most node distance data points to average, since that will give the most accurate results. Therefore, as the best option we always recommend fixing the runs by inserting or deleting nodes as needed. As the next best option, adjust the node distances on this screen as shown in this tutorial. Finally, if all else fails, make the run a Secondary run. This is the least desirable since it eliminates all of the node distances for that run from the averaging operation, not just the one or two bad ones.

Chapter 3 — Working with PC-Travel

Assume that you don't want to fix the run, but you want the distances that are out of place to be put where they belong. You can do this easily. Just follow along:

Avq	Run 1	Run 2	Run 3	Run 4	Run 5
0	0	0	0	0	0
766	800	771	744	752	736
2354	2051	2420	2409	2453	2392
5463	5045	5077	5049	5086	7488
7928	7568	7505	7543	7522	9917
9934	9960	9972	9949	9885	

Avq	Run 1	Run 2	Run 3	Run 4	Run 5
0	0	0	0	0	0
766	800	771	744	752	736
2354	2051	2420	2409	2453	2392
5463	5045	5077	5049	5086	7488
7928	7568	7505	7543	7522	
9934	9960	9972	9949	9885	9917

Avq	Run 1	Run 2	Run 3	Run 4	Run 5
0	0	0	0	0	0
766	800	771	744	752	736
2354	2051	2420	2409	2453	2392
5059	5045	5077	5049	5086	
7523	7568	7505	7543	7522	7488
9931	9960	9972	9949	9885	9917

1 – Click on the number 9917. A solid border appears around the cell.

2 – Point the cursor at the bottom of the cell, right on the line. The cursor will change from a cross to an arrow.

3 – Press and hold the left mouse button and drag the cell down one cell and let go of the mouse button.

4 – The 9917 cell is now one row lower.

5 – Repeat steps 1-4 with the number 7488.

We now have the distances in the proper rows. There is a blank entry, but that is OK. The software will ignore it.

Click on **Recalc Avg**. The values in the **Avg** column change, and now all of the numbers have a green background.

Figure T4.4 — Select and Move Node Distances

Click on the **Copy Avg to Current** button. The values in the **Current**

column now match the **Avg** column. These values are now the best we can get from our data, and are probably more accurate than just choosing the distances in any one run.

When you are happy with the values in the **Current** column, click **OK**. If you get the distances all messed up, just hit **Cancel** to go back to the **Study Summary** screen without making any changes.

The new distance values in the **Current** column are not a permanent part of the study yet. If you want to save the new values with the study, then click on the **Save** icon in the **Study Summary** screen. The new distances, plus any other changes to the study you have made, are saved.

This whole procedure may seem a little cumbersome, but if you don't want to fiddle with the node distances you usually don't have to. If you prepare the runs properly you will see only green values when you first see this screen. If there are some red values, you still have several options. You can go back and fix the runs that are causing the problems, which is probably the best option. You can make one or more of the runs Secondary runs so that they don't show up on this screen. Or you can use the procedure described here to move the distances around so that the distances are in the correct rows.

You can't solve all bad node problems by moving node distances around. If you have a run with an extra node, then you really need to fix it by deleting the node in the *Run Details* screen. Also, if there are the proper number of nodes, but the distance is way off because the driver hit the button very late, then you also need to fix that in the *Run Details* screen. However, the most common problem is a missing node, which is easy to adjust for on this screen.

Please realize that you are not permanently altering the node data in the runs in any way. All you are doing is temporarily moving the node distances to different rows *on this screen* so that you can find the best possible average distance for that node. The only way to permanently fix node problems is in the **Run Details** screen.

Tutorial 6 - How to Edit Sensor Data



There may be times when your data needs editing. Usually there is an apparent problem with one of the graphs. Instead of the nice smooth variations in speeds that you normally see, you see uneven jumps, as shown in Figure T6.1 of a Speed Profile for a run (*which you can see by clicking on the PLOT button on the Run Details screen*). This is real data sent to us by a user. It is pretty clear that something weird is happening in the 500-1000 foot range. The rest of the graph looks fairly typical. There is a normal looking slow to a stop, probably at a stop light, at the 2000 foot mark. The rest of the graph looks OK. Still, that funny looking data is likely to cause the statistics to be off.

This tutorial will show you how you can edit the sensor data in your runs to eliminate some problems you might find. This is a read-along tutorial, you don't have to follow-along on your computer.

Note: This tutorial only applies to data collected with a Jamar TDC board; if you use GPS receivers or OBD Interfaces then you don't need this tutorial.

Let's take a closer look at the sensor data that makes up this run.

In the *Run Details* screen, click on the EDIT button.



Figure T6.2 — Edit Sensor Screen



Figure T6.2 is the Edit Sensor screen. The graph is a Speed vs Time plot of the sensor data collected in the field during one run. Each data point is one second of data. You can scroll through the data using the scroll bar. The graph shows 50 seconds of data at a time.

Here you can see that there is a sharp spike at 41 seconds, a small spike at 46 seconds, another large spike at 51 seconds, and another small spike at 56 seconds. The rest of the data on this screen looks OK. We know that cars can't go from 20 MPH to 40 MPH in one second, so there clearly is a problem here. The first impulse might be to distrust all of the data and go back and re-do the data collection. You don't necessarily have to do this, however. You might be able to edit the data so that it is usable.

Note: When you modify the data using the options on this screen you are modifying a copy of the data stored in the run. To make the changes permanent you must click on the SAVE button on the Run Details screen, which is where you go when you exit this screen. You also might add a note to the run before you save it to explain that the data was edited.

The Edit Sensor screen gives you three ways to modify the data:

- 1 De-Spike
- 2 Smooth
- 3 Edit individual data points.

De-Spike Data

The De-Spike option is very simple. When you click on the **De-Spike** button, the software scans through the data looking for patterns that look like spikes.

A *spike* is defined as a 3 consecutive data points, S1, S2, & S3, that have one or more of the following characteristics:

1 – S2 - S1 > 20 (MPH) 2 – S2 - S1 > 10 AND S3 - S2 > 10 (MPH)



The software scans through the data. When it finds a spike, it replaces the middle data point (*S2*) with the average of the other two points. The software then continues on until all of the data has been scanned. The graph is then updated to show any changes.

Figure T6.3 shows how the data in Figure 3.30 looks after it has been De-Spiked. Notice the spikes at 41 seconds and 51 seconds are gone. There still is a little spike at 46 that looks a little odd. This can be taken care of with either of the other two editing options, smoothing, or actual editing of the data points.

Smooth Data

Sometimes the data looks a little *jerky*, instead of nice and smooth like it should. After all, cars make fairly smooth transitions from one speed to another, the large mass of the car makes it difficult to do anything else. If you smooth out the data a bit, it will more closely represent what the car was actually doing on the road.



Figure T6.4 — Sensor Data Before Smoothing

Smoothing Factor

Notice that below the **Smooth** button is a text box labeled *Factor*. This setting tells the software how much smoothing should be done. The lower the setting, the greater the smoothing effect. The default is 2, which seems to work reasonably well, but you can change it as you see fit. Values above 5 don't do much at all. A value of zero will smooth every point. The factor essentially tells the software how much of a difference there must be between consecutive data points before a point should be smoothed.

When you click the **Smooth** button, the software scans through the data and finds the difference in speed between consecutive data points. If it is greater than the Smoothing Factor, then that point is set to the average of the two points around it. The software then continues through the data until all of the data has been scanned. The graph is then updated to show the new data values.



Figure T6.5 shows the result of smoothing the data *once*, with a setting of 2. Notice how much, well, *smoother*, the data looks. That annoying little spike at 46 seconds is also gone now.

You can run the smoothing routine several times. Just click on the Smooth button again. The software will make another pass through the data and smooth points as needed.

You also can change the Smoothing Factor and continue to smooth the data. But be careful, if you do too much smoothing, the speed profile can change significantly. Like many things, a light touch is best.



Edit Data

If you only have a few data points that don't seem right then you can directly edit those points.

To select the data point to edit:



Click on the point you want to edit. The point turns green. Figure 3.34 show a selected point from the same data we used in the other examples. Here, we're going to get rid of that little spike in the data at 46

> Notice the text box labeled Speed now shows the number 12, which is the speed of the point shown in green. The *Time* shows 46. The box is in gray because you can't edit that number directly.

To edit the data:

Click on the Speed text box and type in the new speed you want. Press the Enter key when the speed is the value you want. The graph updates to show the data point at the new value.

Or

Click on the green point, hold the left mouse button down, and drag the point to the new speed value, then release the mouse button. The Time and Speed boxes now show the new values.

46

2



Figure T6.7 shows the graph after editing the data point at 46 seconds from 12 to 2. The graph now looks a little more realistic. The value in the *Speed* text box now shows the new value.

> You can use this option to clean up the occasional data point that seems out of place.

PC-Travel Reference Manual

How Does Data Get Spikes?

You might reasonably ask, "How does data get spikes like these in it?". The answer is it doesn't, unless there is a problem with the sensor, or with the way the sensor is installed.

The transmission sensor picks up signals that are designed to go to the speedometer electronics of your car. The sensor sends those signals *(through wires)* to the sensor electronics where the signal is amplified, conditioned, and passed on to the TDC.

Assuming everything is working properly, if 10 pulses are detected on the speedometer cable, then 10 pulses are delivered to the TDC (*it's not quite that simple, but for the sake of this argument, pretend it is*). All the TDC knows is that it is supposed to count the number of pulses, so if extra pulses are added to the 10 pulses, it has no way of knowing.

It is a sad fact of electronics life that all wires are small antennas, radiating signals and receiving signals from all of the other wires in the area. It is also a sad fact that a car is a great source of spurious electronic noise that can easily be added to the signals traveling through wires if the wires aren't installed properly.

When you see data like the data in Figure 3.30, you can be almost certain that electrical noise from something in the car is being coupled into the signal going to the TDC. This causes the TDC to count more pulses than it should, which makes the speed for that second too high.

If the sensor is installed properly, according to the directions included with the sensor installation kit, then you won't see problems like this. But it is easy to make little mistakes installing the kits. Make sure all of the connections are well made. If you use terminal blocks, make sure the screws are tight on the terminal block and that the wires are crimped properly to the spade lugs. Sometimes re-routing the wires will reduce the amount of noise coupling into the cables.

How can you avoid noisy sensor problems?

First, make sure you install the sensor kit properly. Follow the directions carefully.

Second, test the sensor before you collect any critical data. A good way to test the sensor is simply to drive around with the TDC connected to the sensor. Set the TDC to Travel Time mode as if you were doing a run. The

Travel Time Study Run:01 Link:01 Dist=0843 Speed=27 07:12:52 L Key = 12

T6.8 TDC Display

Summary

display shows the current speed, among other things, as shown in the image here. The speed display usually lags a little bit when you speed up or slow down, but it should track the speedometer on the car fairly closely. You shouldn't see wild variations in the speed; this may be an indication of a problem with the sensor.

There is a good chance that you will never need to edit your sensor data. Usually the data coming into the TDC is very clean. However, it is nice to know that if you do develop a noisy sensor, or a bad connection, or whatever causes the data to have spikes or jitter, that you have a way to clean up the data so that you can use the data to produce accurate travel time studies. Don't ignore the source of these problems even though you can clean them up in the software. Find the cause of the problem so you won't have to use this option at all.

Tutorial 7 - How to Export Statistics to a Spreadsheet

PC-Travel has extensive report options but some users may want to be able to generate their own reports or use the data calculated by the software in another program. To help these users, the software has an Export to



Spreadsheet option, which allows you to export the study and/or run statistics into one of two file formats: a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet file (.xls), or a generic tab delimited text file which can be used with most spreadsheet, database, or custom designed programs. This tutorial will show you how to export a study using a sample study included with the software.

1 – Run PC-Travel and select **Open Existing Study** from the Startup Option screen.

2 – Navigate to the Study Group Sample Files and select the BAND-OUT study.

3 – Select **Export to Spreadsheet** from the **File** menu in the **Study Summary** screen (see Figure T6.9).

You will then see the screen shown in figure T7.2 below.



Figure T7.2 — Export to Spreadsheet Options Screen

There are several parts to this screen, and each part will be explained in the next few sections. This screen allows you to choose the destination folder for the spreadsheet files, the base name of the two spreadsheet files you can create, as well as choose which study and run statistics to export. For example, if you aren't interested in the fuel and emissions statistics then you don't have to include them in the exported data.

Figure T7.1 — Export Selection

Export Path

The window on the left side of the screen shows the familiar folder tree which is used in many of the screens in PC-Travel. The current export path folder is highlighted *(the folder icon is shown in an open position)*. This is the folder where the exported spreadsheet files will be stored. The text box window labeled **Export Path** at the top of the screen shows the complete path to this folder. You cannot edit this text window, it simply shows you the path to the folder that is highlighted in the tree.

The default value is the value stored in the Preferences screen. If you change the export path, then the new path will become the default path the next time you run PC-Travel.

You can set the path to point to any folder on your computer. However, the folder you want must already exist; you can't create a new folder on this screen. Simply navigate to the folder you want to use on the tree and then click on the folder. The name in the Export Path text box will change to show the new path.

For this tutorial, just keep reading. Don't change the export path.

Export File Base Name

The Export to Spreadsheet normally creates two separate files, one for the study statistics and one for the run statistics. Each file will have the same base name (*the first part of the file name*). The study statistics file will be named *Base Name-Study Stats*. The run statistics file will be named *Base Name-Run Stats*.

The default base name is the name of the study. This is shown in the text box labeled **Export File Base Name** when you first see the screen. You can edit the base name to anything you want if you don't want to use the study name. Just click in the text box and edit the name as desired. However, for this tutorial, we'll accept the default name, so just leave it alone.

Select Items to Include in Export

We tried to give you as much flexibility as possible when exporting study and run stats. To that end you can select only those statistics you want to include with the exported data. You can select which study stats to include, you can select which run stats to include, and you can select which runs from the study to include.

The first two windows show the eleven statistics that are calculated in PC-Travel. The third window shows the list of runs that are in the current study.

Simply click on the statistic or run name to either select it or de-select it.

The **Select All** and **Clear All** buttons let you select (*with a check*) or clear (*no check*) all of the statistics or runs in that window.

If you are following along with the tutorial: the Export Path and Export File Base Name are set to the default values displayed when you first see this screen. Let's suppose we want all of the statistics included in the exported files. Click on the three Select All buttons so that there are checks next to each statistic and run name. Now click Create.

Note: The software remembers which statistics you selected and will place checks on those stats the next time you display this screen. If you rarely want to include fuel or emissions stats, for example, you won't have to check or uncheck the stats each time you export data. Since the number of runs varies from study to study, the run information is not stored; the software assumes you want to include all of the runs in the run stats and sets the check marks accordingly.

Node #	Length	Node Names	Travel Time	# of Stops	Avg Speed	Total Delay	Time <= 0 MPH	Time <= ` 10 MPH	Time <= 30 MPH	Fue (gals
1	0	[Start]								
2	800	Mainland	14.3	0.0	38.1	2.2	0.0	0.0	2.2	0.007
3	1648	Guilbeau	40.5	0.5	27.7	15.8	4.3	8.0	19.8	0.017
4	2597	Bresnahan/Mistic	64.2	0.5	27.6	24.5	10.5	14.3	26.5	0.046
5	2523	Braun	45.7	0.2	37.7	7.3	0.8	1.5	6.5	0.040
6	2392	[End]	36.2	0.0	45.1	-1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.020
Total	9960	0	200.8	1.2	33.8	48.8	15.7	23.8	55.0	0.13
• }un St	atsTo Exp	port								•
∢ Run Sta Node #	atsTo Exp Length	oort Node Names	BAND0 03/02 14:5)UT1 2/91 55 prel	BANDO 03/02/ 15:0	UT2 B /91 5 rel	ANDOUT: 03/02/91 15:13 [Before]	3 BAND 03/0 15)OUT4)2/91 :22 fore1	BAI - 03
∢ Run St Node #	atsTo Exp Length Time	oort Node Names	BAND0 03/02 14:5 [Befo	0UT1 2/91 55 pre]	BANDO 03/02, 15:0 [Befo	UT2 B /91 5 re]	ANDOUT: 03/02/91 15:13 [Before]	3 BAND 03/0 15 [Be	00UT4)2/91 :22 fore]	BAI 03 [F
∢ Run Sta Node # Travel 1	atsTo Exp Length Time O	Node Names	BAND0 03/02 14:5 [Befo)UT1 2/91 55 pre]	BANDO 03/02, 15:0 [Befo	UT2 B /91 5 re]	ANDOUT: 03/02/91 15:13 [Before]	3 BAND 03/0 15 [Be	00UT4)2/91 :22 fore]	BAI A
Cravel	atsTo Exp Length Time 0 800	oort Node Names [Start] Mainland	BAND0 03/02 14:5 [Befo)UT1 2/91 55 pre]	BANDO 03/02. 15:0 [Befo 15	UT2 B /91 5 re]	ANDOUT: 03/02/91 15:13 [Before] 12	3 BAND 03/0 15 [Be	00UT4)2/91 :22 fore]	BAI 03
Iun St. Node #	atsTo Exp Length Time 0 800 1648	Node Names Node Names [Start] Mainland Guilbeau	BANDC 03/02 14:5 [Befo 12 25	0UT1 2/91 55 ore]	BANDO 03/02. 15:0 [Befo 15 40	UT2 B /91 5 re]	ANDOUT3 03/02/91 15:13 [Before] 12 48	3 BAND 03/0 15 (Be	20UT4)2/91 :22 fore] 20 27	BAI 03
Kun St. Node # Travel 1 2 3 4	atsTo Exp Length Time 0 800 1648 2597	Node Names Node Names [Start] Mainland Guilbeau Bresnahan/Mistic	BANDO 03/02 14:5 [Befo 12 25 111)UT1 ;/91 55 pre] B	BANDO 03/02, 15:0 [Befo 15 40 51	UT2 B /91 5 re]	ANDOUT3 03/02/91 15:13 [Before] 12 48 56	3 BAND 03/0 15 [Be 2 2 4	20UT4)2/91 :22 fore] 20 27 13	BAI 03
Aun Sta Node # Travel 1 2 3 4 5	atsTo Exp Length Time 0 800 1648 2597 2523	Node Names Node Names [Start] Mainland Guilbeau Bresnahan/Mistic Braun	BAND0 03/02 14:5 [Befo 12 25 114 41	0UT1 2/91 55 5re] 8	BANDO 03/02, 15:0 [Befo 15 40 51 55	UT2 B /91 5 re]	ANDOUT3 03/02/91 15:13 [Before] 12 48 56 42	3 BAND 03/0 15 [Bei 2 2 4 5	20UT4)2/91 :22 fore] 20 27 13 50	BAI a

Figure T7.3 — Export to Spreadsheet Statistics

Figure T7.3 shows the results after you clicked the **Create** button on the previous screen. The software creates two spreadsheets; the Study Stats are shown in the upper window and the Run Stats are shown in the lower window. Only the stats you selected are shown. You can scroll through the two spreadsheets to make sure you have included everything you meant to include (and just as important, haven't included stats you didn't want).

The **Study Stats To Export** format is essentially identical to the format you see in the other parts of the software where the study stats are shown, specifically the View Study Stats option and the Overall Study Stats report option. The nodes are listed down the screen. The various statistics go across the screen. These are the averages over all of the runs in the study. The last line shows the totals.

The **Run Stats To Export** format is a little different from other parts of the software. The top of the spreadsheet shows the name, date, time, and type (*Before or After*) for each run selected for export. Below this, each run statistic selected has a section where the nodes are listed down the screen and the stats for that node are shown going across the screen, under the appropriate run. If you selected all 11 run stats then there will be 11 sections going down the screen. Each section is labeled to show what statistic is shown.

There are three buttons at the bottom of the screen:

Cancel	Click this to exit this screen, either after you have exported the files you want, or if you realize you made a mistake and don't want to export files yet.
Export to Tab File	Click this if you want to create tab delimited text files.
Export to Excel File	Click this if you want to create Excel files.

3.42

For tutorial followers: Click both of the Export... buttons. The software creates the appropriate files and displays a message confirming the export files were created successfully. If there is a problem with the export, then an error message is displayed.

Study & Run Stats: Excel Format

Node	Length	Node Names	Travel	# of	Avg	Total	Time <=	Time <=	Time <=	Fuel	HC	CO	NOz
			Time	Stops	Speed	Delay	0 MPH	10 MPH	30 MPH	(gals)	(gr)	(gr)	(gr)
1	0	[Start]											
2	800	Mainland	14.3	0.0	38.1	2.2	0.0	0.0	2.2	0.0073	0.6491	8.4385	0.3933
3	1648	Guilbeau	40.5	0.5	27.7	15.8	4.3	8.0	19.8	0.0178	1.7398	17.4961	1.1285
4	2597	Bresnahan/Mis	64.2	0.5	27.6	24.5	10.5	14.3	26.5	0.0469	3.9732	59.8937	2.6248
5	2523	Braun	45.7	0.2	37.7	7.3	0.8	1.5	6.5	0.0463	3.8942	66.6312	2.6939
6	2392	[End]	36.2	0.0	45.1	-1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0202	1.6078	23.1407	0.9634
Total	9960		200.8	1.2	33.8	48.8	15.7	23.8	55.0	0.1385	11.8640	175.6002	7.8038

Node	Length	Node Names	BANDOUT1	BANDOUT2	BANDOUT3	BANDOUT4	BANDOUT5	BANDOUT6
			03/02/91	03/02/91	03/02/91	03/02/91	03/02/91	03/02/91
			14:55	15:05	15:13	15:22	15:31	15:40
			[Before]	[Before]	[Before]	[Before]	[Before]	[Before]
Travel	Time							8
1	0	[Start]						
2	800	Mainland	12	15	12	20	12	15
3	1648	Guilbeau	25	40	48	27	42	61
4	2597	Bresnahan/Mistic	118	51	56	43	61	56
5	2523	Braun	41	55	42	50	39	47
6	2392	[End]	33	39	36	38	34	37
Total	9960	1	229	200	194	178	188	216
Numbe	r of Sto	ps						
1	0	[Start]						
2	800	Mainland	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	1648	Guilbeau	0	0	1	0	1	1
4	2597	Bresnahan/Mistic	2	0	0	0	1	0
5	2523	Braun	0	1	0	0	0	0
6	2392	[End]	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total	9960	1	2	1	1	0	2	1
			2					

Figure T7.4 Study Stats in Excel

Figure T7.5 Run Stats in Excel

The two figures shown above display how the study and run stats that were exported in Excel format look when opened in Excel. You need to clean up the formatting of the cells a bit before they look exactly like this, but presumably you know how to do this *(probably much better than we do)*. As you can see, you get a pretty faithful duplication of the spreadsheets shown on the screen.

What you do with the data from this point on is completely up to you. We would be interested in learning what you do with this data that we don't do in the PC-Travel software. If you come up with something you wish were incorporated into the regular software, please let us know.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
1	Node	Length	Node Names	Travel	# of	Avg	Total	Time <=	Time <=	Time <=	Fuel	HC	CO	NOx
2	#	C:	AN RE THE R	Time	Stops	Speed	Delay	0 MPH	10 MPH	30 MPH	(gals)	(gr)	(gr)	(gr)
3	1	0	[Start]				2 85 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1				1.08071 222			
4	2	800	Mainland	14.3	0	38.1	2.2	0	0	2.2	0.0073	0.6491	8.4385	0.3933
5	3	1648	Guilbeau	40.5	0.5	27.7	15.8	4.3	8	19.8	0.0178	1.7398	17.4961	1.1285
6	4	2597	Bresnahan/Mistic	64.2	0.5	27.6	24.5	10.5	14.3	26.5	0.0469	3.9732	59.8937	2.6248
7	5	2523	Braun	45.7	0.2	37.7	7.3	0.8	1.5	6.5	0.0463	3.8942	66.6312	2.6939
8	6	2392	[End]	36.2	0	45.1	-1	0	0	0	0.0202	1.6078	23.1407	0.9634
9	Total	9960		200.8	1.2	33.8	48.8	15.7	23.8	55	0.1385	11.864	175.6	7.8038

Figure T7.8 — Study Stats in Tab Delimited Format Opened in Excel

1	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1	Node	Length	Node Names	BANDOUT1	BANDOUT2	BANDOUT3	BANDOUT4	BANDOUT5	BANDOUT6
2	#			03/02/1991	03/02/1991	03/02/1991	03/02/1991	03/02/1991	03/02/1991
3				14:55	15:05	15:13	15:22	15:31	15:40
4				[Before]	[Before]	[Before]	[Before]	[Before]	[Before]
5	Travel 7	Time							
6	1	0	[Start]						l
7	2	800	Mainland	12	15	12	20	12	15
8	3	1648	Guilbeau	25	40	48	27	42	61
9	4	2597	Bresnahan/Mistic	118	51	56	43	61	56
10	5	2523	Braun	41	55	42	50	39	47
11	6	2392	[End]	- 33	39	36	38	34	37
12	172		Not solvedak						0
13	Total	9960		229	200	194	178	188	216
14									
15	Numbe	er of Stops							
16	1	0	[Start]						1
17	2	800	Mainland	0	0	0	0	0	0
18	3	1648	Guilbeau	0	0	1	0	1	1
19	4	2597	Bresnahan/Mistic	2	0	0	0	1	0
20	5	2523	Braun	0	1	0	0	0	0
21	6	2392	[End]	. 0	0	0	. 0	0	0
22									
23	Total	9960		2	1	1	0	2	শ

Figure T7.9 — Run Stats in Tab Delimited Format Opened in Excel

The two figures shown above show how the study and run stats that were exported in tab delimited text file format look when opened in Excel (*I know, if you are going to use Excel you would probably use the Excel format. However, we don't have another spreadsheet program to use as an example so use your imagination*). You need to clean up the formatting of the cells a bit before they look exactly like this, but presumably you know how to do this (*probably much better than we do*).

You can also use the tab delimited text file format files in other programs, such as database programs or programs that you write yourself in C++ or Visual Basic.

What you do with the data from this point on is completely up to you. We would be interested in learning what you do with this data that we don't do in the PC-Travel software. If you come up with something you wish were incorporated into the regular software, please let us know.

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Adding Maps to PC-Travel

One of the best new features in PC-Travel version 2 is support for maps. If you collect data with GPS receivers then the latitude and longitude information from the GPS receiver is stored with the other data and can be used to show your data on a map of the streets in your area. You can edit the run data and trim the start and/or end of the runs, you can insert or remove nodes, and you can move data points if they are plotted in the wrong spot. (See Tutorial 2 for an introduction to the mapping features in PC-Travel.)

To do all this you need maps of your area in the proper format in the proper folders on your computer. There are several ways to accomplish this depending on several factors. This Appendix will attempt to show you a few of the more common ways to get the street maps ready for PC-Travel.

PC-Travel currently supports two GIS modes, **MapPoint** and **ArcGIS Shapefile**. You select between these two modes in the **Preferences** screen.

MapPoint Mode:



This is the simplest way to get maps into PC-Travel. MapPoint is the GIS software sold by Microsoft. When installed on your computer it has street maps for all of North America. The maps are very good and are as current as any other street maps you can buy, and better than most. The current version is MapPoint 2006, which sells for about \$250, but can often be found for considerably less. There is an older version called MapPoint 2004. This works just as well but the maps, reasonably enough, are not as up-to-date as the current version. If you have relatively new roads in your area then they may not be in the 2004 edition. You can often find MapPoint 2004 on the Internet (try Amazon.com or eBay.com) for \$50 or less. MapPoint 2008 (or 2009, there is some confusion about this) is scheduled for release in late July 2008. It will have the most current maps you can find. Once the new version is released the MapPoint 2006 version will probably be discounted.

If you buy and install some version of MapPoint on the same computer as PC-Travel then that is all you have to do. Set the **GIS Mode** to **MapPoint** in the **Preferences** screen and the software will show your maps as needed.

ArcGIS Shapefile Mode:



The second GIS mode in PC-Travel is called ArcGIS Shapefile because the map files used are in the shapefile format used by ArcGIS from ESRI, which is the most common GIS platform used by the customers who might want to use PC-Travel. There are other GIS programs in use to be sure, but ArcGIS is by far the most common.

The ArcGIS shapefile format has become so much of a standard that it is supported by other programs, including the Census Bureau and other companies that supply street map files, as we will see in the next section of this Appendix.

This mode is considerably more complicated, but if you carefully follow the steps shown here then you will be able to create the proper map files you need without the expense of MapPoint.

There are two common scenarios that will be discussed next, one if you have ArcGIS now and therefore have access to the streetmaps you need, and one if you don't have ArcGIS and need to get the maps in some other manner.

A.2

Scenario 1: You Currently Have ArcGIS

ArcGIS is so common in the traffic industry that there is a good chance someone in your organization has it. If they do and it is relatively recent version then you should be ok. The current version is ArcGIS 9.2, which is the version the steps shown here assume. Other versions may require somewhat different steps.

There are three steps in this process:

- 1- Use ArcGIS to create the shapefiles for the area you want to support in PC-Travel.
- 2- Use TatukGIS Viewer to re-format the shapefiles so they look good on the map.
- 3- Copy the re-formatted shapefiles to the Maps folder in PC-Travel.

Create Shapefiles

ArcGIS comes with a media kit that includes several DVDs. One is called Streetmap USA. Put this in your DVD drive of your computer. Open an Explorer view so you can navigate around the contents of the DVD. Open the DDA folder. You will see a screen similar to Figure A1.1.



Figure A1.1 Contents of StreetMap USA DVD

Double click on the DDA_Arc.exe file to run it. This is the **Data Distribution Application (DDA)** program to use if you have ArcGIS installed on your computer. This is the ESRI program we will use to pick the area of interest and create the shapefiles for that area.

The **DDA** program will load on your computer. Initially the middle of the screen will be blank.

Click on File and then **Open** in the menu at the top of the screen.

Click on the the **USA** folder to open it if it isn't already open.

Select StreetMap USA.mxd from the list of files.



At this point your screen should look like Figure A1.2

Open		P 🔀				
Look m. 🔛 us		👿 O 🕈 🖻 🖬 🕶				
Precent Precen	Kapround stor dro drahats er estentag_usa ns estentag_usa A Base Map.mad A Thematic Maps.mxd					
My Network Places File of	ma SheetMan USA mod	14	Dee			
	ine Cootting Corona		Spen			

Figure A1.2 StreetMapUSA.mxd Ready To Open

Now click on **Open**.

A map of the USA opens. Now you want to zoom in to the area where you will do your travel time studies. Use the Zoom tool in the tool bar to do this. Give some thought to the area you select. If you pick too large an area you will spend extra timing zooming into the area of your studies; this isn't a big deal but it is something to consider. Make sure the area you pick will show all of the studies you are likely to do; you will have to redo this procedure if you want to expand the area at a later date.



Figure A1.3 Select Map Area

In this example the map is zoomed to the greater Tampa, FL area.

Note: you can change the size of the window to get the map to show exactly what you want to show.

In this case a 'squarish' window shows the proper area, so the window was shaped accordingly. Whatever is visible in the window is what will be extracted to the shape files.
The next step is to set the **Extraction Options**.

Click on **File:Extract** from the menu at the top of the screen. This opens the **Extraction Options** screen.

The Select Extraction Boundaries should be set to By Current Extent.

The Select Output Format should be set to ESRI Shapefile (shp).

Enter a name into the **File Name** field in the **File Name Properties** section. Pick a name that describes the area you selected on the map. In this case we might enter **Tampa-**.

Note: Enter a dash ("-") at the end of the name you enter. The DDA will create many files, most beginning with the name you enter here and ending with a name that represents the feature stored in that shape file. The dash makes it a little easier to read the file names created.

Set **Select Output Directory** to *C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Maps\Temp*. This folder was created when you installed PC-Travel. There are some .ini files in the folder that will be used later to edit the shapefiles created here.

You should have a screen that looks similar to Figure A1.4.

Click on the Extract button.



The DDA will extract the data and create the shapefiles. This can take quite a while (tens of minutes often, but not hours). The software shows a status window to let you know how it is doing. When it is done the program closes. You can put the DVD back in its case; you won't need it again (at least until you have to repeat this procedure for another area).

We now have a folder of shapefiles for the study area. The next step is to modify the shapefiles so the roads, highways, rivers, lakes, parks, etc. on the maps look nice.

Appendix 1 - Adding Maps To PC-Travel

A.5



The list of shapefiles extracted by the DDA is quite extensive. A map in ArcGIS, like the one in Figure A1.3, is

■ Tampa-Streets (Detailed) .lyr	LYR File	25 KB
Tampa-Streets (Local).lyr	LYR File	23 KB
Tampa-streets.dbf	DBF File	25,57
Tampa-streets.prj	PRJ File	1 KB
Tampa-streets.shp	SHP File	4,635
Tampa-streets.shp.xml	XML Docu	165 KB
Tampa-streets.shx	SHX File	385 KB
Tampa-Urban Areas (Regional).lyr	LYR File	20 KB
Tampa-Urban Areas (State).lyr	LYR File	19 KB
Tampa-urban.dbf	DBF File	1 KB
Tampa-urban.prj	PRJ File	1 KB
Tampa-urban.shp	SHP File	86 KB
Tampa-urban.shp.xml	XML Docu	150 KB
Tampa-urban.shx	SHX File	1 KB
Tampa-urban_dtl.dbf	DBF File	1 KB
Tampa-urban_dtl.prj	PRJ File	1 KB
Tampa-urban_dtl.shp	SHP File	5 KB
Tampa-urban_dtl.shp.xml	XML Docu	143 KB
Tampa-urban_dtl.shx	SHX File	1 KB

Fig A1.5 Shape Files

made up of many layers. Each layer is a different *feature* on the map. A feature might be the street system, or the highway system, or rivers, or lakes, or parks, or city, state, or county boundaries, or many other things. Each feature when extracted is a separate shapefile. Actually the term shapefile is a bit misleading. Each shapefile is composed of several different files, each of which contain different data for that feature. One of the files has an extension of .shp, which is the shapefile, but the other files are equally important. Figure A1.5 shows some examples of the files that were extracted from the map shown in Figure A1.3.

It is not important that you understand what the various files do and how they work together. Just remember that any software that works with shapefiles, like PC-Travel, must work with all of these files and they all need to be in the same folder. Be careful if you move or delete any files in

the group. Usually it is better to move all of them at once or leave them alone.

The extracted shapefiles have all of the information we need to display on a map, but the information on how the various features should look (what colors they should be, how wide the lines should be, whether areas should be filled with a color or not), is not there. We could display these shapefiles, but the map would just have thin black lines, which would not look good. Fortunately, however, there is a relatively simple way to make these shapefiles display in an attractive and informative manner on our maps.

TatukGIS Viewer

The GIS engine used in PC-Travel to display shapefiles is made by a Romanian company called TatukGIS. This software integrates into Visual Basic, which is the software used to write PC-Travel. TatukGIS allows programs written in Visual Basic to display maps, interact with the maps, print the maps, and a host of other map related operations. What is nice about this software is that there is no runtime license required, which means that when you buy PC-Travel you don't have to worry about licensing the GIS engine as well. This isn't true for other GIS programs that work with Visual Basic. TatukGIS supports shapefiles natively, which makes it easy to use.

TatukGIS makes a program called **TatukGIS Viewer** which is free for anyone to download and use. Among its many features is the ability to add *symbology* to shapefiles. What this means is you can use the software to decide how different features look when displayed on maps. We will use TatukGIS Viewer to edit the shapefiles extracted by the DDA so that they look good on maps.

Install TatukGIS Viewer

If you ordered the PC-Travel CD when you bought PC-Travel then the install program for TatukGIS Viewer is in the TatukGIS folder on the CD.

If you don't have the CD, then you can download the TatukGIS Viewer install program from the www.pc-travel.com support site.

The installation is a standard Windows type install. Run the installer program and follow the directions. Normally there is no reason not to accept all of the default values. For convenience you should install TatukGIS Viewer on the same computer where you have PC-Travel.

Once you have installed TatukGIS Viewer you can follow the procedure in the next section to edit the shapefiles.

Edit Shapefile Properties

Note: These directions assume you have followed the procedures in the previous section and have a list of files in the C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Maps\Temp folder. There also should be seven .ini files in that folder that were installed when you installed PC-Travel. Seven of these .ini files start with ArcGIS. An example is ArcGIShighways.ini.



Run TatukGIS Viewer. You will see a screen similar to Figure A1.6.

Figure A1.6 TatukGIS Viewer - New Project

Note: If a map is displayed then click on File:New Project to clear the screen. If the Legend panel is not visible then click View:Panels:Legend.

Of the many layers that were created by the DDA program there are seven we want to add to the new project. These are the layers that have the most interesting features for our application. Obviously we want to show streets and highways. But other features help make the maps look more attractive and useful. Each layer will be added to the project and then the properties for that layer will be loaded from a prepared .ini file. The order you load the layers is important so follow the sequence shown.

- 1- Click on Layer:Add in the menu at the top of the screen.
- 2- Navigate to the C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Maps\Temp\ folder.
- 3- Select *x-world30.shp* where *x* is the file name you used in the DDA program for your files.
- 4- Click **Open**. This brings up a large grey rectangle which is the background for the map.
- 5- Click on Layer:Load layer properties in the menu.
- 6- Select ArcGIS-world30.ini from the list. The rectangle changes to a light grey color.
- 1- Click on Layer:Add in the menu at the top of the screen.
- 2- Navigate to the C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Maps\Temp\ folder.
- 4- Select *x-laIndmrk.shp* where *x* is the file name you used in the DDA program for your files.
- 5- Click Open. This probably will bring up lots of little areas on the map.
- 6- Click on the new layer name (x-laIndmrk) in the Legend box on the side of the screen.
- 7- Click on Layer:Load layer properties in the menu.
- 8- Select ArcGIS-landmarks.ini from the list. The little areas change to a light green color.

Note: Step 6 is highlighted because it is the step that is most often missed. You have to select the layer you want to edit before you load an .ini file.

A.8

At this point your screen will look something like Figure A1.7. Not very interesting yet, but it will get better.



Figure A1.7 Project After 2 Layers Added

Follow the same eight steps shown on the previous page for the following layers in the order shown:

Layer Name	INI File
x-parks.shp	ArcGIS-parks.ini
x-md_riv.shp	ArcGIS-md_riv.ini
x-md_wat.shp	ArcGIS-md_wat.ini
x-streets.shp	ArcGIS-streets.ini
x-highways.shp	ArcGIS-highways.ini

Remember to substitute the proper shape file name and INI File at the appropriate times. Remember to select the proper layer in step 6 before loading the .ini file.

When you are done you will have a screen similar to Figure A1.8



Figure A1.8 Project With All Layers Added

We now have the map looking like a decent map. Your map may look very crowded and busy. That's ok; we will take care of that in the next step.

Load Map Units

The next step is to set the map units so that the software understands how distances are calculated in the layers that are used in the map.



Figure A1.9 Load Map Units

Click on **Map** in the menu at the top of the screen.

Click on Map Units from the drop down box.

Click on the down arrow and select **Decimal Degree** from the long list of options, then click **Ok**.

You probably noticed that the screen greatly simplified

so that all you can see are the major highways on the map. This is because there are settings in the project to decide when to show certain road types on the map. In this case the local roads are only shown when you are zoomed in fairly close. This cuts down on the clutter.

Pick Background Color

The maps look a little better if the background color isn't white; you get a little contrast with the roads and text. It is easy to set the background color.



Figure A1.10 Select Background Color



Figure A1.11 Define Custom Color

Click on **Tools** on the menu at the top of the screen.

Click on **Options** from the drop down list.

Click on the **Map** tab.

Click on the down arrow in the **Colors** section.

This brings up a screen similar to Fig A1.10. You can pick one of the colors shown but most people like a very soft background color. One option is a very light green background. To set this:

Click on the Light Green square on the bottom row so it is highlighted, then click on the **More Colors** button.

Click on the Define Custom Colors button.

You will see a screen like Fig A1.11. On the far right is a graduated color scale that starts at white at the top and progresses down to black at the bottom. The little triangle shows the currently selected color. Click on the arrow and drag it up one or two spots so that the arrow is just below the white section.

Click on the **Add to Custom Colors** button then click on **Ok**. This brings you back to the previous screen.

Click on the **Apply** button and the background of the map should change to the new color. Feel free to experiment to get the color you like. Some people like a light yellow or a light grey. It is up to you.

Save Project File

The last step is to save this project so that PC-Travel can load the proper properties for the layers that are defined here.

Click on File:Save Project As... in the menu at the top of the screen.

Enter a file name for this project. Use the same name you used in the DDA program (but you don't need to add a dash this time). Click **Save**. This saves the project in the Temp folder where all of this work occured.

We also want to save this project in another location, the actual location PC-Travel will look for it.

Click on File:Save Project As... again.

Click on the **Up Folder** icon at the top of the Window, or click the down arrow button in the **Save In:** list box and select the *Maps* folder.

Enter PCT in the File Name text box, then click Save.

This creates a PCT.ttkgp project file in the Maps folder. PC-Travel looks in this folder for the shape files and for the project file that defines the symbology of the layers in the shapefiles.

The last step is to move all of the files except the .ini files in the Temp folder to the Maps folder. These are the files created by the DDA program. Technically you don't have to move all of the files since we don't use all of them, but it is easier to move them all. Use any of the Windows techniques to move the files.

When you are done you should have a lot of files in the Maps folder now and only the .ini files in the Temp folder. Congratulations you have succesfully created maps of your area and formatted them to use in PC-Travel.

Misc Notes:

The procedures shown here are only one way to get to the same result. If you know a better way, please let us know so we can share the information.

The way the map looks is completely adjustable. If you would like to learn how TatukGIS Viewer works and come up with different symbology for the features, then please feel free to experiment. If you come up with some looks you like, let us know and we will share them with others on the **www.pc-travel.com** website.

You can extend the ideas in this tutorial to include other layers that are generated in the DDA. We tried to use the fewest number of layers as possible to make the procedure as simple as possible. You can **Add** other layers and define the symbology, just make sure you save your project as PCT and copy it to the **Maps** folder.

A.10

A.11

Scenario 2: You Don't Have ArcGIS

If you don't have ArcGIS, or even if you have ArcGIS but don't have easy access to the data, you still can get the maps you need without too much trouble, and you can get them for free!

The key to this magic is the US Government, which provides Census Data free of charge. Part of this data include TIGER files which contains geographic and cartographic data of the entire country. Very recently (March 2008) the format for these files was changed to the very same shapefile format we want. These files are now called TIGER/Line Shapefiles and can be downloaded for free from the Internet.

This makes our task much simpler. This section of the tutorial will show you how to download the shapefiles for your area and then how to add the symbology to make the shapefiles look good on maps.

Download Shapefiles

A.12

Go to http://www.census.gov/geo/www/tiger/tgrshp2007/tgrshp2007.html (or Google 2007 TIGER/Line Shapefiles). This site has more information than you would ever want or need to know about TIGER shapefiles.



Figure A1.12 Select State

Click on the **Download TIGER/Line Shapefiles** link about 2/3 of the way down the page. This brings up the screen shown in Figure A1.12.

Select your state from the drop down list, then click on the **submit** button.

You will see a similar screen where you can select the County of the data you want from the drop down list. Click on the **submit** button.

Note: All TIGER/Line Shapefiles are organized by County. That is the smallest area you can download.



Figure A1.13 Select Shapefiles To Download

This brings up the screen shown in Figure A1.13. This is the list of all of the shapefiles that are available. We only need the first two, **All Lines** and **Area Hydrography.**

First click on **All Lines**. You will see a message asking if you want to **Open or Save** the file. Select **Save** then click **Ok**. Then navigate to the **C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Maps** folder and click on **Save**.

Do the same thing for Area Hydrography.

You now should have two zip files in the Maps folder.

Unzip Downloaded Files

Open a Windows Explorer window and navigate to the **Maps** folder where you stored the zip files. Unzip them into the same folder. You can delete the zip files if you wish; you won't need them again. You will have a list of files similar to what is shown in Figure A1.14.

Name +	Туре	Size	Date Modified
ArcGIS-highways.ini	Configuration Settings	3 KB	5/24/2008 10:0
ArcGIS-Indmark.ini	Configuration Settings	3 KB	5/24/2008 10:0
ArcGIS-md_riv.ini	Configuration Settings	3 KB	5/24/2008 10:0
ArcGIS-md_wat.ini	Configuration Settings	3 KB	5/25/2008 11:2
ArcGIS-park.ini	Configuration Settings	3 KB	5/24/2008 10:0
ArcGIS-streets.ini	Configuration Settings	3 KB	5/24/2008 10:0
ArcGIS-world30.ini	Configuration Settings	3 KB	5/24/2008 10:0
d fe_2007_12057_areawater.dbf	DBF File	1,800	2/28/2008 10:5
d fe_2007_12057_areawater.pr	PRJ File	1 KB	2/28/2008 10:5
de_2007_12057_areawater.shp	SHP File	9,770	2/28/2008 10:5
Fe_2007_12057_areawater.shp.xml	XML Document	17 KB	2/28/2008 10:5
d fe_2007_12057_areawater.shx	SHX File	86 KB	2/28/2008 10:5
d fe_2007_12057_edges.dbf	DBF File	22,68	2/28/2008 10:5
de_2007_12057_edges.prj	PRJ File	1 KB	2/28/2008 10:5
de 2007 12057 edges.shp	SHP File	18,36	2/28/2008 10:5
d fe_2007_12057_edges.shp.xml	XML Document	42 KB	2/28/2008 10:5
Ife 2007 12057 edges.shx	SHX File	757 KB	2/28/2008 10:5
Tiger2007-AllLines.ini	Configuration Settings	15 KB	5/27/2008 12:0
Tiger2007-AreaWater.ini	Configuration Settings	5 KB	5/27/2008 12:0

Fig A1.14 List of Shapefiles

Note: There are some .ini files in the folder starting with ArcGIS and with Tiger2007. These were copied when PC-Travel was installed. We will use the Tiger2007 ini files in this section.

There are two sets of shapefiles in the folder. The shapefiles have a very specific naming convention.

A typical file name might be fe_2007_12057_edges00.*.

The **fe** shows that this is a Census Bureau file. The **2007** is the version of the files. The **12057** identifies the geographic extent of the file. **edges** is the layer type. **00** indicates that the file contains Census 2000 geography.

Note: If the 00 is not present then the file contains current geography, which is good. This means the data in the file is the most current available. If you do have 00 in the file, then you should occasionally check the www.census.gov site shown earlier to see if your files have been updated. The governement is trying to get all of the data up to date as fast as possible but you know how governments are...

TatukGIS Viewer

The GIS engine used in PC-Travel to display shapefiles is made by a Romanian company called TatukGIS. This software integrates into Visual Basic, which is the software used to write PC-Travel. TatukGIS allows programs written in Visual Basic to display maps, interact with the maps, print the maps, and a host of other map related operations. What is nice about this software is that there is no runtime license required, which means that when you buy PC-Travel you don't have to worry about licensing the GIS engine as well. This isn't true for other GIS programs that work with Visual Basic. TatukGIS supports shapefiles natively, which makes it easy to use.

TatukGIS makes a program called **TatukGIS Viewer** which is free for anyone to download and use. Among its many features is the ability to add *symbology* to shapefiles. What this means is you can use the software to decide how different features look when displayed on maps. We will use TatukGIS Viewer to edit the shapefiles downloaded from the Census Bureau so that they look good on maps.

Install TatukGIS Viewer

If you ordered the PC-Travel CD when you bought PC-Travel then the install program for TatukGIS Viewer is in the TatukGIS folder on the CD. If you don't have the CD, then you can download the TatukGIS Viewer install program from the **www.pc-travel.com** support site. Look on the **Downloads** page in the Utilities section.

The installation is a standard Windows type install. Run the installer program and follow the directions. Normally there is no reason not to accept all of the default values. For convenience you should install TatukGIS Viewer on the same computer where you have PC-Travel.

Once you have installed TatukGIS Viewer you can follow the procedure in the next section to edit the shapefiles.



Edit Shapefile Properties

Note: These directions assume you have followed the procedures in the previous section and have the shapefiles in the C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Maps folder. There also should be two .ini files in the Temp folder that were installed when you installed PC-Travel: Tiger2007-AllLines.ini and Tiger2007-AreaWater.ini.

Run TatukGIS Viewer. You will see a screen similar to Figure A1.15.



Figure A1.15 TatukGIS Viewer Screen

Note: If a map is displayed then click on File:New Project to clear the screen. If the Legend panel is not visible then click View:Panels:Legend.

Each shapefile is loaded as a separate layer to the map. Each layer will be added to the project and then the properties for that layer will be loaded from a prepared .ini file. The order you load the layers is important so follow the sequence shown.

- 1- Click on Layer:Add in the menu at the top of the screen.
- 2- Navigate to the C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Maps\ folder.
- 3- Select *x-AreaWater.shp* where *x* is the prefix of the files in your folder.

4- Click **Open**. This usually brings up lots of grey areas. These are all of the water areas in the county.

5- Click on Layer:Load layer properties in the menu.

6- Navigate to the **Temp** folder and select *Tiger2007-AreaWater.ini* from the list. The areas turn a light blue.

- 1- Click on Layer:Add in the menu at the top of the screen.
- 2- Navigate to the C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Maps\ folder.
- 4- Select *x-edges.shp* where *x* is the prefix of the files in your folder.
- 5- Click **Open**. This brings up lots of thin, black lines.
- 6- Click on the new layer name (x-edges) in the Legend box on the side of the screen.
- 7- Click on Layer:Load layer properties in the menu.
- 8- Go to the **Temp** folder and select *Tiger2007-AllLines.ini*. The lines look more like roads.

Note: Step 6 is highlighted because it is the step that is most often missed. You have to select the layer you want to edit before you load an .ini file.



You now should have a map that looks somewhat like Figure A1.16

Figure A1.16

We now have the map looking like a decent map, although itmay look a cluttered. We will take care of that next.



Load Map Units

Figure A1.17 Load Map Units

The next step is to set the map units so that the software understands how distances are calculated in the layers that are used in the map.

Click on **Map** in the menu at the top of the screen.

Click on **Map Units** from the drop down box.

Click on the down arrow and select **Decimal Degree** from the long list of options, then click **Ok**.

You probably noticed that the screen greatly simplified so that all you can see are the major highways on the map. This is because there are settings in the project to decide when to show certain road types on the map. In this case the local roads are only shown when you are zoomed in fairly close. This cuts down on the clutter.



Pick Background Color

The maps look a little better if the background color isn't white; you get a little contrast with the roads and text. It is easy to set the background color.



Click on **Tools** on the menu at the top of the screen. Click on **Options** from the drop down list. Click on the **Map** tab. Click on the down arrow in the **Colors** section. This brings up a screen similar to Fig A1.18. You can pick one of the colors shown but most people like a very soft background color. One option is a very light green background. To set this: Click on the Light Green square on the bottom row so it is highlighted, then click on the **More Colors** button. Click on the **Define Custom Colors** button.

Figure A1.18 Select Background Color



Figure A1.19 Define Custom Color

You will see a screen like Fig A1.19. On the far right is a graduated color scale that starts at white at the top and progresses down to black at the bottom. The little triangle shows the currently selected color. Click on the arrow and drag it up one or two spots so that the arrow is just below the white section.

Click on the **Add to Custom Colors** button then click on **Ok**. This brings you back to the previous screen.

Click on the **Apply** button and the background of the map should change to the new color.

Feel free to experiment to get the color you like. Some people like a light yellow or a light grey. It is up to you.

Save Project File

The next step is to save this project so that PC-Travel can use it.

Click on **File:Save Project As...** in the menu at the top of the screen.

Enter a file name for this project. PIck a logical name; the name of the County most likely. Click **Save**. This saves the project in the Temp folder where all of this work occured.

We also want to save this project in another location, the actual location PC-Travel will look for it.

Click on File:Save Project As... again.

Enter PCT in the File Name text box, then click Save.

This creates a PCT.ttkgp project file in the Maps folder. PC-Travel looks in this folder for the shape files and for the project file that defines the symbology of the layers in the shapefiles.

When you are done you should have the shape files in the Maps folder now and only the .ini files in the Temp folder. Congratulations you have succesfully created maps of your area and formatted them to use in PC-Travel.

Misc Notes:

The procedures shown here are only one way to get to the same result. If you know a better way, please let us know so we can share the information.

The way the map looks is completely adjustable. If you would like to learn how TatukGIS Viewer works and come up with different symbology for the features, then please feel free to experiment. If you come up with some looks you like, let us know and we will share them with others on the **www.pc-travel.com** website.

If you do make changes then make sure you save both the .ini for the layer you edit, and the project file. Just make sure you save your project as PCT and copy it to the **Maps** folder so PC-Travel will use your version.

Conclusion:

This appendix showed three different ways for you get maps of your area to use in PC-Travel.

First, you can use Microsoft's **MapPoint** software. If you don't already have it, then you can buy it new for about \$230 or for much less if you search on eBay and Amazon for older versions. If you are a college or educational institute then you can get an Academic version for less than \$100. The advanatage of **MapPoint** is it automatically installs street maps for the entire country when you install it; you don't have to worry about the maps at all.

Second, if you have **ArcGIS** in your office, you can use the **Streetmap USA** maps that came with the software, or you can use your own street maps if you can get them exported as shapefiles. Since the way shapefiles look on a map is not stored in the shapefiles themselves you need a way to set the symbology to use. We use a program called **TatukGIS Viewer**, a free program, for this. You saw how to use **TatukGIS Viewer** to create a project file that has the symbology for the maps to make them look like street maps.

Third, if you don't have **MapPoint** or **ArcGIS** you can still easily get the maps you need, and for free! The US Government recently changed the format of the geographic and cartographic files supplied by the Census Bureau to use the same shapefile format we want to use. You saw how to download the shapefiles for your county from the Internet and how to use **TatukGIS Viewer** to create a project file with the symbology we need.

In some ways the third option might be the best. If your county has had the street features realigned (this brings the files up to date and fixes lots of errors in the data from the 2000 census) then these might be the most accurate maps you can find, even better than the maps in ArcGIS or MapPoint. (see the Note on page A1.11).

Finally, please remember that we are not GIS experts; we are trying to provide you with procedures to get maps that will work with PC-Travel, but it is a very complicated field. If you find any better ways to do any of this, please let us know so we can pass on the information to others.

A.18

Appendix 2 - Sensor Installation and Troubleshooting

If you are using a TDC unit to collect travel time data, you must install a Modular Distance Sensor (MDS) in the vehicle to send information to the TDC. Use the following instructions for installation of the MDS.

1. Find a location under the vehicle dashboard that will allow fairly easy access to the MDS. **Do Not** mount the MDS on the heater ducts or where the heater vents will blow directly onto it. Attach the MDS using the nylon ties or Velcro provided.

2. Locate the two wires coming from the Vehicle's Speed Sensor (VSS).

- On most Ford and Chrysler pick-up trucks, the best place is on the rear end differential housing using the rear ABS signal.
- On General Motors pick-up trucks, the best place is the VSS at the transmission.
- On many vehicles (both trucks and autos) you can go to the cruise control signal or to the vehicle ECU which is often located under the dashboard.

(Your local Auto/Truck dealer can usually tell you where the VSS can be located on your vehicle. If you need additional assistance, contact Ridge Engineering.)

3. Route the red and black end of the 20' grey VSS cable through the firewall. This can usually be done by using an existing rubber grommet where other wires pass through the firewall. If you cannot locate an existing hole, **CAREFULLY** drill a small hole large enough for both the VSS cable and the +12Volt/Ground wires. **EXTREME CAUTION** must be taken to insure you do not drill into anything mounted on the opposite side of the firewall or cut any existing wiring.

Use the cable ties provided while routing the cable to the location for getting the speed signal that you previously identified. Attach the red and black wires of the VSS cable to the vehicle's speed sensor wires using the tap splice connectors provided. The **red** wire goes to the high-speed signal wire; the **black** goes to the low speed signal wire.

NOTE: The tap splice connectors are supplied for convenience for initial installation. However, we recommend that once the installation is completed and you have verified the instrument is working properly, remove the tap splice connectors and solder the connections. Insulate using electrical tape or silicone.

4. Plug the connector of the VSS cable into the hole labeled VSS Input located on the right side of the MDS.

5. Route the black telephone-style cable from the jack labelled DMI on the MDS to pigtail jack on the cable connected to the TDC. It does not matter which end of the cable is plugged into the MDS jack or pigtail jack.

6. Route the Red (+12 Volts) and Black (Ground) power cables directly to the vehicle's battery. This can be done using the same feed through location that was used for the VSS Cable. If, out of convenience, you elect to obtain the +12VDC and ground from a fuse panel or other location under the dashboard, **make sure it is a constant 12 volt source** and **not** one that is switched off with the ignition key. We also recommend the circuit should have as few devices as possible to avoid voltage fluctuations from Turn Signals, Brake Lights, etc. Plug the power cable into the hole labeled *Power* on the MDS.

A diagram of the complete installation for the MDS is shown in Figure A2.1.





Figure A2.1 - MDS Installation Diagram

Adjusting the

Vehicle Speed Sensor Pulse Rate

The signal pulses coming from the vehicle speed sensor are generated for use by the vehicle's computer, engine/transmission control, fuel management, ABS brakes, etc. The pulse rate can vary from 4,000 to in excess of 100,000 pulses per mile. The MDS will condition and amplify these pulses for use by the TDC. Since the higher pulse rates are not required for accurate travel time, the MDS incorporates a divider circuit to reduce the pulse rate. This is done by adjusting the rotary switch on the front of the MDS.

Although your particular vehicle may vary, generally Chrysler and Ford vehicles use a 4 to 1 ratio (position 4 on the switch) while General Motors vehicles use a 16 to 1 ratio (position 16 on the switch). To adjust the ratio, use a small screwdriver to rotate the switch until the slot in the switch points to the desired ratio. *Note that when the switch is turned counter-clockwise until it stops, it is at the 1 to 1 ratio.*

The adjustments go from 1 to 1 (1 pulse into the sensor, 1 pulse out) through 64 to 1 (64 pulses into the sensor, 1 pulse out). The Tap Test positions are explained in the next section. You may need to adjust the ratio again based on the results of the calibration procedure described in Chapter 2. Any time you change the pulse ratio, you will need to re-calibrate the TDC.



If Your TDC Fails to Record Pulses

If your TDC fails to record pulses during calibration, perform the following operational checks:

Check 1

Locate the Sensor Test button on the front upper right of the MDS, shown in Figure A2.2. When pressed, this will generate an internal low-level signal that is fed directly into the VSS Input circuit. First, unplug the VSS Input connector from the right side of the MDS. Second, turn on the TDC and set into calibration mode as discussed on page 2.4. Next, using a small pointed object (pen, pencil, screwdriver, etc.) or your finger press the Sensor Test button for a few seconds. The TDC should show pulses when the button is pushed. What number it showed doesn't matter, as long as it did show pulses being received.



Figure A2.2 - Sensor Test

If the TDC did show pulses, everything from the MDS up to the TDC is okay and the problem is most likely either a poor connection at the vehicle's speed sensor or the connection is not at the correct location to get the vehicle speed signal. The speed sensor output is generally at the transmission or the rear differential. If you are unsure about being attached to the correct output, disconnect the plug and move the vehicle. If the speedometer does not function, you have chosen the correct plug wires.

If you are at the correct location, make sure you have a good electrical connection at the tap in point. Once you are sure you tapped into the correct location, it is always better to wire solder the connection.

After checking the connection, plug the VSS Input connector back into the MDS and try the TDC again. If the TDC counts, you can proceed with calibration. If the TDC still does not count, go to Check 2.

Check 2

The Tap Test will determine if the distance pulses being sent from the MDS are getting to, and being processed by, the TDC. The Tap Test is performed using the rotary switch shown in figure A2.3. First make sure you note the current position of the rotary switch (1, 2, 4, 8, 16, 32 or 64), as you will have to return the slot back to this same position after the test is completed.

Next, turn on the TDC and set into calibration mode as discussed on page 2.4. Using a small screwdriver, rotate the switch between the Tap and Test positions four or five times. (Note that when



Figure A2.3 - Tap Test

the switch is turned clockwise until it stops, it is at the Test position.) The TDC should register pulses. The count shown does not matter, just as long as the TDC did register a count. If it did count, the cabling from the MDS to the TDC and the TDC itself are OK. If the TDC did not count, the problem is most likely a bad cable or connection to the TDC, or the TDC itself is bad. If available, try another TDC and repeat the Tap Test. If the second TDC doesn't count, the problem has to be the cabling between the MDS and the TDC.

Once the test is complete, return the Rotary Switch to the previous position.

If the previous steps do not correct the problem, contact us using the information on page iii.

Appendix 3 - Pocket PC Supplement

This supplement provides some additional information on using PDA with the GPS Travel Time software. For current information on what PDAs are supported by the GPS Travel Time software, visit www.gps2traveltime.com.

Pocket PC Installation Procedure

It is a simple process to install GPS2PDA on your Pocket-PC PDA. It is required, though, that you have set up an ActiveSync partnership with your desktop computer. If you are unsure of how to do this, consult the instructions that came with your Pocket-PC PDA.

It is recommended that you place your PPC into its cradle and allow ActiveSync to run prior to starting the installation procedure. The installation software will use ActiveSync to copy the files to your PDA.

Installation from the PC-Travel CD

Place the PC-Travel CD into the CD drive of your PC. The computer should recognize the new cd and show you the Installation Options screen, which includes an *Install GPS Travel Time Software* button. Click this button. On the next screen, click the *Install GPS to PDA for Pocket PC* and the installer wizard will start.

Installation from a Downloaded Installer Program.

If you downloaded the installer program from the GPS2TT web site, or were emailed the installer program, then unzip (you need a program like WinZip to do this) the file into an empty folder on your computer. This results in a file called **GPS2PDA PPC Installer.exe.** Double click on this file to start the install wizard.

PS2PDA		Ł
Pocket PC installation GPS2PDA will be installed on your Pocket PC now		
Thank you for purchasing or evaluating the GPG3PDU Biopporter has astronova to evaluating the GPG3PDU redshares 100 Annual 500 PME tasken time. Markely To get support Cell Dian Garbare et (177) 803-5044 Whan you cell of bio d your compared in their sky interfaces incode E-Mail support-requests to dargingether.com When a monting place to and/gether.com tequested above.	L scôwara anasa hours, through Friday, aase 4 xmation,	
		200700

Figure A3.1 - Welcome

PS2PDA		
License Agreement Please read the following license agreem	ent	
End User License Agreement for GPS2PCA	6	3
(license ogreement goes here)		
I accept the terms in the license agreeme	end	
I do not accept the terms in the license ac	poement	

Figure A3.2 - License Agreement

At the first screen click the **Next** button.

Select the I accept the terms in the licence agreement option and click the **Next** button.

A.21



Figure A3.3 - Installing

 Image: Add/Benomew Program
 Image: Add/Benomew Program

 Image: Add/Benomew Program
 Image: Add/Benom

Figure A3.4 - Installation Complete

Enter Serial Number For GPS2PDA

Once the wizard opens communications to your PPC, it will ask you if you want to save GPS2PDA in its default directory. Click **Yes** if you would like to have GPS2PDA in the main memory of your PPC in the **Program Files** folder. This option is simplest and would be best for most users. Click the No button if you would like to install GPS2PDA on an expansion card. The wizard will then take you to another screen that allows you to choose the location in which you'd like to install GPS2PDA.

This is the final screen in the wizard. Click the **OK** button and check your PDA to see if there are any additional steps you need to take to complete the installation of GPS2PDA. There may not be any further steps, but that will vary depending on what type of PPC you are using.

Now that the program has been installed on your PDA, you need to enter your serial number for GPS2PDA.

GPS2PDA uses a serial number to help prevent unauthorized use of the software. This number must be entered into the software and stored on your PDA. With most Ridge Engineering software you enter the serial number when you install the program. PDAs are a little different so you need to enter the serial number the first time you run the program.

When you first run GPS2PDA, there will not be a serial number in memory, so you will be brought to this screen.



Figure A3.5 - Serial # Bad

Enter the 20 digit serial number that came with the program. If you received a CD from Ridge Engineering, it will be on a label on the back of the CD. When you enter the serial number be sure to include the hyphens (-) between the characters.

Tap on **Check**. The software will check the number you entered to see if it is OK. If there is a problem *(usually an error entering the characters)* then the status message area will be in red, and the message **Serial Number Bad** displayed.

If the serial number checks out OK, then you will see a screen similar to the second screen shown here. The status message area will

now be in green and the message will be the more encouraging *Serial Number OK*. Tap **OK** to store the serial number and go to the Splash Screen.



Figure A3.6 - Serial # Good

Demo Mode

If you downloaded GPS2PDA from the Ridge Engineering website just to try it out, then you can set the software to run in Demo Mode.

Tap on the **Demo** button on this screen. The serial number will change to DEMO-DEMO-DEMO-DEMO.

Tap **OK**. The software will now operate as usual, *except no data will be stored in the database file in the PDA* (*so you can't actually process any data you collect*). You can see exactly how the software will operate on your PDA. This is a good way to tell if that old PDA you have will actually work OK with GPS2PDA.



After you collect the travel time data in the field you need to transfer it your computer so PC-Travel can process the data.



A.24

First, connect your Pocket PC to your computer and let them connect via ActiveSync. If your PPC is already connected, the easiest thing to do is remove it from the cradle then replace it. During the synchronization process, the ActiveSync window will open by itself. Click on the **Explore** icon in the Active-Sync window.

Figure A3.10 - ActiveSync



You are now looking at the *Explore Window* which displays the files and directories on your PPC. Double click on **My Pocket PC**.



Figure A3.12 - Program Files

Now double click on **Program Files**. If you installed GPS2PDA on a storage card *(or any location other than the default directory),* these steps will be slightly different.



Figure A3.13 - Start GPS2PDA

At the next screen, double click on the **GPS2PDA** folder. This is where the software saves your travel time data.



Figure A3.14 - Select GPSData.pdb

The GPS2PDA folder on your PPC will contain, among other things, a file called **GPSData.pdb**. This is the file that contains all of your travel time field data. The point of this exercise is to copy **GPSData.pdb** into the **Field Data Files** folder on your desktop computer.

Leave the GPS2PDA window that you opened through Active-Sync visible while you open the **Field Data Files** folder that is on your desktop computer. PC-Travel's setup program has installed a **Field Data Files** folder in the **PC Travel for Windows** folder. If you're not sure where to find the **PC Travel for Windows** folder, here are the steps in a nutshell:

First, open **My Computer** from your Desktop.

Double click on your **C: Drive**.

Open the **Program Files** folder, then open the **Ridge Engineering** folder.

Open the PC Travel for Windows folder. The Field Data Files folder is under this folder.

Now click again on the **GPS2PDA** window that applies to your PPC.

Click and hold the GPSData.pdb file and drag it into the second PC Travel window that you've opened. This



Figure A3.15 - Move GPSData.pdb

d **PC Travel** window that you've opened. This copies your travel time data from your PDA to the **Field Data Files** folder on your desktop computer. (If you aren't comfortable dragging and dropping files on your computer then you may want to get someone to show you how to do it. Once you do it once or twice it becomes very easy.)

Your field data is now safe and sound on your computer and your PDA is ready to be put back into action in the field. *However, before you try to upload more field data to your computer, you need to run PC-Travel and process your current data.* Keep in mind that you can't rename the **GPSData.pdb** file on your PDA so you must overwrite it every time you synchronize your field data. For a description

of PC-Travel's use in tandem with GPS2PDA, refer back to the main section of this manual.

Appendix 4 - Palm Supplement

Palm OS Software Installation

Installation from the PC-Travel CD

Place the PC-Travel CD into the CD drive of your PC. The computer should recognize the new CD and show you the Installation Options screen, which includes an *Install GPS Travel Time Software* button. Click this button. On the next screen, click the *Install GPS to PDA for Palm* button that is appropriate for your Palm OS. The installer wizard will then start.

Installation from a Downloaded Installer Program.

If you downloaded the installer program from the GPS2TT web site, or were emailed the installer program by Ridge Engineering, then unzip (you need a program like WinZip to do this) the file into an empty folder on your computer. This results in a file called **GPS2PDA Palm Installer.exe.** Double click on this file to start the install wizard.

At the **Welcome Screen**, click the **Cancel** button to quit the wizard if you have any programs currently running. Close the other programs and restart the wizard. If you agree with the copyright warning and you've performed at least one synchronization with your PDA, then click the **Next** button to carry on with your installation.



Figure A4.1 - Welcome

The installation wizard will automatically find any PDA synchronization information that you may have on your computer. If you only have one Palm device set up to HotSync with your computer, then that device is selected automatically. If you have connected more than one Palm PDA to your system, click the down arrow in the box to pick the one on which you'd like to install GPS2PDA. Once the proper Palm device has been selected, click the **Next** button to proceed.

More than one Palm computer. Please select the de GPS2PDA. M105	PDA device was detected on the evice name to which you wish to	iis install

Figure A4.2 - Select Device

Finally, GPS2PDA is ready to be installed on your Palm. The program has been added to HotSync Manager's installation list so that it will be loaded onto your Palm the next time you perform a HotSync. Click the button labeled **Finish** to exit the wizard.



Figure A4.3 - Installation Complete

Installing the GPS2PDA HotSync Conduit

It's time to install what's known as a Conduit. This conduit is what tells HotSync to synchronize and convert your GPS2PDA data. All of the necessary conduit installation files can be found on the PC-Travel CD. The CD should already be in your CD drive (*as a result of the installation in the previous section*). This time, click on the Install Palm Data Conduit button and the installation wizard will begin. The screens are shown below.







Figure A4.6 - Finished Click Finish.

.27



Now double click on the **GPS2PDA.bat** file. Your screen will blink at you momentarily as this program runs. The last action of the **GPS2PDA.bat** file is to restart your HotSync Manager.

Click on the HotSync Manager's icon in your system tray. A menu will pop up, similar to

Select Custom. This will display a new window that will show a list of conduits that are

At this point, you should check and make sure that your conduit was properly installed. Here's how:

performed each time you HotSync your Palm PDA.



Figure A4.8 -Select Custom

Check to make sure that GPS2PDA is listed in this window as shown below. If it is, everything went to plan, click **Done**.

the image here.

stom			
Jamar1		•	
Conduit	Action		
Mail	Do Nothing	^	Done
Date Book	Synchronize the files		
Address Book	Synchronize the files		Change.
To Do List	Synchronize the files		
Memo Pad	Synchronize the files		Default
Expense	Synchronize the files		
GPS2PDA	Synchronize the files		Help
Install	Enabled		
Install Service Templates	Enabled	-	
Install To Cord	Enchlad	~	

Figure A4.9 - Locate GPS2PDA

Creating an Open Database Connectivity Data Source Name (ODBC DSN)

Now the acronyms start to get scary. The conduit you just installed in your HotSync Manager wants to synchronize all of the records from the GPS2PDA database on your Palm device with some file on your desktop computer. All that remains is to tell your desktop which file should be used for synchronization.



These next steps are accessed through your PC's Control Panel. To navigate to the control panel, click on the **Start Menu**, then **Settings**, then **Control Panel**.



Figure A4.11 - Administrative Tools

This is your PC's Control Panel. It will look slightly different depending on which version of Windows that you are running. In Windows 2000 and Windows XP, you'll now select **Administrative Tools**, otherwise, just click on **Data Sources (ODBC)**.



This is the Administrative Tools screen for Windows 2000 or Windows XP. Click **Data Sources (ODBC)** to proceed.

Figure A4.12 - Select Data Sources

A.29



You're now faced with a window that has a lot of buttons and a lot of tabs; remain calm. Select the tab entitled **User DSN**. Under the **User DSN** tab, click on the **Add** button.

Figure A4.13 - User DSN



Figure A4.14 - Microsoft Access Driver

ODBC Microsoft A	access Setup	? 🔀
Data Source Name:	GPS2PDA	ок
Description:	GPS2PDA	Cancel
Database:		Help
Select	Create Repair Compact	Advanced
System Database		
None		
C Database:		
	System Database	Options>>

Figure A4.15 - Enter Information

Select Database Database Name Directories: OK GPSdb1mdb d:\...\field data files Cancel 10 d:\ D JAMAR PC-Travel for Window Help 🖻 Field Data Files Read Only Exclusive List Files of Type: Drives Network. Access Databases (".mdl 💌 d: Data •

Figure A4.16 - Select Database

The next screen is a list of drivers. Choose the **Microsoft Access Driver (*.mdb)** option. Now click the **Finish** button to continue.

For your next step, enter *GPS2PDA* in both the **Data Source Name** and **Description** text boxes. From this same window, click the **Select Database** button.

At the *Select Database* screen, use the tree window in the center to navigate to the **Field Data Files** folder *(it's in the* **PC-Travel** *folder)*. Once you have selected **Field Data Files** from the folder tree, a file called **GPSData.mdb** will appear in the box on the left. Select **GPSData.mdb** from the box on the left. Click the **OK** button on this screen, then click **OK** once again and you're done.

The stage is set for you to take travel time data in the field and synchronize it with your computer once you return to the office.

How to Transfer GPS2PDA Data from a Palm PDA to Your Computer

Once you've gone through all the rigors of installing the custom GPS2PDA HotSync Conduit and creating a OBDC DSN, transferring your travel time data couldn't be easier. All that you have to do is place your Palm PDA in its cradle and press the HotSync button.

During the HotSync process, the conduit you installed will write all of your field data to the Microsoft Access Database file called GPSData.mdb that is stored on your desktop in the PC-Travel\Field Data Files folder. What actually happens is the conduit looks for a file called GPSData.pdb that is stored on your PDA. This file has your field data. The .pdb means it is a Palm Database file, a file format used in all Palm PDAs to store data.The data in this file is converted to the GPSData.mdb file that is then copied to your computer.

Your field data is now safe and sound on your computer and your PDA is ready to be put back into action in the field. *However, before you try to upload more field data to your computer, you need to run PC-Travel and process your current data.* Keep in mind that you can't rename the **GPSData.pdb** file on your PDA so you must overwrite it every time you synchronize your field data. For a description of PC-Travel's use in tandem with GPS2PDA, refer back to the main section of this manual.

For more details on using PC-Travel with GPS2PDA field data, go to the Using GPS2PDA Data with PC-Travel section in the main body of the manual.

A.31

Appendix 5 — **Descriptions of the Preferences Options**

PC-Travel has many options that you can set or select to help customize the software to your own personal preferences. These options are stored on your computer and loaded into the software each time you run the program. You view or change the options in the Preferences screens.

There are three ways to load the Preferences screens:

A.32

- 1 You can select **Define/Edit Program Preferences** from the **Startup Options** screen.
- 2 You can select the **Prefs** icon from the toolbar in the **Study Summary** screen.
- 3 You can select **Preferences** from the **File** menu in the **Study Summary** screen.

If you do one of these, you will see the screen shown below.

emp Runs Flies Path	C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Temp\
tudy Group Root Path	C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Study Groups\
ield Data Path	C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Field Data Files\
ap Files Path	C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Maps\
xport to Spreadsheet Path	C:\Program Files\PC-Travel\Spreadsheet Files\
→ PalmDBViev → Pappocom → PC-Travel → Field Dat → Images → Maps → Spreadsl ← Study Gr	ver The text box will turn yellow. 2a-Click on the name of the new path folder on the tree diagram. The name in the text box will change. Or 2b-Type the full path name into the text box, then press Enter. heet Files roups

Figure A5.1 — Path Options Screen in Preferences

The figure shown here is the Path Options screen, and is the first of the four screens in the Preferences section. The various screens are selected by clicking on the tabs at the top of the screen. There are four tabs — Path Options, Default Values, Report Options, and Fuel & Emissions Options.

Path Options

PC-Travel, like most Windows programs, stores data in files, and those files must reside somewhere on your computer in folders. Where those folders are located on your computer is called the *path*, and you can change the paths used in the program to suit your needs.

Note: If you are not comfortable with computer terms such as file, folder, directory, subdirectory & path then this isn't the place to learn it. Either find a good book on Windows (preferably) and learn how files and folders work, or (most likely) just accept the default values the software suggests and don't worry too much about it.

There are five different types of files that are used in PC-Travel, and each type of file is stored in a separate folder (or set of folders). The five paths are listed at the top of the screen.

Below the paths on the left side of the screen is a tree diagram showing how your folders are organized on your computer. If you are familiar with Windows then you should be familiar with the way this tree works; you can scroll around using the scroll bars and you can expand and contract the tree by clicking on the + and - signs to the left of the folders.

To the right of the tree is some text that gives quick directions on how to set the various paths. The basic idea is simple, you pick the file type for the path you want to change, and then you navigate to the folder you want to use for those files.

Temp Files Path_

When you read a TDC-8 counter, the data is first stored in the **TDC Data Path** (see below), and then each of the runs in that data is extracted and stored with a temporary name in one folder. These runs are then processed later in the Process Temporary Runs screen. The **Temp Files Path** points to this folder.

The install routine creates a folder called Temp as a subdirectory to the PC-Travel folder, and the **Temp Files Path** is initially set to this folder. You probably won't need to change this path, but you can if you find it necessary.

Study Group Root Path

The concept of a Study Group is explained in Chapter 1, but basically a Study Group is a folder where related runs and studies are stored. The *Study Group Root Path* points to the parent directory of the many Study Group folders that you create when you do your studies. All Study Groups are subdirectories of this parent directory. Several of the screens in the software show a tree diagram similar to the one in Figure A5.1. The top of the tree is set to the Study Group Root Path folder so that all you can see are your Study Groups and not your entire computer. (*There are also trees like the one in Figure A5.1 where you need to be able to navigate throughout your entire computer. These trees don't have a root path, per se.*)

The install routine creates a folder called Study Groups as a subdirectory to the PC-Travel folder, and the *Study Group Root Path* is initially set to this folder. Unless you do many travel time studies, you probably won't need to change this path, but you can if you find it necessary.

If you do plan to do lots of studies, then you may want to create different Study Group Root folders on your computer (such as one for each year or one for each customer if you are a consultant). Every study you do at a new location usually ends up with two new study groups, one for each direction of travel. It doesn't take long to have dozens of study groups, which could result in a long list of study groups in the tree listings. This is fine as far as the software is concerned, but may be a little awkward to use. We suggest you initially start with the default structure that the install routine creates and see how that works. Once you are comfortable with how the software deals with study groups, files and folders, then you can create a system to handle your studies.



Field Data Path

Data collected in the field is typically copied to this folder either manually if you are using a laptop to collect your data (typically using GPS2LT) or automatically if you use PDAs to collect your data. PC-Travel looks in this folder first when it is time to process your data.

When you read a TDC counter, the data is read from the counter and stored in the folder set by the **TDC Data Path**. You can then clear the TDC counter and use it for other things, even if you don't plan to process the travel time data immediately. At any time you can choose to process the TDC data from the Startup Options screen (select Process Runs button) or from the Study Summary screen (select Process Runs in Temp Folder from the File menu). See Tutorial 3 for more details.

The install routine creates a folder called Field Data Data Files as a subdirectory to the PC-Travel folder, and the *Field Data Path* is initially set to this folder. You probably won't need to change this path, but you can if you find it necessary.

Map Files Path

One of the features of PC-Travel is support for maps to show your data collected with GPS receivers. You can edit the data in a variety of very useful ways (See Tutorial 1).

If you select ArcGIS Shapefiles as the GIS mode (see Page A.33), then this folder is used to store the shapefiles for your area. See Appendix 1 for a complete description of this process. If you use MapPoint as your GIS engine, then this folder is not used.

Export to Spreadsheet Path

A feature of the PC-Travel software is the option to export the study and run statistics calculated by the program to file formats that can be processed with other software programs. You can export to a Microsoft Excel spread-sheet file format (*.xls*) or to a generic tab delimited text file (*if you don't know what that is then you probably don't want to do it.*)

The *Export to Spreadsheet Path* points to the folder where the exported files are stored. The install routine creates a folder called Spreadsheet Files under the PC-Travel folder and the *Export to Spreadsheet Path* is initially set to this folder.

You may want to change this path if you plan to export files. You may want to have the path set to a folder that is under the software application you want to use to process the exported files. The choice is yours.



The figure above shows the Default Values screen, which has a hodgepodge of default options that you can set in the software. Most of these options can be adjusted in other places in the software on a study by study basis; the values on this screen are the default values that are used initially. Many of these options you will set just once and never adjust again.

Use Startup Options Screen

When you first start PC-Travel, you normally see the Startup Options. Some users don't like this screen, so for them we give them a way to turn it off. Click on the **No** checkbox and you won't be bothered again.

Units_.

You can choose between English and Metric units for the length and speed values shown on the screen and on the reports. The software checks this setting whenever it has to display or print a length or speed.

English units use feet for distance and Miles Per Hour (MPH) for speed. Metric units use meters for distance and Kilometers Per Hour (KPH) for speed.

GIS Options

PC-Travel supports two methods to show maps in the software. One uses MapPoint, the GIS program from Microsoft. The other uses industry standard files called Shapefiles that are used by ArcGIS, a program sold by ESRI. Shapefiles have become so comon that basically all GIS programs support them in one way or another. Recently the US government starting distributing free geographic and cartographic data in shapefile formats, making it an even more attractive option.



Max Distance Variance

Avq	Run 1	Run 2	Run 3	Run 4	Run 5
0	0	0	0	0	0
766	800	771	744	752	736
2354	2051	2420	2409	2453	2392
5463	5045	5077	5049	5086	7488
7928	7568	7505	7543	7522	9917
9934	9960	9972	9949	9885	
F	igure A	5.3 -	Node D	listance	s

This value is used in the Node Distances screen, part of which is shown here, to help determine if the node distances in the runs are good or not. Each run in the study is a column in the right side of the grid. Each node distance found in the run is shown in a separate row in that column. Since all of the runs started in the same place, ended in the same place, and the driver probably tried to mark each node at the same place, the assumption is that there should be the same number of nodes in each run, and the distances for each node should

be about the same. Since the TDC-8 doesn't measure distances precisely (See Appendix 6 — How Distances are Measured), the values won't be identical, even if the driver was very good at pressing the New Link button as he drove by the node point, but they will be fairly close.

The software compares each node distance to the average of all of the node distances for that row. If the distance is less than the **Max Distance Variance**, then the distance is shown in green. Otherwise, the distance is shown in red. Values in red alert you to a potential problem. See **Tutorial 4** — **How to Find Node Distances in Your Study** for a complete discussion of this topic.

The default value is 500 feet, which is good if your nodes are widely spread apart, as they are in most studies. You might want to adjust this value if you like to have many nodes in your studies, and they tend to be closer together. You want the value to be high enough so that if you miss a node in the field the next node in the data (which will show up on the missing node's row) shows up with a red background. However, you don't want the value so low that you get red backgrounds on data that is OK. In general, values as low as 200 feet usually are safe.

Study Parameters: Stop Speed, Normal Speed, and Speed Categories

These parameters are described in Chapter 1. You can set the default values that are shown on the Study Summary screen when you create a new study.

Note: The values are unit-less. That means that if you change the Units from English to Metric, these numbers don't change. A value of 5 for Stop Speed means 5 MPH for English units and 5 KPH for Metric. This normally would never be an issue, since you likely will pick one unit or the other and not switch.

Serial Port Options: Comm Port and Baud Rate

You use the serial port on your computer to read the travel time data collected in the field with your TDC counter. The software needs to know the Comm Port on your computer that is connected to the TDC counter *(always using the Ridge Engineering cable that came with the counter)*. This isn't always easy to determine. If you aren't sure, try Comm 1 and try to read a TDC counter. If that doesn't work, try Comm 2.

The software also needs to know the Baud Rate that is set on the TDC counter. This setting determines the speed at which the data is transferred. The default is 9600 and really there is usually no reason to ever change this.

Report Options

the Options Default Values Benet Options Final and 5		
	missions	
Report Headings		
Ridge Engineering, Inc.	These headings are printed at the top of	
877-603-5844	every report.	
www.pc-travel.com		
Report Options		
Show study Node Lines on plots		
Show Speed Category lines on plots		
Show Normal Speed Line on Time/Space Traj Plot		
Show Delay lines on Speed Profile plots		
Show Run Nodes on plots		
Show page numbers on reports		
01	Connel	

Figure A5.4 — Report Options Screen in Preferences

PC-Travel has extensive report capabilities since the end result of almost all travel time studies are printed reports showing the results. You can customize the reports to suit your needs. The values on this screen are the default values that are used whenever you go to the Select Reports to Print screen. You can change any of these values on a report-by-report basis by clicking on the Report Options button on that screen.

Report Headings

JAMAR Technologies, Inc. PC-Travel for Windows
www.jamartech.com
E'man A55 Descrit Head's an

Figure A5.5 — Report Headings

These headings are printed at the top of every report. There are three headings, but you don't have to use all three. The top line is printed in bold in a larger font size than the other two lines. All three lines are centered on the page. Normally, you set these values once and don't worry about them again. Put the name of your organization or city or whatever on the top line and your address and/or phone number on the next two lines.

If you are a consultant, however, you probably would want to have your customer's name at the top of every report. In that case, you would set the headings when you print the reports, not on this screen. Some consultants use the third line to say *"Prepared by: Acme Consultants"* or something similar.

Show Page Numbers on Reports JAMAR Technologies, Inc.

PC-Travel for Windows www.jamartech.com Study Name **: Bandout** Study Date **: 03/02/1991** Page No. **: 2**

Figure A5.6 — Report with Page Numbers

You can easily print reports that have thirty or forty or more pages. The software even prints a Table of Contents that reference the page numbers. So normally, you would probably want to show the page numbers on all reports. However, you may print a report for your use, and want to copy just a few of the pages to send to someone else. Sending reports that say Page 2, and then Page 9, and then Page 22 may look odd. For these occasions, it might be useful to not show the page

numbers on the reports. If you do this all of the time, you may want to uncheck this option.

A.38

Show Run Names on Detailed Stats by Run Reports

Run names can be fairly long, but the space available for the run names on the reports is limited. To solve this, the software prints the run names at an angle above the run columns. On most printers this looks fine, but on some older dot-matix printers the names come up very ragged. If you have an older printer, or if you just don't like the way the run names look, then you can turn this option off and the names won't be printed.



Speed/Distance Profiles of All Runs







Show Study Node Lines on Plots & Show Speed Category Lines on Plots

Node Lines: Nodes are shown on the plots as thick black lines, with the name of the node shown on the left side of the graph. You may have several nodes close to each other so that the graph looks cramped. This is unusual, but it can happen. The plot might look better without the node lines and names shown on the plot. Whatever the reason, if you don't want them on the plot, then you can turn off this option.

Speed Categories: You can set three speed categories and the software will find the time driving at or below these speeds for each node during a run. The speed categories are shown as three lines on the plots, a red line for Speed Category 1, a yellow line for Speed Category 2, and a green line for Speed Category 3. Whatever the reason, if you don't want them on the plot, then you can turn off this option.

Show Normal Speed Line on Time/Space Trajectory Plots

The Normal Speed is a parameter used to find Total Delay. It typically is the posted speed limit or the design speed for an arterial. The Normal Speed is shown as a thick green line on the Time/Space Trajectory plot, which is useful to show the progression of traffic through the signals on the arterial. There may be instances where the Normal Speed isn't appropriate on this plot, or the thick line might obscure the details of the smaller lines behind it *(especially on a black and white printer)*. If you don't like this option, you can turn it off.

Show Delay Lines on Speed Profile Plots & Show Run Nodes on Plots



Delay Lines: You have the option to mark reasons for delay when you do a travel time study. You do this by pressing different buttons on the TDC-8 as you do each run. You can have the graphs show where the delay buttons were pressed (*the pink line*) along with the meaning of the button (*the text at the end of the pink line*).

Run Nodes: The Node Lines shown on the plot are for the entire study, and usually are the average of all of the node distances for the runs in the study. You can have the graphs show where the node button was pressed

for this run. The software prints a small solid circle and the text "NL" at the proper distance. This should always be right next to the node line. Sometimes the average distance used for the study appears to put the node a couple of hundred feet away from where the actual node for that run occurred, which may be on the wrong side of the intersection. Showing the Run Nodes may help explain why the delay appeared to occur after the intersection instead of before it.

Fuel and Emissions

PC-Travel Preferences	
Path Options Default Values Report Options Fuel and Emissions	
Fuel Consumption Parameters Fuel (ml/sec) = k1 + k2*V + k3*V*V*V + k4*A*V + k5*A*A*V	
k1 = 0.7 k2 = 0.00442 k3 = 0.000022 k4 = 0.00762 k5 = 0.000886	
V = velocity in KM/hr A = acceleration in KM/hr/sec	
Hydrocarbon (HC) Parameters HC (grams/sec) = hc1 + hc2*A*V + hc3*A*V*V	
hc1 = 0.018 hc2 = 0.0005266 hc3 = 0.000061296	
Carbon Monoxide (CO) Parameters CO (grams/sec) = co1 + co2*A*V + co3*A*V*V	
cor = 0.182 $coz = -0.0079776$ $cos = 0.00036227$	
Nitrous Dioxide (NOx) Parameters NOx (grams/sec) = noxa1 + noxa2*A*V, A > 0 NOx (grams/sec) = noxb1 + noxb2*A*V, A < 0	
noxa1 = 0.00386 noxa2 = 0.00081446 V = velocity in ft/sec	
noxb1 = 0.00143 noxb2 = -0.000017005 A = acceleration in ft/sec/sec	
Ok Cancel He	əlp

Figure A5.11 — Fuel & Emissions Screen in Preferences

PC-Travel can calculate fuel and emission statistics using fairly simple models developed over ten years ago. These models use formulas that have a variety of constants, shown in the figure above.

The default values are shown in the white text boxes. You can edit any of these values if you so desire.

Unless you understand exactly what you are doing, we suggest you leave them alone.

A.39

Appendix 6 — How Distances are Measured

PC-Travel is a travel time and delay analysis program and is not intended to be used as a distance measuring instrument like the RAC (Road Analysis Computer) distance measuring devices that Ridge Engineering sells. However, distance traveled is a component of travel time, and understanding the way distances are measured and calculated may help you to understand the results of your travel time analyses.

Data is collected in the TDC-8 by counting the number of pulses coming from the transmission sensor and storing the count on a second by second basis. Each pulse from the sensor represents a constant distance traveled by the vehicle. The software converts the number of pulses to distance using the Calibration Constant that you found when you calibrated your vehicle. Therefore, the TDC-8 measures the distance traveled every second, which is the speed of the vehicle. We say the data collected by the TDC-8 is the *instantaneous speed* of the vehicle on a second by second basis.

When you push one of the buttons on the TDC-8, either the New Link button or one of the delay buttons, the TDC-8 adds a marker to the data for the second in which you pushed the button. All the analysis software can tell from the data stored in the TDC-8 is that you pushed the button sometime during a particular second. Also, only one button push can be stored in any given second. If you push a button twice in the same second, the second button is stored in the next second (you almost never do this in travel time studies).

It is important to remember that you are using this program to measure travel times and delays, and that as long as the distance measurements are accurate enough to accurately report speed and travel time and also are accurate enough for traffic operations purposes, then everything is OK. If you really want to be able to measure distances very accurately, then you should use a true distance measuring instrument like a Jamar RAC-200. However, that won't give you the history of speeds and stops, which is the reason for PC-Travel.

The way the data is collected has some subtle implications, especially in the way that distances are measured:

Distance measurement is not continuous, it jumps in second by second increments. The faster you are going the larger the jumps from second to second. If you are traveling at 60 MPH *(88 ft/sec)* then each data point is 88 feet from the last data point.

Any button pushes can only be measured to the nearest second in time, and to the distance traveled in that second. If you are traveling at 60 MPH and push the New Link button, the software only knows the distance to within 88 feet (*the distance at the beginning of the second in which the button was pushed to the distance at the end of the second*).

The total length of the route you travel is measured accurately. If you start a run going 30 MPH (*by pressing the DO button*) and end a run going 30 MPH (*by again pressing the DO button*) then the total error in the route distance will be 2 X 44 feet (*the error in the starting second and the error in the ending second*), plus the error in the transmission sensor (*which is about 1 foot per mile*), or less than 100 feet even if the entire route is 5 miles or more long. This is more than adequate for travel time and delay studies.

The Node Distance errors are proportional to the speed of the vehicle when the New Link buttons are pressed. Again, if the vehicle is going 60 MPH as it passes through several nodes, then each time you press the New Link button, the software will only be able to calculate the distance to within 88 feet, even if you precisely press the button at the same place during each run.
It is this last implication that is the most noticeable in PC-Travel. It is the reason that the *View Node Distances* screen (*part of which is shown in figure A6.1*) is designed the way it is. Assuming you press the New Link button

Run 1	Run 2	Run 3	Run 4	Run 5
0	0	0	0	0
800	771	744	752	736
2051	2420	2409	2453	2392
5045	5077	5049	5086	7488
7568	7505	7543	7522	9917
9960	9972	9949	9885	
	Run 1 0 800 2051 5045 7568 9960	Hun 1 Hun 2 0 0 800 771 2051 2420 5045 5077 7568 7505 9960 9972	Hun 1 Hun 2 Hun 3 0 0 0 800 771 744 2051 2420 2409 5045 5077 5049 7568 7505 7543 9960 9972 9949	Hun 1 Hun 2 Hun 3 Hun 4 0 0 0 0 800 771 744 752 2051 2420 2409 2453 5045 5077 5049 5086 7568 7505 7543 7522 9960 9972 9949 9885

for each node on every run, you will have several measurements for each node distance, one for each run. The software finds the average of the individual node distances and makes that distance the node distance which is used in the rest of the program. The assumption is that the average of the individual node distances should be more accurate than any one set of distances from just one run. Averaging will help correct for the error associated with the way the data is stored in the TDC-8, as well as the error associated with trying to push the New

Link button at exactly the same place each run while you are driving.

Normally, the error in the node distance measurements is small enough to ignore, especially if you do collect node distance information for each run. The only time when the distances may not be completely adequate is when two nodes (signals, typically) are very close together on a high-speed arterial. Say, for example, that the speed on a street is 40 MPH (about 60 ft/sec) and two signals are only 200 feet apart. The software may inaccurately report the distance between these two signals by as much as 60 feet, though it will accurately report the travel time between them. Again, the inaccuracy will not affect operational analysis, but you may not like the look of it. In this case you can manually edit one of the distances on the Node Distances screen so that the distance between the two signals is what you and others who know the road would expect to see.

If it is important that the Node Distances are very accurate, you have at least two choices (we don't recommend either of these since normally the distances are fine, but we like to be thorough):

1 – Use a true distance measuring instrument like the Ridge Engineering RAC to measure the distances accurately. This involves driving the route with the RAC connected to the transmission sensor either before or after you collect the travel time data. Then manually enter the distances into the *Node Distances* screen. There is no need to collect any node information during the travel time runs if you find the distances with a RAC.

2 – **Use the TDC-8 to measure the distances accurately** by driving the route and slowing the vehicle down as slow as possible (*to a stop is best*) before pressing the New Link button. Since the error in the distance measurement is proportional to the speed of the vehicle when you press the button, slowing to a low speed will make the measurement more accurate. Of course, this may not be possible or practical to do; you can't always slow down at will. However, it is an option if you don't have a RAC distance measuring instrument and want very accurate node distance information (*Hey, just go out at 4 in the morning. The traffic is light and you get too much sleep anyway*). Don't use this run in your travel time study, since it doesn't represent true driving behavior. Just use it to find the distances and then manually enter the distances into the Node Distances screen. As with the DMI option there is no need to collect any node information during the travel time runs if you find the distances with a separate run.

Warning: Avoid the temptation to use your GIS database *(if you have one)* to measure the distances between nodes. GIS maps don't usually accurately represent the up and down motion of the vehicle as it drives up and down little hills or grades on your route. The result is that the distances you get from your GIS measurements are usually shorter than the distances measured with the transmission sensor in your vehicle. The nodes won't be where they should be on your plots and the node-to-node statistics won't be correct.

Appendix 7 — Utilities

This appendix describes three utilities included with PC-Travel to help you organize your data. The first lets you edit runs on your computer whether they are included in studies or not. The second lets you delete temporary runs that may accumulate in your Temp folder. The third lets you delete TDC data files that you read from your TDC hand held counters and no longer need after you have processed the data into runs.

Select Run and Edit Run Details

When you read a TDC counter with travel time data the software creates temporary runs from the data. These temporary runs are then renamed and moved to their own Study Groups in the *Process Runs in Temp Folder* screen. The runs contain most of the information needed by the software to process the run data into study statistics, but not all. For example, the date and time of the run is already known, but the node names are not. At some point you need to edit the information in each run. There are two ways you can do this.

One way is to create a study with the new runs and then edit each run in the study to complete the information. The sequence would be as follows:

- 1 Read the TDC and process the runs. You'll end up with the runs from the data in their own Study Groups.
- 2 Create a new study (Click on the icon labeled **New** on the toolbar)
- 3 Add the runs for that study. (Click on Add Run(s) button and select the runs for that study)
- 4 Show the Run Details screen for each run in the study. (Click on the Run Title and then click **Show Details**)
- 5 Edit the run as needed and then save it. Do this for each run in the study.
- 6 Process the study as usual.

This is the sequence you normally would follow if you process your runs and create and print your studies all at the same time.

Alternatively, you can edit the run information without creating any studies. Then when you create the studies you won't have to deal with the runs; you'll know they are already complete. The sequence for this method would be:

1 – Read the TDC and process the runs. You'll end up with the runs from the data in their own Study Groups.

- 2 Show the Run Details screen for each run. (Click on the Edit Run toolbar and select the run)
- 3 Edit the run as needed and then save it. Do this for each run you processed from the TDC data. At some later date:
- 4 Create a new study. (Click on the icon labeled **New** on the toolbar)
- 5 Add the runs for that study. (Click on Add Run(s) button and select the runs for that study)
- 6 Process the study as usual.

With this sequence, you completely take care of all of the runs after you read them from the TDC before you worry about putting them into studies. This is a good sequence to follow if you don't necessarily create and print your studies immediately after you read the data from the TDC.

Which of these two sequences you use is completely up to you.

How to Select a Run to Edit



You can edit any run on your computer at any time. From the main screen (*it doesn't matter what study is currently visible*), click on **Select Run and Edit Run Details** from the **Utilities** menu, as shown in the figure here. This will bring up the screen shown in Figure A7.2.

2-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1				-
JAMAR	Name	Date	lime	Lype
- C-Travel for Windo	BANDOUT1-Before	03/02/91	14:55	Pri
PCT-DOS Data F	le BANDOUT2-Before	03/02/91	15:05	Pri
- 🗍 Spreadsheet File	s BANDOUT3-Before	03/02/91	15:13	Pri
E C Study Groups	BANDOUT4-After	03/02/91	15:22	Pri
Eowler Ave N	BANDOUT5-After	03/02/91	15:31	Pri
	The second		and a state of the	
New Sample Files TDC Data Files Temp PETRA	BANDOUT6-After	03/02/91	15:40	Pri
New Sample Files TDC Data Files Temp PETRA Section Names	BANDOUT6-After	03/02/91	15:40	Pri

Figure A7.2 — Select One Run Screen

This screen has three main sections. The upper left shows the familiar tree structure, with the current Study Group highlighted. You can navigate to other Study Groups if necessary. The upper right shows the runs in the highlighted Study Group, along with the Date, Time, and Type of run (*Primary or Secondary*). The lower portion of the screen shows details of the run that is highlighted in the upper right window.

Navigate, if needed, to the Study Group that has the run you want to edit. Click on the run in the upper right window. Check the details and make sure it is the run you want, then click **Select**. You can click **Cancel** to exit at any time. When you click **Select**, the **Run Details** screen for that run is displayed.

The *Run Details* screen shows just about everything we know about this particular run. This screen is described on page 1.15 of this manual so that information won't be repeated here.

You want to edit the information on this screen so that all of the information shown is correct. Normally, this just requires you to edit the node names (*this is described in detail in Tutorial 3 — How to Edit Nodes in Individual Runs*) and possibly enter some notes from your field notes. You can check the data by looking at the Stats and the Plot to see if there are any obvious problems. You may occasionally need to edit the sensor data to get rid of little problems you find (*this is described in Tutorial 5 — How to Edit Sensor Data*).

Remember to edit all of the runs you created from the TDC data. Normally, the runs are in two separate Study Groups for each route, one for each direction. Don't forget to do the runs in the second direction after you finish with the runs in the first.



Delete Runs From Temp Folder

When you read a TDC counter with travel time data the software creates temporary runs from the data, which are stored in the Temp folder that has been set in the Preferences screen. These temporary runs are then normally renamed and moved to their own Study Groups in the **Process Runs in Temp Folder** screen, which empties the Temp folder. Occasionally, however, runs may accumulate in the Temp Folder for a variety of reasons. You may have some bad runs that you don't want to use in studies. You can delete these one at a time in the **Process Runs in Temp Folder** screen, but you may forget. Or, you may read a TDC count board twice for some reason and create duplicate runs that you have already processed. Whatever the reason, if you find your Temp folder has

File View	Utilities	Help				
	Selec	t Run and Edit Run Details				
New C	C Delete Runs in Temp Folder					
- Study (Delete Data Files in TDC Data Folder					

files you don't want then there is an easy way to get rid of them.

From the main screen, select **Delete Runs in Temp Folder** from the **Utilities** menu, as shown here. This will bring up the **Select Temp Runs to Delete** screen shown in Figure A7.4.

Name	Date	Time	Length	Duration
001R001-00000022-1	04/13/90	11:59	48540	1338
001R001-00000022-2	04/13/90	11:59	48540	1338
002R001-00000102-1	04/13/90	12:23	10187	225
002R002-00000102-1	04/13/90	12:28	9635	310
002R002-00000102-2	04/13/90	12:28	9635	310
002R003-00000102-1	04/13/90	12:34	14544	551
002R004-00000102-1	04/13/90	12:43	10382	333
002R004-00000102-2	04/13/90	12:43	10382	333
003R001-00000022-1	04/13/90	12:51	48529	1192
003R001-00000022-2	04/13/90	12:51	48529	1192
003R002-00000022-1	04/13/90	13:11	48610	1093
003R002-00000022-2	04/13/90	13:11	48610	1093

Figure A7.4 - Select Temp Runs To Delete Screen

This screen shows a list of runs in your Temp folder. The number of runs and the path to the Temp folder are shown at the top of the screen. The Name, Date, Time, Length, and Duration of each run are shown on each line in the list. If you click on a line then that line is highlighted. If you click on the line again, the highlight disappears.

Below the list are two buttons, one labeled Delete Selected Runs, the other Select All.

Click on each run you want to delete to highlight that run. If you want to select all of the runs, then click on **Select All**. You can click on any selected run to un-select it. When all of the runs you want to delete are highlighted, click on **Delete Selected Runs**. Those runs disappear from the list.

The runs aren't actually deleted from your computer yet. That doesn't happen until you click the **OK** button. If you select one or more runs by accident and click the **Delete Selected Runs** button (*so they are no longer listed on the screen*), you can just click on **Cancel** to return to the main screen without deleting any runs. Then you can return to this screen and select the runs you meant to select the first time.

Continue to select runs to delete and click the **Delete Selected Runs** button. When all of the runs you want to delete are gone, click on the **OK** button. The runs are permanently deleted from your computer.

You may never need to use this utility, but it is there if you do.

A.46

Delete TDC Data Files From TDC Folder

When you read a TDC counter the software first creates a copy of the data from your TDC counter and then stores that data in your TDC Data folder in a file. The path to this folder is set in your Preferences settings. The file is automatically given a name based on the current date and the number of times you read a TDC counter that day. For example, if you read a TDC counter on Dec 4, 2000 then the file would be given the name **!PC-Travel-12-04-00-1.tdc**. If you read another TDC counter that day, the second file would be **!PC-Travel-12-04-2.tdc** (*the ! is a convention some people use for temporary files*).

The .tdc file is immediately and automatically processed into runs which are stored in your Temp folder, without you ever interacting with them at all.

Normally, you don't ever need to think about these files. The files are not automatically deleted, however, so over time you may accumulate a number of these files on your computer. They don't do any harm, but after you have processed the data, they don't do any good either. If you want to, they are easy to delete.



Delete TDC Data Folder Files

From the main screen, select **Delete Data Files in TDC Data Folder** from the **Utilities** menu, as shown here. This will bring up the **Select TDC Data Files to Delete** screen shown in Figure A7.6.

	Files			-TDC D	ata File De	tails		
	File Name	Date	Studies	Study	Site Code	Date / T	ime	Run
Test1		04/13/90	3	1	00000022	04/13/90	11:59	001
				2	00000102	04/13/90	12:43	004
				3	00000022	04/13/90	13:11	002

Figure A7.6 - Select TDC Data Files To Delete Screen

There are two main sections to this screen. The left side, labeled **TDC Data Files**, shows a list of the data files in the TDC Data File folder. The list shows the name of the file, the date the file was created *(not when the data was collected)*, and the number of studies in the data.

The right side, labeled **TDC Data File Details**, shows details of the studies found in the highlighted data file, including the Site Code entered in the TDC counter when the study was done, the date and time of the first run in the study, and the number of runs in that study. The intent is to give you enough information about the data so that you can make an educated decision about deleting that file.

A.47

Click on a data file in the *TDC Data Files* window. Check the *TDC Data File Details* window. If you want to delete this file, click on the **Delete Selected File** button. The file disappears from the list.

The file isn't actually deleted from your computer yet. That doesn't happen until you click the **OK** button. If you select one or more files by accident and click the **Delete Selected Files** button *(so they are no longer listed on the screen)*, you can just click on **Cancel** to return to the main screen without deleting any files. Then you can return to this screen and select the data files you meant to select the first time.

Continue to select a data file to delete and click the **Delete Selected File** button. When all of the files you want to delete are gone, click on the **OK** button. The files are permanently deleted from your computer.

Why Doesn't the Software Automatically Delete the TDC Data Files?

As explained above, you normally never see the TDC data file. The software creates the file when you read the TDC counter and then immediately processes the data into temporary run files, which is where you first see the data from the TDC counter. In theory, we could delete the data file as soon as it is processed into temporary runs.

We don't do that in case there is some sort of problem with processing the runs. You may run into a problem that requires us to send you updated software. If you have the TDC data file, you don't need to have the TDC counter available. Or we may ask you to send us the TDC data file so we can see what problems you are having. This probably won't be necessary, but just in case, we don't delete the file — you do, and only when you are sure you'll never need that data again.

Appendix 8 — Notes on Fuel and Emissions

A.48

The Fuel and Emission statistics in PC-Travel uses the same microscopic simulation models as in PC-Travel for DOS. This was done for two reasons. First, it allows continuity between the two programs. If you are comparing data from studies done with the two programs the calculations will compare easily. Second, it was easy to do since all of the information needed to do the code was available.

Fuel Consumption Parks k1 = 0.7 k2	ameters =0.00442 k3 =0.0000022	+ k2*V + k3*V*V*V + k4*A*V + k5*A*A*V k4 =0.00762 k5 =0.000886
	Easting of grounds and Easting of grounds and	V = velocity in KM/hr A = acceleration in KM/hr/sec
Hydrocarbon (HC) Po hc1 =0 n18	arameters HC (grams/sec) =	hc1 + hc2*A*V + hc3*A*V*V
Carbon Monoxide (C	D) Parameters CO (grams/sec) =	co1 + co2*A*V + co3*A*V*V
co1 = 0.182	co2 = -0.0079776 co3 =	0.00036227
Microus Dioxide (ND)	NOx (grams/sec) = NOx (grams/sec) =	= noxa1 + noxa2 A \forall , A > 0 = noxb1 + noxb2*A*V, A < 0
noxa1 = 0.00386	noxa2 = 0.00081446	V = velocity in ft/sec
noxb1 = 0.00143	noxb2 = -0.000017005	A = acceleration in ft/sec/sec
		Cancel

Figure A8.1 — Fuel and Emissions

This is the Preference screen showing the Fuel and Emissions constants. The values shown are the default values used in PC-Travel for DOS. You can edit them if you want to and know what you are doing. I'd leave them alone unless you are sure.

The Fuel and Emissions statistics show up in a variety of places in the program.

1 – Run Stats You can see the Fuel and Emissions calculations for any single run.

2 – Study Stats You can see the Fuel and Emissions calculations for the entire study.

3 – Reports You can print summary reports or individual run reports showing total Fuel and Emissions.

Node	Avg	Total	Time <=	Time <=	Time <=	Fuel	Emi:	ssions (gr	ams)
#	Speed	Delay	0 MPH	10 MPH	30 MPH	(gals)	HC	CO	NOx
2	42.0	-3.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0071	0.6023	8.5685	0.3490
	34.8	-1.0	0.0	0.0	4.3	0.0075	0.6958	8.3086	0.4376
	-7.2	2.3	0.0	0.0	4.3	0.0004	0.0935	-0.2599	0.0886
3	29.8	5.7	2.7	5.0	19.0	0.0162	1.4265	14.0864	0.8575
	25.9	11.0	6.0	11.0	20.7	0.0194	2.0531	20.9057	1.3995
	-3.9	5.3	3.3	6.0	1.7	0.0032	0.6266	6.8193	0.5420
34	23.6	24.3	18.3	23.7	38.3	0.0297	2.9423	30.6384	1.7680
	33.0	3.3	2.7	5.0	14.7	0.0286	2.8242	31.8974	1.9693
	9.4	-21.0	-15.6	-18.7	-23.6	-0.0011	-0.1181	1.2590	0.2013
5	37.4	-3.0	1.7	3.0	8.3	0.0259	2.6525	32.2496	1.8658
	37.7	-3.7	0.0	0.0	4.7	0.0248	2.6371	34.0500	1.8226
	0.5	.0.7	.17	.2.0	36.	.0 0011	.0.0154	1 2004	.0 0432

Figure A8.2 — Fuel and Emissions Stats

This screen shows what the Fuel and Emissions statistics look like on the *Study Stats* screen. Select the **Stats** icon from the toolbar to see this screen.

ious	Ne	xt	Zoom 👻	Printer	Print	Clos	e ł	Help		
				Or	naniza	tion Ti	tio Goo	e Horo		
					yaniza	dian Co				
					Hea	luing se	Cona Lini			
					-	leading in	nira Line	Other	du blanca .	DANDOUT Mined Du
								Stur	dy Name:	BANDOUT - MIXED KU
								Stu	by Date :	3/2/91
	ruel C	onsum	ption & t	missions				Fau	JE NU	
			200 200			and and a second				10
	Node	Length	Node	e Name		Fuel	HC	co	NO×	
	#		8	8		(gal)	(grams)	(grams)	(grams)	
	1	0	[Start]							
	~~~		100000000							
	2	800	Mainland		Before	0.0071	0.6023	8.5685	0.3490	
					After	0.0075	0.6958	8.3086	0.4376	
					Change	0.0004	0.0935	-0.2599	0.0886	
	3	1648	Guilbeau	5	Before	0.0162	1.4265	14.0864	0.8575	
					After	0.0194	2.0531	20.9057	1.3995	
	100	0507	Distance in the second	n n	Change	0.0032	0.6266	6.8193	0.5420	
	4	2097	Bresnanan	MISTIC	Attor	0.0297	2.9423	30.0384	1.7080	
					Change	-0.0042	-0.1191	1 2501	0.2012	
	5	2523	Braun		Before	0.0259	2.6525	32,2496	1.8658	
					After	0.0248	2.6371	34.0500	1.8226	
					Change	-0.0011	-0.0153	1.8004	-0.0432	
	6	2392	[End]	8	Before	0.0208	1.6104	22.8444	0.9427	
					After	0.0196	1.5943	23.0987	0.9543	
	3 23		23		Change	-0.0012	-0.0161	0.2543	0.0117	
	Totals	9,960	29.96	8	Before	0.0998	9.2339	108,3872	5.7830	
					After	0.1000	9.8046	118,2605	6.5833	
					Change	0.0002	0.5706	9 8733	0.8003	

Figure A8.3 — Fuel and Emissions Print Preview

This screen shows the Print Preview of the *Fuel and Emissions Summary* report.

If you have ideas on other ways to present this type of data, or if you have information about these or other models you would like to see a part of the program, then please let us know.

## Appendix 9 — Field Worksheet

 $\backslash$ 

Fill out the top section and the Node info before you start the runs. Use one sheet for each count. You could put a rough sketch of the route on the back of the worksheet, especially to show temporary things like work zones.

$\langle \cdot \rangle$		
Reverse the	PC-Travel Fiel	d Worksheet
numbering to		u worksneet
remind you of the	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	
order of nodes	Site Code:	Date: 5-11-08
in the opposite	Site Code.	Calibration: 675
direction. The		
numbers match	Nodes:	
the numbers	Start/End PURITAN	
shown on the	1 RIVERHILLS	16
TDC-8 during the	2 BUSCH	17
run.	3 TEMPLE HEIGHTS	18
	4 MISSION HILLS	19
	5 DRUID HILLS	20
Mark the End	0 WHITEWAY	21
and Start Nodes	8 IDD MA	22
to remind you to	9	23
press the DO key	10	25
at these nodes.	11	26
	12	27
	13	28
	14	29
	15	30
	Runs:	
Put the direction	Dir Time Comments	Dir Time Comments
and starting time	1 NB 5:21 DK	2_SB 5:3D DK
at the beginning	3 NB 5:39 LINK AT BUSS	H? 4 SB 5:45 OK
of each run.	5 NB 5:55 SLOW TRUCK	6 SB 6:01 NO LINKS
	7 NB 6:09 OK	8 SB 6:18 ND LINKS
	9	10
Add any	11	12
, comments at the	15	14
end of each run.	17	18
	19	20
		20
	Ridge Engineering, Inc.	877-603-5844

Remember: The point of the worksheet is to record what happens during the runs so the information can be entered properly and easily into the software back in the office. Also focus on items that might effect the interpretation of the data---odd traffic patterns, weather considerations, accidents, work zones, etc. Ask yourself, "What do I want to remember about these runs 6 months from now?"

PC-Travel Fie	eld Worksheet
Location:	Date:
<u>Site Code:</u>	<u>Cal Constant:</u>
Nodes:	
<u>Start/End</u>	
	<u>16</u>
3	18
<u> </u>	<u>19</u>
<u>5</u>	20
<u>    6                                </u>	21
7	22
<u>8</u>	23
<u> </u>	25
<u></u>	26
<u>12</u>	27
<u>13</u>	<u>28</u>
<u>14</u>	29
<u> </u>	<u> </u>
<u>Runs:</u> #DirTimeComments	#DirTimeComments
<u>    1                                </u>	2
<u>3</u>	
<u>    5                                </u>	<u>_6</u>
<u> </u>	<u>   8                                 </u>
<u>9</u>	<u>10</u>
<u>11</u>	<u>12</u>
<u>13</u>	<u>14</u>
<u>15</u>	<u>16</u>
<u>17</u>	<u>18</u>
<u>19</u>	20

A.51